i

) o
}
i

o

¥

L

"

. i —

e




woI JeLIE AN

Collection of Prof. Muhammad Igbal Mujaddidi
Preserved in Punjab University Library.

,&}f gduf JG'//.? %

L5 S VS Y




b

Marfat.coni



THE LIFE AND TIMES
NOOR JAHAN

by
MOHAMMAD SHUJAUDDIN
M.A. (History), M.A. (Persian), B.A. (Hons.)
Head of the Department of History
Dyal Sing College, Lahore
&
Mrs. RAZIA SHUJAUDDIN

M.A. (History), M.A. (P. Science).

THE CARAVAN BOOK HOUSE

KUTCHERY ROAD, LAHORE

Marfat.com



COPYRIGHT

/33 3T 2

Price : Rs. 8.00

PRINTED AND PUBLISHED BY CH. ABDUL HAMID, M. A.,
AT THE CARAVAN PRESS, INSIDE MELA RAM MILLS,
MELA RAM ROAD, LAHORE.

Marfat.com



PREFACE

We have prepared this book on the life and times of

Noor Jahan mainly on the basis of the contemporary chronicles.
Besides them we have tried to tap all the available material on the
subject. The contemporary European works and the writings of
the later historians have also been fully consulted and analysed.

The personality of Noor Jahan has been shrouded in the mist
of legends and romantic tales. Although they have found place in
sober histories, yet they are the result of the speculations of the
human mind. It is unfortunate that such speculations started within
half a century of her death. We have tried to sift out the historical
personality of Noor Jahan out of the heap of such historically
‘unsound tales and present the personality of the Empress in its true
perspective.

We are thankful to the librarians of the Panjab University
Library, the Archaeological Department Library, the Dyal Sing
College Library and the Dyal Sing Public Library. These gentlemen
provided all the printed books and the manuscripts, etc , that were
needed for the compilation of this work.

Mohammad Shujauddin
Razia Shujauddin
Delhi Gate,
Lahore.

5-1-65
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Chapter 1
THE FAMILY OF NOOR JAHAN

The family, which produced the illustrious lady Noor Jahan,
was of Iranian origin. Tehran was their native town. Khwaja
Muhammad Sharif, the grandfather of Noor Jahan, was the vizier
of Muhammad Khan Taklu, the Governor of Khurasan, a province
of Iran. After Taklu’s death Shah Tchmasp Safavi made him his
own minister. The Khwaja died in A.p. 1575.1

Khwaja Sharif was a man of scholarly taste. The Maathir gives
his Takhallus (4e'<), i.e. nom de plume, as Hijri. He had two
brothers, Khwaja Mirza Ahmad and Khwajgi Khwaja. Mirza
Ahmad was the father of Mirza Amin, the well-known writer and
author of Haft Iglim (ﬁlﬁl <as). He was also a talented person of

poetic taste. Shah Tchmasp is said to have remarked out of affec-
tion for him:

SRR LH N S ORCCIN | IO | O M VOt B [
Khwajgi Khwaja also had a taste for poetry. The same was the
case with his son Khwaja Shahpur.

Mirza Ghiath Beg. Khwaja Muhmmad Sharif had two sons.
Muhammad Tabhir, the elder, was a scholarly man, who had develop-
ed himself as a poet with Wasli (e 3) as his nom de plume, Mirza
Ghiath-ud-Din Muhammad, better known as Mirza Ghiath, was
the second son. He also was a man of letters. He was married to
Asmat Begum, the daughter of Mirza Ala-ud-Daula Aga Mulla.

Ghiath Beg’s Migration to India. After the death of Khwaja
Sharif, Mirza Ghiath Beg is said to have suffered a reverse of fate.
In utter destitution he decided to migrate to India, where in
Akbar’s Court talented persons from Iran and Central Asia received

very friendly treatment. His wife, two sons and one daughter
accompanied him to India. En route the meagre belongings which

1. Igbal Nama, p. 54 (E. & D., Vol. VI, p. 403); Sujan Rai, p. 447 (Rai
also reports that Muhammad Khan Taklu acted as host to Humayun, when

he visited Herat on his way to Iran; Khawafi Khan, Vol. I, p.263; Ahwal-i-Asaf
Khanan' f. 2b; Maathir, Vol. I, pp. 127-8.
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2 The Life and Times of Noor Jahan

he took with him were plundered, so much so that he was left with
only two mules, which the five members of his family rode by turns.
The Birth of Noor Jahan. Trekking in this way they reached
Qandhar inA.D. 1577, where his wife gave birth to a daughter
in that state of utter destitution and poverty. The baby was named
Mehr-un-Nisa. The family had nothing to provide for the newly-
born baby and her mother. Their sad plight attracted the notice
of a kind-hearted merchant, Malik Masud, who was also the chief |
of the caravan. He found Ghiath Beg in the throes of misfortune
needing every possible help. The afflicted family got an aflectionate
protector in Malik Masud. Soon a friendship developed between
them. The caravan wound its way to Mughal India with the family
of Mirza Ghiath Beg, who were now comparatively in a better
condition. The birth of the daughter augured well for the family.

The Legend of Noor Jahan's Abandonment. Khawah Kllt}n,z
who compiled his history about a century after the period of
Jahangir and Noor Jahan, is perhaps the first writer to narrate the
legend of Mehr-un-Nisa’s (Noor Jahan’s) abandonment on the
roadside by her parents due to utter destitution and their inability
to carry her along with them. She,was picked up, we arc told, by
Malik Masud, who was so much struck by the charm of the baby
that he resolved to nourish her, Hesearched fora nurse in the caravan
and found one in the person of the baby’s own mother, who thank-
ed God on this opportunity to nurse her forsaken daughter.

This story is not told by any contemporary chronicler. It is
apparent that within a century after the Empress many a romantic
and thrilling legend c¢cvolved round her personality.

Alexander Dow? i1s the first among English writers to give this
story. He gives it a pathetic colouring. He says, *‘The infant,
covered with lcaves, was placed under a tree; and the disconsolate
parents proceeded in tears.” They had hardly advanced about a
mile from the place when the afflicted mother gave way to grief.
She threw herself from the horse on the ground and wept for her
forsaken daughter. Mirza Ghiath was also moved by her wailing
and weeping and rcturned to fetch the baby. No sooner did his
eyes fall on the child than he was extremely horrified. A black snake
was coiled around her. When the father rushed forward, the serpent
left the baby and creeped into the hollow of the tree. He took the

2. Khawafi, Vol. I, p. 264,
3. History of Hindustan, Vol. 111, pp. 22-3.
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The Family of Noor Jahan 3

baby to her mother. Meanwhile some travellers appeared and soon
relieved them of their wants. Dow appears to have got this version
from two of his authorities, namely, Mirat-ul-Waridat (writtcn by
Muhammad Shuffia of Delhi in the reign of Muhammad Shah) and
Mirat-ul-Ulum. He mentions these books among his sources.
Among the English historians of the nineteenth century Elphin-
stone* gives the legend of Noor Jahan’s abandonment by the
roadside. She lay there all the night and was picked up by the chicf
merchant in the morning who was astonished to see such a beautiful

baby lying deserted on the dust. Apparently his source is Khawalfi
Khan. From Elphinstone this story found its way in all the text-
books and general history books compiled during the British period.

As already pointed out, the contemporary chroniclers are silent
about this story. Noor Jahan’s unprecedented rise to power and
her later fame and renown led the imaginative mind of the common
folk to fabricate such stories.

Mirza Ghiath in the Royal Court. Malik Masud brought Mirza
Ghiath to Fatehpur Sikri and introduced him to the Emperor.
Akbar was a great judge of men. He could easily recognise the
talents and worth of a person.

Mirza Ghiath was 2 man of ability and learning. He knew how to
draft letters according to the peculiar formalities prevalent in medi-
eval Central Asia. He was a brilliant conversationalist and possessed
all the virtues that were cssential for a courtier of an Oriental ruler
The birth of the daughter became a blessing for him and his intro-
duction to Malik Masud proved a stepping stone for future
progress,

In Akbar’s court Mirza Ghiath rose steadily in rank and influence.
Soon he held the mansab of three hundred. In 1595 he was granted
the important office of the Dewan of Kabul. Gradually he rose to
the mansab of one thousand and the important office of the Dewani5
of the Royal Household was bestowed upon him.

4. Elphinstone’s History (Ed. by Cowell), p. 554; cf. also Urdu translation,
pp. 922'3 »

S« Maathir, Vol. 1, pl. 129.
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Chapter 2

THE LOVE STORY |

Noor Jahan is a unique figure in Indo-Muslim history. Her
personality is shrouded 1n a romantic mist of mysterious stories.
In this respect no other historical figurc can be compared with her. ;
The reason is evident. The widow of a rebel official, after his -
murder, enters the royal houschold, and so fascinates the mind of
the Emperor that she practically rules the Empire for about sixteen
years as thc most powerful personality. This leads the popular mind
to weave a fabric of myth and fable around her. Her later grandeur
and greatness especially led the Indian mind to concoct thrilling
stories about her carly life.

As we have discussed elsewhele, in the later ycars of Noor
Jahan’s ascendancy bitter cnmity and rivalry developed between her
and her step-son, Shah Jahan, the heir apparent. Hostility towards
the Queen on the part of the historians of Shah Jahan was the
natural result. They cither do not mention Noor Jahan or they
write adversely about her. This tradition gradually became more
and more deep-rooted.

Sujan Rai’s Remarks. In this connection an analysis of the -
attitude of Sujan Rai Batalvi, a historian of Aurangzeb’s reign,
will illustrate the point. He compiled Khulasat-ul-Tawarikh in the
fortieth year of Aurangzeb’s reign In {107 A.H. (A.D. 1695-6), only
half a century after the death of the Empress.

Sujan Rai’s book became very popular on account of its good
qualities; whatever he wrolte became commonly circulated. After
describing the murder of Sher Afgan, the marriage of Mehr-un-

Nisa with Jahangir and the immense love that evolved between them
later on, he remarks!:

J=a Vs A > 5 C_,i!'i B AT s} B ) 400 WL J-\”
.‘_ Ml& ﬂ-"h:tlJ

1. Khulasat-ul-Tawarikh (text, p.44): “Under these circumstances, itis not
strange that Sher Afgan might have been killed at the Imperial instance.”
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The Love Story >

The doubt expressed by him was made into a positive statement.
Sujan Rai is pro-Shah Jahan and anti-Noor Jahan in his generalisa-
tions, although he compiled his book about sixty-eight years after
the death of Jahangir. It shows that an anti-Noor Jahan bias had
developed during this period. At the sume time the weaving of the
romances around her personality was also in progress even in the
reign of Aurangzeb who was himself anti-Shah Jahan. While discuss-
ing the rebellion of Shah Jahan against his father, Jahangir, Sujan
Rai’s remarks about Noor Jahan are quite indecent.> Another very
interesting thing to note in Sujan Rai’s book is that, while describ-
ing the places worth seeing in Lahore, he mentions Shahdura
monuments. He describes the mausoleum of Jahangir and that of
Asaf Khan, but ignores the tomb of Noor Jahan which was of
equal grandeur at that time, and even now one cannot aflord to
omit its account. |

Khawafi Khan’s Narrative. Muhammad Hashim Khawafi Khan
compiled his book Muntakhab~ul-Lubab in 1130 A.H. (A.D. 1718).
By that time a regular romance appears to have evolved.

According to Khawafi Khan,? Jahangir had been attracted towards
Noor Jahan since her early youth. Whenever she visited the royal
palace along with her mother, Jahangir would pursue her. Once he
found her all alonelin a secluded corner. He caught hold of her,
pulled her towards him in a tight embrace. The young girl was

2. Ibud., p. 470:

d o Syed @Re Olpea jsi 201581 5 Oladil &35 Sojle 4idd )

Ole 3 9 melbl j1 s Ay Iy &5 ga L A ,8 Olza 9 - A% Ay Sl 5

gSJlA-:-!j AR Cy _;:.f 3 -2 9 bED i | K3 6;§£.} '*-';;/‘" ‘__5_,.3.:&_:3
S5 = N2 )3l o etu juyi cnmge

Jlﬁ}s’ l“';!:’ > 4 'L:)j A-:-S’-j )l_‘g.:-. C}Uj J.:S'.-L.SJ‘J Cﬁ;g-};

e 35,8 532 5L O) blw jale w3 O Kia;

3 Muntakhab-»l-Lulab, Vol. 1, pp. 265-7. Khawafi Khan acknowledges to

have taken the account of Noor Jahan from Minhaj-us-Sadigin by Muhammad

: Sadiq Tabrizi, an employee of Prince Shuja. The book was compiled in the
| reign of Shah Jahan. It meansthat the germsof the romance, asit is describ-
- ed now, had begun to sprout as early as the reign of Shah Jahan, either due to

anti-Noor Jahan bias of the age or the extreme attachment between the two
led the people to speculate in this way.
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6 The Life and Times of Noor Jahan

extremely taken aback. She freed herself with great difficulty and

made a complaint against the prince to the Queen mother. When
Akbar heard of it, he advised Mirza Ghiath Beg to marry his

daughter immediately. The Emperor himself provided a bridegroom
in the person of Ali Quli Khan Istajlu. Immediately after marriage
he was granted a Jagir in Bengal and was despatched there. When
Jahangir ascended the throne, he appointed Qutub-ud-Din Khan
Kokaltash as the Governor of Bengal with secret instructions

against Ali Quli Khan Sher Afgan. According to Khawafi Khan,
the very appointment of Qutub-ud-Din roused suspicions in the
mind of Sher Afgan. He inferred that the fire of love for his wife
Mehr-un-Nisa still kindled in the heart of the new Emperor. As a
result, the course of action selected by him was hostility and rebel-
lion. He was invited to attend the provincial Court but he declined
the invitation. At last Qutub-ud-Din himself visited his Jagir. Sher
Afgan armed himself and went forth to see the Governor in a small
company. The conversation developed into a clash and as a result
Qutub-ud-Din was mortally wounded. The members of the Governor’s
retinue attacked Sher Afgan and inflicted severe injuries on him.
With bleeding wounds he rushed on horseback to his house. He
intended to kill Mehr-un-Nisa before his own death in order to
deprive the Emperor of his nefarious ambition. The mother-in-law
of Sher Afgan, who is said to have been present there, realised the
whole situation from the wounded visage of the brave warrior. The
only course left to her at that critical juncture was to start wailing
and weeping. She told Sher Afgan that Mehr-un-Nisa had thrown
herself in a well on hearing the news of the tragic happen-
ing. She advised him to go and get his wounds dressed immediately.
But Sher Afgan was completely exhausted. He collapsed and fell

on the ground never to rise again. Mehr-un-Nisa was sent to the
royal seraglio.

Let us examine this story, which looks like a tale from the
Arabian Nights. The story of Jahangir’s early contacts with Noor
Jahan in the lifetime of his father is not given by any contemporary
chronicler or even the later writers of Shah Jahan or Aurangzeb’s
reign.

It is an historical fact that Sher Afgan was not granted any Jagir
in Bengal by Akbar immediately after his marriage with Mehr-un-
Nisa. He was detailed with Prince Salim (Jahangir) on a military

Marfat.com
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The Love Story o

expedition against the Rana of Udaipur.* He sided with Salim for
some time during his rebellion. Had this story of Salim’s contact with
Mehr-un-Nisa been correct, Akbar would never have sent Sher
Afgan on a military expedition under Salim, especially when we
judge the character and general behaviour of Salim before his acces-
sion to the throne. This very fact questions the authenticity ol this
story. All the contemporary’ and many of the later writers agree
that Sher Afgan was cut into picces immediately after Qutub-ud-Din
was mortally wounded. Khawah Khan sends him to his house to
kill his wife simply to take the romantic story to its climax. All the
more interesting is the presence of Noor Jahan’s mother at the scene.
At the time when her son, Mirza Sharif,® and husband, Mirzu
Ghiath, were in trouble due to their pro-Khusrau activities, how
could she be at Bardwan? This story may form a very good theme
for a novel or a drama, but it has nothing to do witt sober history.

It appears that the story given by Muhammad Hashim Khawafi
Khan was further developed by later writers including the Europ-
eans. Dow’ has related this story with all the colour and vivacity
of a dramatic plot. |

Elphinstone’s History of India® compiled about 4 century back
gives a romantic version of the story, pased mainly on Khawafi
Khan.

As Elphinstone’s book formed one of the most popular basic
works on Indian history, the Noor Jahan romance became very
popular. It found its way 1n the general text-books.

In 1891, S.M. Latif published his History of the Punjab, He has
given the version of Noor Jahan’s biogruphy that had become quite

4, Igbal Nama, pp. 23, 55:

Ii.__..n-l-uL:-l' B 4 9 C’fji sz:::r *n-_-'l.i-‘:‘.?;!:.‘a nl....'::.ﬂ._i J'-‘:i;lf"a" ;’..4.15:._1 J:LTJ.}”
calis _r:?’l{" J&; 4 g 3 a0 el Gl day 9 - D46l Aslial g L.S;J':

B e .IJ.}}...J!; q_‘_'....,a.:'i.) i-_.-lj.-,ﬂ”-l-! nj_;aE

Cf. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, pp. 113-4; Maathir (see article on Sher Afgan),
Vol. 11, pp. 622-4; Gladwin, p. 40.

5. Igbal Nama , p. 23 ; Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 1, pp. 113-5; Gladwim, p. 40.

Maathir also remarks that the story of Sher Afgan’s return to his house
for killing his wife after having been injured is not supported by Igbal Nama-
i-Jahangir, meaning that it should be accepted cautiousiy (Vol. II, pp. 623-4)

6. De Laet, p. 178. |

1. Alexander Dow, op. cit., Vol. III, pp. 24-36.

8. Urdu translation, pp. 922-6,

S
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8 The Life and Times of Noor Jahan

popular by that time.? It is strange that every new version is a
modification upon the older one in one way or the other. S.M. Latif
in his History of Lahore and History of Agral® has given similar
versions.

Besides historians writing in English, the chroniclers using Indo-
Pakistani languages as the media of expression have given fantastic
stories about our Imperial couple. Most important among the
Urdu writers is Maulana Muhammad Husain Azad (d. 1910), the
well-known Urdu prose stylist and critic. In Darbar-i-Akbari, while
describing the Meena Bazar, he says!!:

)

(N .g.ﬂsh - lKi T A4 e l_,h L';_rg.-i u}a}‘jlg ﬁlﬁ dxd D I...S:J_‘
\go l::hl:_? l.ij'_,.f d}.&g t_f:lr‘l’:-’_,-,h £J. g.:lh{_]_’,:_jb ‘ |3}.? K JJ_,«-S'
d_)Lﬂh |).‘h SPY l,,.S',g_ ab‘_}f.-u'ﬁ- ‘_;T J_‘;’J L.S:i_|£_ é.cLut o L_.{ L.S"_)U}h_p
-2 ;__,,5‘" i3 & S -t s dsar o e o J o8 S
lﬁ,{g.'i _5.3 le JS’ 28 - é] j_,.? d}ﬂ-ﬁ ke _,S’l.._- (N 6)[:5'::’_ n.}l_}f-..d'.
?‘}h l:i;?}:f';u_ﬂ) l&h}#_&_ﬁ}f&i&‘{_}&dé)lﬁiéﬁdﬂ
LS e S lama - WS 5 sl plle cale § Se
D2 ) ymm A5 (8> JaeS ¥ L;&L (S o .;r 5 gils 2 o1
Js K eslyed K LS . gils s&! PV I T T d.:;‘,fl_l_f 3
~ild a3 e T2 i S K ol ajled ez

Once Jahangir, in the prime of his youth, strolled into a garden,
after moving through the Meena Bazar. He had a pair of pigeons
in his hands. He wanted to pluck a flower, but his hands were uot
free. By chance a young lass happened to pass by that way. After
handing over his pigeons to her, he plucked the flower. On return-
ing to the lass he found that she had only one pigeon in her hand.
He asked about the other. She retorted, “Your Highness! it has
fluttered away.” “How has it happened?” the astonished prince
asked. She stretched her hand, weakened the grip and let the other
bird also fly away and said, “Sir, 1t disappeared like this.” This
innocent and spontaneous reply affected the prince very much. He
not only lost his rare pigeons but his heart also. The princeinquired

9. S.M. Latif, History of the Punjab, p. 156.
10. History of Lahore, pp. 110-2; History of Agra, pp. 28-9.
11. Darbar-i-Akbari (Urdu), pp. 187-8.
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The Love Story 9

about her name and parentage and asked her to visit the royal
palace off and on along with her mother. After this Mehr-un-Nisa
started coming to the palace regularly. The prince always shadowed
her wherever she went. Soon the secret was out. The Emperor order-
ed Mirza Ghiath to arrange the marriage of his daughter immediately
with Ali Quli (called Tehmasp Quli by Azad). This marriage led
to his death. After some time his widow Mehr-un-Nisa came 10
the royal palace and became Noor Jahan Begum. ““Alas ! neither
Jahangir is left nor Noor J ahan, but the blots on their names have
become everlasting.”

Azad has reproduced the same story in his typically rhetorical
style in his another book Qasas-i-Hind (The Stories of India),
Part II. This book remained in the curricula of the Indian schools
for primary and middle classes for more than half a century. This
made the pigeon story Very popular. It impressed upon the young
inds that Jahangir secured the hand of Noor Jahan after doing
away with her husband, and that Noor Jahan married the murderer
of her husband. Azad mentions the source of this story as
“p L o O ; 3 e uf-r * [I have heard it from the seniors of
advanced age]. It is a pity that Azad gives a story on this flimsy
suthority and I have found no contemporary oI later writer
collaborating him.

This story has found its way in most of the text-books ol history
and Urdu literature, and it appears very difficult to convince our
common folk about its falsehood.

Among the followers of Azad in this respect we may mention
Abdul Latif Siddigi!? who after describing this story holds Noor
Jahan responsible for two murders (those of Sher Afgan and
Qutub-ud-Din).

In 1940 Mirza Ihtizaz-ud-Din Khan, a member of the ruling
family of Loharu State of British India, wrote a biography of Noor
Jahan. He has also given the pigeon story!’ along with other
prevalent fantastic tales, making it a very interesting romance.

This tendency has resulted in the fact that many Urdu writers
have used this story as a theme for novels and dramas.!*

12. See Sawanih-Umri Noor Jahan Begum (Urdu), pp. 9, 13.
13. Noor Jahan (Urdu), pp. 16-7.
14. In this connection Urdu novels Mehr-un-Nisa Begum by Munshi Ahinu

Husain Khan and Ishg-i-Jahangir by Khwaja Muhammad Shafi may be 2
tioned. '

Marfat.coﬁi |



10 The Life and Times of Noor Jahan

Nawab Imad Nawaz Jung!s of Hyderabad Deccan compiled a
biography of Noor Jahan. Like Muhammad Husain Azad he des-
cribes the pigeon incident and the romantic meetings of Prince
Salim and Mehr-un-Nisa. Like Azad he ascribes ulterior motives
to Prince Salim when he orders Ali Quli Khan, after his marriage
with Mehr-un-Nisa, to have a fight with a wild elephant or a
ferocious lion, at the time when Ali Quli was a member of his
retinue. As usual, Sher Afgan is described to have been murdered
for having been the husband of Mehr-un-Nisa, who is dubbed as
an instrument for the dual murder of Qutub-ud-Din Khan and Sher
Afgan. He also tries to give an epic hue to the incident by sending
Sher Afgan back to his house after his fatal injuries to kill his
wife. Mehr-un-Nisa is described to have been saved by the clever
trick of her mother. These details no doubt give to the story a touch
of Oriental romances, but it has nothing to do with sober history.

Among Urdu writers Mirza Hairat has been very critical in

discussing the events of Noor Jahan’s life. He questions the truth
of secret amorous meetings of the prince and Mehr-un-Nisa. Mirza
Hairat refers to the outspoken nature qf Jahangir and is of opinion
that he would never have concealed his love affair, had it been true.
Mirza Hairat is perhaps the only Urdu chronicier of the British
period who stresses upon reliance on the contemporary soutces.

Besides this he advances very impressive arguments to refute
the fantastic tales. According to one version, Salim himself asked
his parents to marry him to Mehr-un-Nisa. Mirza Hairat regards it
most improbable for a Mughal prince to talk in this manner to his
parents.

Our writer argues that such a marriage was against neither the
law of the land nor against religion. Akbar was a broadminded
ruler; he would have naturally allowed it.

Mirza Hairat concludes this discussion with the remark that the
Mughal palace was not a bawdy-house. Akbar’s palace was inhabit-
ed by Mughal and Rajput princesses of sublime character. The
Court ceremonies were attended by the ladies of noble families. And
such a love affair with all such detailslé¢ could the least have been
tolerated.

Mirza Hairat was a staunch anti-Shia journalist and chronicler.
After discussing the version of Maulana Muhmmad Husain Azad

15. Hayat-i-Noor Jahan, p. 7-10.
16. Sawanih-Umri Noor Jahan Begum, pp. 10-4.
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he says that Azad being a Shia tries to victimise the Sunni ruler
Jahangir. Mirza Hairat describes the disloyalty and the anti-State
activities of Sher Afgan and holds them as the sole cause of his
tragic end.

Muhammad Din Fauq (d. 1945), the well-known Urdu writer
and historian, has also discussed this theme in his books.!” He has
criticised both Muhammad Husain Azad and Mirza Hairat Dchlawi.

But his work is also not immune from baseless stories, having no
base on the contemporary works.

This trend we find in almost all the Urdu books that are being
brought out. Even the small books for children are not free from
such unhistorical facts. The treatise entitled Noor Jahan published
by Ferozsons, Lahore, may be mentioned as an instance in this
connection.

Dr. Beni Prasad!® is the first scientific writer and scholar who
has sifted such stories very scientifically and carefully.

Such an analysis immunes the biography of Noor Jahan from
all unnecessary and irrelevant romantic colour. Jahangir, no doubt,
developed an unprecedented love for Noor Jahan, but 1t was never
before A.D. 1611. It is the magic of the later writers from Khawafl
Khan to Maulana Muhammad Husain Azad that strange stories
have evolved. The very fact that all these writers differ in details,

and none of the details is given by the contemporary chroniclers,
proves the case against them.

17. See Hayat-i-Noor Jahan wa Jahangir, pp. 7-11.
\8. History of Jahangir, pp. 147-52,



Chapter 3

THE WESTERN WRITERS AND NOOR JAHAN'S
LOVE STORY

It is strange that all the Eastern and Western writers differ on the
details of the love story of Noor Jahan. This very fact is sufficient

to falsify the story. The romance as narrated by the Eastern writers
in their Persian and Urdu histories has been discussed in tha last '
chapter.
In this chapter a critical appraisal will be made of the story as
given by the contemporary and later European writers and the
Western and Eastern chroniclers of the modern times, using English
as the medium of their expression.
The contemporary Jesuits and other European travellers gene-
rally base their accounts on what thty heard from the man in the
street. Many scandals and gossips current among the masses have

also, thereiore, been preserved by them. They have described the
events of Noor Jahan’s career.

Let us examine what is given by each one of them.

Sir Thomas Roe’s Account. Sir Thomas Roe is the most famous
of the European visitors during Jahangir’s reign. His Journal' and
correspondence have been preserved. In them he refers to Noor Mahal, -
the Court intrigues and the role of various personalities. He does
not refer to any scandal pertaining to the leve affair and marriage
of Noor Jahan. It means that the society in which he spent the

four years (1615 to 1619) of his stay did not provide him any such
stories.

Edward Terry’s Statement. Edward Terry was a clergyman in the
company of Sir Thomas Roe. He also lived in the Mughal Court

for a long time. He gives long and vivid descriptions of what he
heard. He says only this much about Noor Jahan that Jahangir took
her “out of the dust, from a very mean family.””? Had he heard

1. See Sir William Foster (Ed.), The Embassy of Sir Thomas Roe to India

(1615 to 1619 A.D.).
2. Voyage to East India, p. 404,
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The Western Writers and Noor Jahan's Love Story 13

about any scandal relating to her marriage, he would not have
refrained from putting it down in his book.

Della Valle's Account. Della Valle travelled in A.D. 1623-4
along the western coast of India. He has narrated much about Noor
Jahan but is silent about the scandal. His statement of her marriage
is reproduced here:3 “She was formerly wife in India to another
Persian Captain, who served the Mughal too; but, after her hus-
band’s death a fair opportunity being offered, as it falls out many
times to some handsome widows, I know not how* Shah Salim had
notice of her and became in love with her.”

The position Noor Jahan attained after her marriage led to

speculation on the part of the people and different kinds of tales
were circulated. One of such stories recorded by Della Valle 1s re-
produced here. Jahangir «would have carried her [Noor Jahan]
‘nto his Harem . .. and kept her there like one of his other concu-
bines, but the very cunning and ambitious woman . . . refused to
go into his palace . . . saying that she had been the wife of an
honourable captain and daughter of an honourable father. Where-
fore, if his majesty had a fancy to her, he might take her for his
lawful wife, whereby his honour would be not only not injured, but
also highly enlarged, and, on this condition, she was at his service.
" Shah Salim so disdained this haughty motion at first that he had
almost resolved . . . to give her in marriage to one of the
races which they call Halal Khor. However, the woman persisting
on her first resolution, intending rather to die than alter it, and love
returning to make impetuous assaults on the king’s heart; with the
help, too, as some say, of sorceries practised by her upon him . . .

at length he determined to receive her for his lawful wife and queen
above all the rest.”>

Peter Mundy’s Account. Peter Mundy who travelled in India in
1629-34, in the reign of Shah Jahan, reproduces® a very nasty
gossip. According to it, the husband of Noor Jahan, who was an

3. Travels of P. D. Valle, Vol. 1, p. 53.
4. The answer to this “how”’ is found in Igbal Nama (pp. 55-6):

--- SV }fuuK %) [step-mother of J ahangir] Olés! cads 33 gAa”
bl Jade @ O g3 ka8 Olea y9) & oo 02 )90
L% r_.jle rlB.:“ ;_.aj)\::- uf.d‘)u rJ:l- 0|Jl;uﬁ L-K-lu _}J

5. Travels of P.D. Valle, Vol. 1, pp. 53-4.
6. Ibid., Vol. 11, pp. 203-6.
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14 The Life and Times of Noor Jahan

“Amir’” was slain in battle, being in rebellion. Mehr-un-Nisa was
also fighting on an elephant encouraging the army of her husband.
She was imprisoned and was brought before the King. “Showing
herself somewhat haughty and stomachful, it is reported, he com-
manded she should be carried to the common stews, there to be
abused by the baser sort, but this was not put in execution.” Later
on the Emperor developed admiration for the woman and made
her his Empress.

This tale clearly reveals how the common man’s mind worked
in those days to fabricate fantastic and nasty tales.

The Statement of J. De Laet. J. De Laet, the Flemish scholar,
who was a Director of the Dutch East India Company, wrote in
1631 a book on Indian history, geography and topography. Itis a
gazetteer of the reign of Jahangir. It was translated into English by
J. S. Hoyland and published in 1928,

De Laet, while discussing the events of A.D, 1607, says, “It also
came to the ears of the king that Sher Afgan, son-in-law of the
captive Itimad-ud-Daula, had murdered the Governor of Bengal,
Qutub-ud-Din Muhammad Khan Koka near Raj Mahal. However,
Shaikh Ghiath-ud-Din, the brother of turdered Qutub-ud-Din, and
his son Kishwar Khan cut off the head of the rebel Afgan, and sent
it to the king. They also threw his brother, his son, his mother and
his wife Mehr-un-Nisa (daughter of 1timad-ud-Daula), into rigorous
imprisonment. All these events incensed the king yet more against
his captive”’ (1.e. Prince Khusrau). This extract shows that Sher
Afgan was murdered as a result of his rebellious conduct. His
father-in-law, Itimad-ud-Daula, was under arrest, as he was accus-
ed of embezzling Rs. 50,000. Sher Afgan’s murder “incensed” the
King against Khusrau. Soon after a plot against the King in favour
of Prince Khusrau was discovered. Muhammad Sharif, a brother-
m-law of Sher Afgan, was one of the three ring leaders who were
cxecuted. “However Dianat Khan interceded on behalf of Itimad-
ui-Daula,® urging the king to allow him to be ransomed for two
laths of rupees. To this the king agreed.”

De Lacet clarified the whole position and his account gives us a
peep into the real circumstances responsible for Sher Afgan’s death.

7. De Laet (English version), pp. 178-9. De Lact spells the proper nouns
in a strange way. But 1 have followed the popular spellings.
8. Itimad-ud-Daula got this title later on, At that time he was only Mirzn

Ghiath.
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Jahangir’s love for Noor Jahan which started in A.D. 1611 as
described by Mutamid Khan had nothing to do with it.

Like Mutamid Khan, De Laet also asserts that Mehr-un-Nisa
and her little daughter were committed to the care of the Queen
mother, Rugayya Sultan Begum, “who received them with the
greatest kindness, and could scarcely ever allow Mehr-un-Nisa out
of her sight.”

Once the Queen dowager took her into the King's palace. The
King “loosened her veil with his own hand, and gazed at her fuce.”
A few days later the festival of the New Year was celebrated. lhe
King was enjoying himself among his concubines. Mehr-un-Nisa
came with her six or seven-year-old daughter. Being by this time
deeply in love with Mehr-un-Nisa, the King exclaimed with a smile,
“I will be father to this child.” Mehr-un-Nisa replied, “Who am 1
that I should be numbered amongst the King’s wives? Your Majecsty
must disregard me, who am I but a poor widow. Only take pity on
this child.” After this the King fell so passionately in love with
Mehr-un-Nisa that he would repair in a boat every night.

The two stories of Jahangir’s meetings with Mehr-un-Nisa
appear to be quite natural and scientific. But the daily visits 1o
Itimad-ud-Daula’s house appear purposelcss. Mehr-un-Nisa was
not there. She was an attendant of the Queen mother. The Emperor
should have gone to her palace for meecting Mehr-un-Nisa. Besides
giving very convincing and careful analysis of the events, De Laet
sometimes indulges in narrating the unsound tales, which had
reached him in Europe.

The extreme and intense love for the lady which started in
A.D. 1611, and the later development in Emperor’s reliance on her,
led to the concoction of many tales.

It appears that two of such stories have crept into this very
useful and very scientific book. The first one is the story of
Jahangir’s daily visits to Itimad-ud-Daula’s house. The second one
is given below in De Laet’s own words. “He had been 1n love with
her when she was still a maiden, during the lifetime of his father
Akbar; but she had already been betrothed to the Turk Sher Afgan,

and hence his father would not allow him to marry her, although
he never entirely lost his love for her.”””

De Laet further reports that the King instructed Khwaja Abul
Hasan to demand the hand of Mehr-un-Nisa for him from Itimad-

9. De Laet, pp. 180-2,
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ud-Daula. The Khwaja was unwilling to carry out these instruc-
tions, “and represented to His Majesty how ill it consorted with the
royal dignity for him to marry the daughter of a man who lay
under such disgrace. The king received this advice with consider-
able displeasure, and drove Khwaja Abul Hasan away to carry the
message.

“Finally an auspicious day having been selected, the king married
her before Kazi.... The king loved her so deeply that heset her
above all his other wives.”

Manucci’s Account. We have noticed so many interesting tales
about the Imperial couple. Manucci’s contribution in this connec-
tion is very romantic and interesting. The following story of
Jahangir’s falling in love with Noor Jahan is as startling as the -
famous pigeon-tale introduced in our literature by Muhammad
Husain Azad in the last century.

According to Manucci, once Jahangir was sitting in his palace,!®
situated on the bank of the river Ravi. He saw a covered boat
passing with its curtains down. The King noticed that a beautiful
woman was sitting in the boat. “He fell so violently in love with
her that he had no sleep nor rest; but the woman replied firmly to
all the solicitations made to her on behalf of the king.” She was
the wife of a soldier of position named Sher Afgan.

The King, who had fallen deeply in love with her, sent an order
to the Governor of Patna that as soon as Sher Afgan arrived there
with 2 letter he must be slain. The valorous soldier, although taken
unaware, killed five persons in defending himself, before he fell
dead. Jahangir took the woman into his palace. She agreed to
marry him on the conditions that she should be made the principal
Queen, her father made a vizier, her brothers and relatives appoint-
cd grandees at the Court. All the demands were conceded to by the
Emperor. The marriage was solemnised with great pomp and show.

A grand feast, which lasted for eight days, was arranged.

Manucci who remained in India towards the end of the reign of
Shah Jahan and during Aurangzeb’s rule, reﬁgrds Jahangir respon-
sible for Sher Afgan’s death. Sujan Rai,!! his Indian contemporary,
is perhaps the first authority to suspect Jahangir for the murder

Sher Afgan.

10. Jahangir’s palace is in the Lahore Fort. The river Ravi used to flow
under it during the Mughal period. Now it has drifted about thres miles
rowards the north-west. (See Latif’s History of Lahore, pp. 84, 125,)
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It means that 1t took three quarters of a century after Sher
Afgan’s death for such tales to become current in India.

Manucci, however, praises Noor Jahan for her judgement and
her superb administration.

Manucci says that *‘Noor Jahan succeeded in making the king
drink less than he had done formerly.” The King agreed to drink not
more than nine cups a day. “Every time he drank, it must be offer-
ed by her hand.” Once, while listening to music, the King began to
drink joyously. In a short time, he gulped the ninth cup. As music
continued, Jahangir asked for more. The Queen refused. Jahangir
went on asking for just one cup more. When he saw that the Queen
would not listen to him, “he fell into a passion, laid hold of the
Queen and scratched her, she doing the same on her side, grappling
with the king, biting and scratching him, and no one dared to separate
them.” |

The musicians hearing the noise began to weep, “tearing their
garments and beating with their hands and feet as if someone was
doing them an injury.” Upon this the King and the Queen came
out, leaving aside their quarrel, to find out the reason of all this
hue and cry. Having seen that it was a feigned plot of the musi-
clans, they laughed and the fight ended. The musicians were
rewarded.

But the Queen, like all petted women, showed herself more
angry and offended. She neither took his gifts nor listened to his
excuses. At last she told the Emperor through an intermediary that
the only way of ending the tension was for him to throw himself at
the Queen’s feet. The King, who could not live without Noor Jahan,
was willing to carry out her wishes, but this show of utter humility
towards the Queen making him look low before the people made
him hesitant. He consulted an old woman. She advised him that,
when the Queen walked in the garden with the sun shining on her
head, he should place himself before her in such a way that the
shadow of his body should reach the Qucen’s feet. Then he could
beseech his Queen as if he were at her feet. The old woman contriv-

ed to create such a situation. The King approached the Queen, till

his sh:fldow was at her feet. “Behold, my soul is at your feet!”’ said
it the King. And thus peace was made 12

11. Khulasat-ut-Tawarikh, p. 448.
12. Storia Do Mogor, Vol. I, pp. 161-4.
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The intense association that developed between the Emperor and
the Empress after their marriage led the common mind to fabricate
such tales.




Chapter 4

THE TRAGIC CAREER OF SHER AFGAN

In Mughal India the marriages of the children of the State
grandees were solemnised under the Royal patronage. No marriage
could take place without the permission of the Emperor. In 1594
Mehr-un-Nisa was seventeen years old. She grew up to be a
charming lass of good qualities. She was given education in the
prevalent sciences and training in household chores.

All Quli, a young Iranian Turk, arrived in the Mughal Court
at Lahore in 1594. He was wedded to Mehr-un-Nisa, the young
daughter of Mirza Ghiath, with the blessings of Akbar. He was a
Turk of Istajlu tribe.! He was a Safarchi (table attendant) of Shah
Ismail II (d. A.D. 1578) of Iran. After his master’s demise he fled
from Iran. After a long course of wanderings and adventures he

reached Multan through Qandhar. At that time Abdur Rahim
Khan-1-Khanan was leading a large army to Thatta. Ali Quli also
joined the ranks. This was to prove a good opportunity for this
young adventurer to show his worth and win his place in Mughal
India. During the ensuing campaigns in Sind, Ali Quli distinguish-
ed himself by his valour, courage and intrepidity. His qualities
attracted the eye of Khan-i-Khanan, who mentioned him in war
despatches and procured him a mansab. The war concluded in the
triumph of the Royalists. The Khan-i-Khanan took Ali Quli with
him to Lahore. He presented him to the Royal court and introduc-
ed him into high circles. Lahore was the seat of Government at
that time. Akbar’s court as well as camp was stationed here, The
Khan-i-Khanan did the same good turn to Alj Quli as Malik
Masud had done to Mirza Ghiath. Alj Qult’s presence at Lahore
facilitated his marriage to the daughter of the Mirza, who was
then an important mansabdar. It appears that Ali Quli served the
Royal Court at Lahore for five years after his marriage. In 1599
Akbar deputed Prince Salim to a campaign against Mewar. Al

1. Iqbal Nama, p. 55 (E. & D,. Vol. VI, p. 401); Tuzk (R, & B.) Vui.l, pp.
113-5; Maathir, Vol. 1, pp. 129-30, Vol. 11, pp. 622-5
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20 The Life and Times of Noor Jahan

Quli was also placed on the staff of the prince. Ali Quli showed
his bravery in this campaign. Once he behaved in an extremely
courageous way and killed a tiger single-handedly. The prince was
oreatly pleased with him and conferred upon him the title of Sher
Afgan. In 1601 Prince Salim rebelled against the Emperor. He
set up an independent Court at Allahabad. It was during this
period that Salim became instrumental in the ghastly murder of
Abul Fazal in August 1602. Ali Quli Sher Afgan followed his
patron, Prince Salim. Later on better judgement seems to have
prevailed and Ali Quli deserted to Akbar.

Ali Quli Gets a Jagir in Bengal. In 1605 all the plans and 1n-
trigues against Prince Salim failed. He ascended the throne of India
is Nur-ud-Din Jahangir. On this auspicious occasion he acted
generously and overlooked Ali Quli’s desertion and granted him
an office and Jagir at Bardwan in Bengal. Bardwan is a very rich
district in Bengal on the borders of Orissa, and is considered to

be a purgatory in between the two hells of Bengal and Orissa.

Conditions in Bardwan. Bengal was at that time a hot-bed of
intrigues. There were many Afghap chiefs and Jagirdars who were
creating mischief. As Bengal was at a safe distance from the
capital, they thought it a very convenient corner for mischief-
mongering. They wanted to fish in the troubled waters and were
ready to exploit the situation created by the death of Akbar and
Khusrau’s dispute with his father, Jahangir, on the question of
succession of the Mughal throne.

Mehr-un-Nisa’s Family Involved in Pro-Khusrau Activities.
Towards the end of Akbar’s reign an intrigue was hatched to
supersede Salim by his own son Khusrau,2 as a successor to the
throne. For this Jahangir's own dissolute habits and reckless
behaviour were mainly responsible. Khusrau was a young, hand-
some prince of seventeen years, and had given ample indi-
cation of his future greatness. He was also connected with the
two prominent nobles of the Empire by the closest blood ties:
he was the nephew of Kachhwaha Raja Man Singh who held the
rank of seven thousand and Khan-i-Azam Mirza Aziz Koka was
his father-in-law. With selfish motives, they had started harping

the cause of Khusrau.
The plan could not materialise. Before the demise of Akbar,

i
1
1

2. De Laet, p. 171; Gladwin, pp. 17-2:
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the father and the son Wwere reconciled. Jahangir ascended the
hereditary throne 1n an atmosphere of cordiality and unity.
Although it was a peaceful accession, yet the snake of conspiracy
and discord was only scorched and not killed.

Raja Man Singh had taken his nephew Khusrau under his
charge. On the mOITOW of Akbar’s death he had got his

boats ready at Jamuna to sail for Bengal with Khusrau. Mean-
while there were overtures from the new ruler for reconciliation,
one of the conditions being guaranteed safety and security for
Khusrau, of which Jahangir gave the assurance on most solemn
oaths.

The next day Man Singh presented the prince at the Coutt.
The Emperor embraced and kissed his son with warm alffection.
The Raja was sent back as Governor to his province of Bengal in
all honour.? A few days later the Emperor gave Khusrau a
lakh of rupees for repairing Munim Khan’s house granted to him
for residence at Agra.?

This reconciliation was a stroke of great statesmanship. In
Bengal, Man Singh could easily set up an independent Court with
Khusrau as his trump card. All the dissatisfied souls could gather
round him. That province was already a hot-bed of intrigues.
The hearts of Jahangir and Khusrau had been hopelessly rent
asunder. It appeared that the one could not forgive the other and
they could not forget the recent past. The young talented prince
had been hurled down from the dreamland where he was to be
saluted as the monarch. He could not reconcile himself to depend-
ence and a long period of guarded retirement.

Meanwhile the opportunists seem to be very active. Left to
himself the prince might bave reconciled to a life of princely
retirement, awaiting his opportunity after his father to measure
swords with his brothers for securing the hereditary throne. It
appears that the generous policy of Jahangir had not subdued the
ambitions in the hearts of the adventurers.

Mirza Hasan Beg and Abdur Rahim were the arch intriguers.
The relatives of the young prince also were not inactive. The
prince enjoyed the sympathies of hermits like Guru Arjan. It
appears that Man Singh also tried to create an atmosphere in

3. Igbal Nama, p. 4; Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. | O T

4. Wiqgayah Asad Beg, Elliot and Dawson, Vol. VI, pp. 172-3; Tuzk
(R. & B,), Vol. 1, p. 12,
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favour of the prince in Bengal. This is why he was recalled from
Bengal immediately after the suppression of Khusrau’s revolt.
Man Singh had been appointed the Governor of Bengal by Akbar
in 1008 A.H. He had suppressed the rebellion of Isa and Khwaja
Uthman.

Jahangir reinstated him as the Governor of Bengal immediately
after the death of Akbar. His recall from Bengal bad political
reasons.”> Tod says that Jahangir imposed on him an enormous
fine of ten crores of rupees. Jahangir had also sent Ali Quli Sher
Afgan to Bengal as a sort of a check against the Pathan marau-
ders. Like Man Singh, the Governor of Bengal, Sher Afgan
also appears to have developed anti-Jahangir feelings.

When the revolt of Khusrau subsided, the Amir-ul-Umera and B
Asaf Khan were appointed as guards on Khusrau at Lahore.

During Asaf Khan’s turn, his nephew Nur-ud-Din many a time
induiged in long conversations with the prince, as a result of
which friendship developed between the two. Nur-ud-Din resolved
to help the prince in his efforts for the throne. From Lahore the
Emperor marched to Kabul. Amir-ul-Umera was not keeping good
health and was left behind. Asaf Khan was made a vizier.
Khusrau was entrusted to the custodf of a eunuch, Itibar Khan by
name. Khusrau possessed charming manners and an attractive
mode of address which won for him Itibar Khan’s affection and
sympathy. They entered into a conspiracy. They were soon joined
by another disaffected young noble, Fathullah, son of Hakim
Abul Fateh. They canvassed very effectively and secured the
active support of about four hundred accomplices, Muhammad
Sharif Khan, a son of Mirza Ghiath Beg, being one of them.
Itibar Khan took each one of them to the presence of the prince by
way of introduction. They swore fidelity to the cause of the
prince. He invested them each with a peculiar badge. The
paternal feelings and affection moved Jahangir to undo the chains
of Khusrau at Kabul. He allowed him to have a stroll in the
Shahr Ara Garden. This clemency was bound to facilitate the
progress of the plot. When the Royal camp moved from Kabui,
the conspirators plotted to kill Jahangir and to proclaim Khusrau
as the Emperor of India. The prince was highly popular
with the general public. His cause was now espoused by man
dignitaries of the Imperial Court. The scheme did not appear

5. Rajasthan, Vol. 11, p. 287.
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wholly impossible. But a secret confided to four hundred persons
was likely to be divulged easily. Khwaja Wais, who was the
Dewan of Prince Khurram, got the wind of the plot. He carried
the information to the Emperor. At the same time Asaf Khan
also learnt of it ; he communicated the facts to Salabat Khan
who discussed the affairs with the Emperor and suggested grant of
amnesty to one of the conspirators and to get full information
from him. Mirza Muhammad Uzbeg was made an approver. He

disclosed all he knew and provided clues to further discoveries. A
bundle of Itibar Khan’s letters was captured.

Sensation overtook the whole of the Court. Even the loyalists
trembled with fear and dismay. But luckily for many of them,
Salabat Khan earnestly advised the Emperor to desist from further
inquiries. According to his counsel, the Emperor burnt the letters
and refrained from exposing the many people involved to public
shame. Only four of the ring leaders—Nur-ud-Din, Itibar Khan,
Bedagh Turkman and Mirza Sharif Khan—were executed. Mirza
Ghiath, the father of Mirza Sharif, was also suspected. He was

confined for some time. Ultimately, he was released on payment
of a fine of two lakhs of rupees.6

As we have seen above, Raja Man Singh was recalled from
Bengal ; Jahangir could not, under the circumstances, rely upon
him.

Bengal had been a hot-bed of Pathan intrigues, seditions and
uprisings. So Qutub-ud-Din, the Emperor’s foster-brother (Koka)
was sent to Bengal in Safar 1015, with specific instructions to set
the affairs right. Qutub-ud-Din Khan was one of the most favourite
courtiers. The despatch of such a confidant to Bengal indicated
that the situation in Bengal was very critical.

Sher Afgan was also suspected .He was a son-in-law of Mirza
Ghiath and a subordinate of Raja Man Singh. Both of them had
been condemned as supporters of Khusrau. Jahangir suspected him
and advised his Governor to send him to the Court. In casc of
disobedience and insubordination he was authorised to punish him.

In May 1607, Qutub-ud-Din left for Bardwan. He summoned
Sher Afgan for an interview: perhaps he wanted to arrest him. On
20 May, Sher Afgan, accompanied by only two grooms (one of
them being a cunuch), came out to meet the Governor. As he

6, {qbaf Nama, Pp. 27-30; Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, pp. 122-3; Gladwin, pp.
1-2; Dir Jarric, pp.160-1, Maathir, Vol. 11, pp. 622-5 (for Sher Afgan’s help).
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entered the camp, the soldiers of the Royal army encircled him.
He was infuriated. He sensed the coming danger and shouted in
rage, “What type of behaviour is this?” The Khan ordered the
people aside and went forth to him all alone. Sher Afgan was
already out of temper on the behaviour of the soldiers. He drew
his sword and struck the Governor. The Governor's bowls gushed
out, but the brave man held his belly with one hand and ordered
his men to kill the assailant. But the command was not necessary.
Amba Khan, a Kashmiri retainer of Qutub-ud-Din, had already
struck Sher Afgan on the head. Hc himself received a fatal blow
in return. The soldiers rushed on Sher Afgan from all sides and
literally cut him to pieces.” But Sher Afgan had himself taken his
revenge. Amba Khan died on the spot. Qutub-ud-Din Khan breath-
ed his last within twelve hours. This incident was the result of
tactlessness on the part of Qutub-ud-din Khan. Sher Afgan’s
mangled remains were buried at Bardwan. His tomb is still
traceable.® The year of his death is derived from the word ¢ slk-
(1016). -

The death of Qutub-ud-Din Khan deeply affected Jahangir.
He hurls curses and abuses on Sher Afgan. He regards his murder
as the greatest affliction after the death of his father.

]

7. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 1, pp. 113-5; Tuzk (Sved's Text), pp. 54-5; Igbal
Nama, pp. 23-4 (Motamid K ban calls Sher Afgan’s first assailant as Pir Khan);
K. K, Vol. I, pp. 266-7; Riaz-ul-Salatin, pp. 172-3; Maathir-ul-Umara, Vol. 11.
pp. 622-4.

8. “*‘M. Abdul Wali* Antiguities of Burdwan,” J. 4. S. B., Yol. XIII, 1917,
pp. 184-6,
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Chapter 5

NOOR JAHAN IN THE ROYAL HAREM

According to the prevalent practice, the only fate that awaited
Mehr-un-Nisa and her daughter, Ladli Begum, after the murder
of Sher Afgan, was the status of a concubine. She was appointed
the lady-in-waiting to the dowager Empress Ruqgayya Sultan
Begum 1n which position she spent four long years earnestly
endeavouring to please her imperial mistress.! She displayed her
qualities of head and heart in serving her and impressed her so
much that very soon she became her confidante. She controlled her
household and managed her estate in a masterly way. It was in
March 1611-that the day of her good fortune dawned. In a
Meena Bazar the Emperor Jahangir happened to see her. He was

so much enamoured by her graces that he selected her for his own
harem.
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This 1s how a contemporary writer describes the event. It
appears that 1t was for the first time in 1611 that Jahangir got the
opportunity of seeing Noor Jahan. Although Mehr-un-Nisa was a
thirty-four-year-old widow, and had undergone toils and tribula-
tions after the sad incident of her husband’s death, yet she retained
her physical charm. The forty-two-year-old Emperor who had
seen a large number of women by that time selected her for his
harem. The Emperor very soon realised the greatness and grandeur

of the character of that lady. Her qualities were recognised not
only by the Emperor, the queen-mother also recommended her.

1. Iqbal Nama, p. 56; De Laet, p. 180; Maathir, Vol. 1, p. 130, states that
she was entrusted to the care of Salima Sultan, another dowager queen of Akbai,

who was also his cousin (daughter of Gulrukh or ‘Gulberg Begum). Sec

Maathir, Vol. 1, p. 375, for the account of Salima Sultan Begum.
2. Igbal Nama, p. 56.
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26 The Life and Times of Noor Jahan

The Emperor married her and gave her the title of Noor Mahal?

(Light of the Palace) in A.D. 1611. In March 1616 the title of Noor
Jahan (Light of the World) was bestowed upon her.

Emperor Nur-ud-Din Jahangir and Empress Noor Jahan have :
become two very popular names in the annals of Mughal India. '*
No other woman has ever enjoyed so much confidence of her
husband as did this widow of a rebel petty officer. This marriage
proved a source of progress and rise not only for the members of
her family but also for the slaves and eunuchs of this illustrious
house. Dil Aram was a wet nurse, who had suckled Noor Jahan
in her infancy, was appointed head of the Ladies Apartment. She
had the final say in all affairs pertaining to them. The orders
of all scholarships and financial aids were issued under her seal.

Noor Jahan gathered more and more power and became very
important. In January 1613 Salima Begum®* died and the rank of
Padishah Begum was conferred upon Noor Jahan.

Gradually Noor Jahan attained such a lofty position in the
LEmpire that she shared with Jahangir all the royal prerogatives
except the recitation of Khutba in her name. The coins issued in
her name had the following impressidns:

19ty e iy Klps old (K2
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The farmans issued> by her had the following lines:
ur's'i:g elidly Olpa joi s dps adle ale r'f"’

3. Tuzk (R. & B.) Vol,, 1, p. 319; Khawafi:Khan, Vol. I, pp. 2. 1.

4. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, p. 232; Rieu's Catalogue, Vol, I, p. 1713 Iqbal
Nama p. 68.

J« Igbal Nama, pp. 56-7.
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Chapter 6

NOOR JAHAN’S ASCENDANCY
FIRST PHASE [1611-1620)

Jahangir’s marriage with Noor Jahan in 1611 marks the dawn
of a new era not only in the history of Mughal India but in that
of Noor Jahan’s family also.

As a result of the complicity of Mirza Sharif and Mirza Ghiath
(Noor Jahan’s brother and father, respectively) in pro-Khusrau
intrigues! and the murder of Sher Afgan, this rising family had
faced a temporary eclipse. The matrimonial connection with the
royal family, however, soon paved the way again for their progress.
Mirza Ghiath held the rank of one thousand in 1605. In 1611 he
got the rank of two thousand zat and five hundred swar and
consequently he rose to the rank of seven thousand zat and
seven thousand swar by 1619. Similarly, his son Mirza Abul
Hasan got the post of Nazim-i-Bayutat (master of the household).
He also embarked upon a brilliant career. His younger sons,
Itigad Khan and Ibrahim Khan, also entered very brilliant careers
after 1611. There is no doubt that all these people were endowe
with extraordinary abilities; they adjusted themselves successfulls
with the new environments. They proved equal to the task tha:
confronted them. It was, however, Noor Jahan’s marriage with th.
Emperor that provided them with a favourable chance to rise.

Noor Jahan was a talented but very ambitious lady. She want-
ed to wield power and share authority with her illustrious
husband. Her father and three brothers in the Court and her
mother Ismat Begum within the palace proved bulwarks forgher
authority. They helped her in attaining complete control over the
State affairs. They all constituted a nucleus round which many
nobles gathered to attain power and authority. This group, called

Noor Jahan Junta by historians, worked very successfully with
unity and cohesion till 1620.

1. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 1, pp. 113-5 De Laet; pp. 178-9; Maathir-ul-
Umara; Vol. 11, pp. 622-7,
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28 The Life and Time of Noor Jahan

In April 1612 Arjumand Bano Begum,? Asaf Khan’s daughter,
was married to Prince Khurram. The prince was a budding youth

of twenty years at that time. In his early childhood, he was extreme-
ly loved by his grandfather, Akbar.

Rugayya Sultan Begum, one of Akbar’s Chughtai wives, doted :
upon him. Like other Mughal princes he had received very pro- '
found education. As Khusrau, the eldest prince, had conspired
and rebelled against his father, and had thus lost all chances of
succession to his ancestral throne, Khurram was looked upon as
the heir to the throne.?

Prince Parvez? was no doubt full of ambition, but he was
devoid of the necessary abilities. He was also extremely addicted
to drinking.

Shahryar’ was born in 1605, and was yet a mere child. It was
the height of diplomacy on the part of Noor Jahan to connect the
prospective heir to the throne with her family. If the future
Emperor of India was also one of their own, the ascendancy of
Noor Jahan Junta was assured.

The month of April 1912 witnessed the Court in a festive
mood at the nuptials® of the heir with the niece of the Empress.
The prince and Asaf Khan both were for pomp and ceremony.
They vied with each other in ostentations and splendid display.
Jahangir personally headed the marriage procession. He spent a
a day and a night at the house of Asaf Khan. It was the happiest
day for Mehr-un-Nisa.

Arjumand Bano was extremely beautiful and lovely. She had
a generous, pure and dutiful heart. In polygamous famulies very
few marriages had been so happy and successful. Shah Jahan was
so enamoured of her that after her death, he raised an eternal monu-
ment to her memory in the Taj Mahal which still stands as a sym-
bol of his love for her.

Despite all this, the marriage was a political one. It cemented
the alliance among Noor Jahan, Mirza Ghiath, Asaf Khan and
the heir apparent. For the next ten years, this group of extremely

2. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, p. 217.

3, 1bid., p. 48.

4. Ibid., pp. 18-9.

5. 1bid., p. 20.

6. 1bid., pp. 224-5, 306-7; Igbal Nama, p. 67 ; Kamboh, Vol, I,
pp. 31. 32, 50.
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capable persons practically ruled the Empirc. The sway of Noor
Jahan was really the domination of this group. Within a few years
(in A. D. 1617) Khurram got, in preferance to his brothers, the
unprecedented rank of thirty thousand zat and twenty thousand’
swar.

The historians are unanimous in asserting that the sway of
Noor Jahan was complete. But they fail to understand the share of
her associates in her authority.

Jahangir’s Role(1611-1622). Generally it is believed that Jahangir
handed over the administrative duties completely to his wife, Noor
Jahan. This belief resulted because of Noor Jahan’s extraordinary
rise. Perhaps Noor Jahan’s capability to rule and Jahangir’s weak-
ness for wine and meat and merry-making was the main reason of
the popularity of this view.

22 5t oK Olen ok cible o 45 A3 g i §y5)
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I personally feel that Jahangir’s remark was only casual and in
1 humorous vein. This saying of the Emperor, however, became so
popular that Bermier, writing in the beginning of Aurangzeb’s
reign, makes a mention of it. He says, “the wife of Jahangir who
so long wielded the sceptre while her husband abandoned himself
to drunkenness and dissipation.”®

It appears to be a mistake to think that the Emperor was reduc-
ed to a cipher. All the rules of foreign and domestic policy laid
down by him or his father were very seriously adhered to. All the
institutions of Government were maintained. The dominant Junta
studied the imperial temperament closely and sought to humour him.
He was not blindly followed by them. In this period he continued
to take keen interest in State affairs. Many a time he interposed
with vigour against them.

Sir Thomas Roe has narrated a very interesting event.” A case
of injustice to the English merchants on the western coast of
Southern India was reported to the Emperor. The name of Prince
Khurram was mentioned in this respect. Having heard this the
Emperor was greatly enraged. He summoned the prince and severely

1. Igbal Nama, p. 57 (E. and D., vol. VI, p. 405); Tatimma (E. and D.,
Vol. VI, p. 399).

8 Bernier's Travels, p. 3.

9, The Embassy of Sir T. Rae, pp. 147-8.
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reprimanded him.

It was only at a later stage, when the Emperor was broken
down in health, that he ceased to exercise real influence on the ad-
ministration. The period of Noor Jahan’s ascendancy is divided in- -i
‘0 two periods. In the first period from 1611 to 1622 Jahangir was )
1 factor to be reckoned with. The members of the Junta aimed at :
pleasing him and getting their wishes realised through him. Mirza
Ghiath, Ittimad-ud-Daula and his wife were alive.

Neor Jahan and Prince Khurram were in close alliance. During
this period the Junta maintained the Empire in peace and prosperi-
ty. They looked after their own ends as well as the interests of the
Empire. Most of the vacancies in the Imperial services were filled
oy their own favourites. The goodwill of the Empress and her
1ssociates was the only passport to honour and rank.

Jealousy of the Nobility. The undue domination and extraordi-
nary authority of the Noor Jahan Junta was naturally disliked by
he nobility. It roused their jealousy and hostility. The people, who
ancied that they had been deprived of their due share in power,
elt disgruntled and dissatisfied. Some ¥mera outwardly bowed to
hem waiting for an opportunity to take revenge. But the more
outspoken spirits like Mahabat Khan could not be cowed down.

Immediately after the accession of Jahangir he had to face the
eep-rooted opposition of the Khusrau Junta. Even the suppression
)f his rebellion could not completely wipe out this danger. The

nobles like Khan-i-Azam and Man Singh were openly with Khusrau.
A large number of them joined a very dangerous intrigue against
the reigning sovereign,

Mirza Sharif1? had to lose his head and Mirza Ghiath was fined

heavily, as we have discussed in another chapter. Jahangir was in
a very critical situation. His paternal love for his eldest son Khus-
rau collided with his duty as a monarch. The court Umera were
opportunists and were ready to resort to treason, if they expected
any benefit out of it,

The Noor Jahan Junta provided the Emperor with a strong and
loyal!l party. “In this phase Jahangir got a sincere worker and an
adviser in the person of Noor Jahan who, with the helpof herin-
born sagacity and ability, was striving for the stability of Jahangir’s

10, Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, p. 113; Igbal Nama, D. 22,
11. De Laet, pp. 177-9; Maaqthir, pp. 622-7,
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authority. It appears that the rise of Noor Jahan gave mental relief
to Jahangir. It was this mental relief that made Jahangir say he en-

trusted administration of the Empire to Noor Jahan for a cup of
wine.

Rivalry between Khurram and Khusrau for the Throne. It was very
unfortunate that in the lifetime of Akbar Khusrau was hailed as a
rival of hisfather for the ancestral throne. But he could notsucceed.
It 1s all the more unlucky that the first notable event of Jahangir’s
reign is the rebellion of Khusrau, his own son. After the re-

~ bellion was crushed, the participants were brutally punished, and

Khusrau was bitterly reproached and put to confinement. Later on
a plot was hatched to assassinate the King and to enthrone Khus-
rau. The fortunate discovery of this plot led to the punishment of
ring leaders. Neither Jahangir’s heart, nor the Imperial ladies, nor
the senior nobility could consent to the execution of the prince. A
group headed by Mahabat Khan pressed that he should be blinded.
It was essential, they said, in the interest of general peace. At last
Jahangir agreed on this ghastly action. Mahabat Khan himself was
commissioned to perform this cruel job. The sight was not. how-
ever, irreparably damaged.

Jahangir reached Agra on 22 March 1608. The father in him
softened towards Khusrau and he called the physicians to restore
his sight. The Iranian physician, Hakim Sadra,!? restored the
vision of one of the eyes. The vision of the other eye was perma-
nently effected, and was never entirely cured.

The sufferings of the prince increased his popularity among the
masses. Taking advantage of this an obscure Muslim of Bihar,
Qutub by name, personated the prince, and declared that he had
escaped from the prison. He gathered a large band round him and
marched on Patna, the capital of Bihar. Due to the absence of the
Governor Afzal Khan (alias Abdur Rahman Khan) from the capi-
tal, he succeeded in capturing it. The Governor had to win the
capital back with great difficulty and after much bloodshed.
Qutub was executed, and many of his followers imprisoned!-,

Let us examine the position of the two claimants to the throne,
Khusrau and Khurram, in this background. Khus. 't and his sup-
porters were still hoping for the throne. Khurram’s position had

12. Intikhab-i-Jahangir Shahi (E. & D.), Vol. VI, pp. 448, 449, 452.
13. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, pp. 173-6; Igbal Nama, pp. 42-4,
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become very strong during this period. He had been united with
the family of Noor Jahan through marriage with her niece, and
was being supported by her. He was the candidate of the Junta.

The disgruntled rival party of the Umera looked upon Khusrau
as their candidate. Khusrau’s personal magnetism, his spotless
character and, most of all, his sufferings had endeared him to
the public. The ladies of the Harem had a soft corner for him,
The Khan-i-Azam was devoted to his cause. For the dissatisfied
nobility he was the only ray of hope.

Perhaps due to the mild attitude of Jahangir towards Khusrau,
or to the propaganda of his supporters, it was commonly beheved
that Jahangir was deeply attached to him, and he hid a mind to
nominate him as his successor in preference to the proud, overbear- x
ing Khurram. They believed that Khusrau was not released beca .se
of the fear of his extreme popularity and the machinations!4 of the
Empress and Prince Khurram, In 1614, Khan-i-Azam!5 was placed
under the custody of his enemy, Asaf Khan, in Gwolior fort. The
same year some restrictions were imposed upon Prince Khusrau. It
was a great success for the Noor Jahan Junta.

The year 1616 was auspicious for the Junta. Prince Khusrau was
transferred from the charge of Ani Rai Singh Dalan to that of Asaf

Khan “for certain considerations,” as Jahangir'® himself makes us
believe.

Sir Thomas Roe, the well-known English envoy, gives a very
interesting account of the successful plot of the Junta that resulted
in Khusrau’s transfer to the charge of Asaf Khan.

The Junta feared that the future of their ascendancy could not
be assured unless and until Khusrau was alive. His popularity in
the Court and among the public could become a hurdle in their way.
In case Jahangir died suddenly, the Rajput chief, the care-taker
of Khusrau, could easily exploit the situation. Sir Thomas Roe,
reports that Noor Jahan approached the King with false fears that
Khusrau was neither safe nor were his ambitious thoughts dead.
The Emperor soothed her, but he could not be moved to take any
step. Once when the King was under the spell of wine, Prince Khus-
rau, Itimad-ud-Daula and Asaf Khan moved the King that, in the
interest of the safsty of Khusrau and the honour of the family, it was

14. The Embassy of Sir Thomas Roe, Vol. 11, p. 280; Terry, pp. 411-2.

15. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. L, p. 261,
16. Ibid., p. 336,
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essential that he should be under the charge of his brother instead
of being with a Rajput gentile. The King consented and went
to sleep. The same night Asaf Khan went to Ani Rat Singh and de-
manded the prince. Ani Rai Singh refused saying that he was a
humble servant of Khusrau, but as he was entrusted the charge by
the King, he would deliver Khusrau to none but the King and ask-
ed him to wait till the morning. This answer cooled them all. The next
day Ani Rai Singh paid a visit to the King and apprised him of the
demand of the prince, his refusal, and answer. He further submitted
that the Emperor had given him the charge of his son and made
" him the commander of four thousand horse. He would die at the
gate rather than deliver the prince to the hands of his enemy. He
was ready to deliver him only to the Emperor. The Emperor said,
“You have acted honestly and faithfully. You have answered dis-
cretely. Continue with your duties like this without bothering about
such commands.” The Junta had also to keep silent over the inci-
dent.l’

Despite this failure the Junta persisted in their designs. When
Prince Khurram was preparing to march to the Deccan, the Junta
once more resolved that they were not secure if Sultan Khusrau re-
mained in the hands of Ani Rai. In Khurram’s absence the Emperor
might be reconciled with Khusrau. His liberty was dangerous
to their future hopes. They again approached the Emperor to en-
trust Khusrau to the charge of Asaf Khan as his guardian under
Sultan Khurram. They argued that it would frighten the Khan-i-
Khanan and the Deccanis. On hearing that the prince who marched
against them was so favoured and relied upon as to hold the
charge of his elder brother, they would be greatly intimidated. “The
King,” says Sir Thomas Roe,!® “who had yielded himself into the
hands of a woman (i.e. Noor Jahan) could not defend his son
from their practices. He either sees not the ambition or trusts it too
far in confidence of his own power, and consents.” Khusrau was
placed under the charge of Asaf Khan’s soldiers. Prince Khurram
sent two hundred of his soldiers to assist them.

Roel? gives us in the above description what was popularly

gossiped regarding this affair in the Court, in the camp and in the
market,

17. Ibid.

1 . Roe, Vol. 11, pp. 292-3,
19. 1bid., p. 294,
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This decision caused deep consternation among the people. It was
a great victory for the Junta, and was fraught with deep menace
not only to the future but even to the personal safety of Prince
K husrau. The sister of Khusrau and other women refused to take
their meals as a protest. They condemned the cruelty and the dotage

of the King. The Emperor had to give an undertaking for the safe-
ty of Khusrau. He sent Noor Mahal to appease the enraged ladies.
But they cursed and refused to see her.

Sir Thomas Roe, an eye-witness of these events, has also pre-
served the reaction of the common people: “They say the King
hath not delivered his son’s but his own life into the hands of an
ambitious prince and a treacherous faction. That Khusrau cannot
perish without scandal to the father and revenge from him. There-
fore he must go first and after him his son; and so through their
bloods this youth (Khurram) must mount the royal seat.”

New hopes of the re-delivery of the prince were generated and
soon allayed. Every man spread news according to his own fears
and desires. The whole Court was busy in whispering and the no-
bility was sad. o

It was believed at that time that Khurram was making secret
attempts upon the life of his brother. The intrigues and conspi-
racies of the rival parties kept the Court in agitation. The people
were confident that the death of Jahangir would be the signal for a
bloody civil war between the adherents of the rival princes. It was
under these circumstances that Sir Thomas Roe?? thought it his duty
to warn the East India Company not to extend their business too
far into the country. Their agents must concentrate at a few
central places. They should refrain from participation in thel ocal

politics,
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Chapter 7

THE SECOND PHASE OF NOOR TAHAN'S
ASCENDANCY

Noor Jahan and her party had gathered great strength. Khur-
ram, the prospective successor, was with her. Her father and brother
were supreme in the Court. Itimad-ud-Daula, who came to Mughal
India a penniless and homeless adventurer and was under Imperial
displeasure immediately after the accession of Jahangir, had arisen
to the first place in the Mughal Court. Asaf Khan enjoyed the
second position. He was the father-in-law of Prince Khurram. It
1s strange that even these blood ties could not hoid this Junta
united—their unity dashed against the rock of the unfettered ambi-
tions of two persons—Noor Jahan and Khurram.

Nature had granted Jahangir a splendid constitution, which
was seriously affected by excessive use of wine and opium and
a life of ease and dissipation. With advance in age he was going
from bad to worse. Soon he was a miserable decrepit. In 1618
when he was touring through Gujrat he found himself unequal to
the hot and sultry summer. He fell ill and showed serious symptoms
of asthema.! He improved a little due to the treatment of Hakim
Ruhullah. In November 1620 when he returned to the plains, he
suffered a relapse and was on the brink of the grave. Hakim
Rukna, Hakim Sadra, called the Messiah of the age, and Hakim
Abul Qasim were not very hopeful. He tried to drowa his paln in
the flood of liquor. It instead deepened his misery. Parvez hurricd
to hus father. The affectionate care of Noor Jahan, however, saved
him. She persuaded him to minimise drinking. She gently led him
to abstain from unwholesome diet and to take appropriate reme-
dies. Although his health becime delicate, yet he recovered.

Jahangir decided to leave Agra. He founded a new city for
himself by the hillside on the bank of the Ganges. Later on he
abandoned this project, and started visiting Kashmir annually. In
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the beginning of 1623, was not yet in a fit condition of health to
write his daily diary. He, therefore entrusted the task to Motramid
K han. The convalascent Emperor was helped 1n his administrative
work by the Empress. Gradually the whole of administration pass-
od into the hands of Noor Jahan.

Noor Jahan had become supreme for the moment. This satis-
fied her ambitious nature. But the rapidly declining health of the
Emperor alarmed her very much. She was worried that her husband
who was the source of her authority might expire at any moment,
leading to her utter ruin and total disaster. Should her domination
come to an end with the death of Jahangir? Would it be possible
for her to maintain this supremacy under Shah Jahan also, who
was a member of the Junta and a son-in-law of her brother, Asaf
Khan. Shah Jahan was nearly thirty years old at that time. He
had been designated heir apparent with unprecedented honour and
dignities. All classes of the people had been trained to look upon
him as their future master. His influence had been established in
several provinces. Many distinguished generals and regiments were
under his influence. Noor Jahan had a long and close association
with him, but the prince was energetic and ambitious. Nature had
gifted him with ability to rule and command. He had inherited
bravery and the power of self-assertion from his Rajput mother.
He could not become a tool in the hands of the imperious Noor
Jahan. Two strong spirits imbued with feelings of self-assertion
could not be adjusted within a single empire. Now both of them
understood each other well. They could not remain usder any
misconception. Noor Jahan had only two alternatives: she must
either retire from public lifea fter the death of Jahangir, or man-
ocuvre so that Shah Jahan should not get his ancestral throne. She
must bring forward some comparatively weak prince who should
depend on her and who should look upon her as his guardian
angel and benefector. A woman of Noor Jahan’s character and
calibre could adopt only the second course. It was bound to be a
very difficult matter, but Noor Jahan was not to be deterred.
Unfortunately for her, Shahriyar was to be this prince.

Before proceeding further let us make a study of the character
and personality of Shahriyar. He was the youngest surviving son of

2. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol.II, pp. 176, 178, 213, 214, 215, 217, 246, 248 Igbal
Nama, p. 184 , M.U., Vol. I, p. 577: Padshah Nama (Lahori), Vol. I, Part I1,

p. 347.
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Jahangir. Although he had completed sixteen years of his life at
that time, he had never shown any promise of his abilitics. Hc
lacked the strength of character. He was incapable and could
neither win nor maintain any greatness or dignity if it was thrust
him. It was Noor Jahan’s personal requirements that had brought
him into the limelight. He was given undue publicity.? He docs
not appear to have impressed the popular opinion as it is evident
from the fact that the public clamped on him the nickname of
“good for nothing” (S+4b).

Shahriyar was the most appropriate tool that Noor Jahan nced-
ed. Among the sons of Jahangir Khusrau was very ambitious
and popular. He had the inborn ability and aptitude to be a ruler.
Moreover, relations between Noor Jahan and Khusrau were so
strained due to the grievous wrongs done to him by her, that the
chances of rapprochement were very remote. About the years 1616
and 1617, there was a popular rumour current in India that Noor
Jahan wanted to marry her daughter to Khusrau. On 12 December
1616, Sir Thomas Roe, our valuable authority, wrote from Surat:
“Sultan Khusrau shall marry Noor Mahal’s daughter and have
liberty.”’* Again, on 21 August 1617, he wrote, “Noor Jahan and
Asaf Khan, by their father’s advice, came out to make a peace
with Khusrau and alliance and with infinite joy his liberty is
expected.”> He wrote on 25 August 1617, “This day feasted Noor
Mahal the Prince Khusrau; as is reported to make a firm alliance
and that he will marry a wife, by his father’s importunity. This
will beget his full liberty and our proud master’s ruin.””® Most
probably, by “proud master” he means Khurram. Another Europ-
ean writer Della Vella? describes that Noor Mahal repeatedly
offered her daughter in marriage to Khusrau. Even his first wilc
requested him to accept the alliance as it was bound to bring him
liberty and prosperity, but the prince rejected the proposal duc to
his conjugal fidelity to her. It was in despair that Noor Mahal
later on decided to marry her daugter to Shahriyar.

It can now safely be inferred that Noor Jahan’s search for a
tool for her future prosperity and domination led to the circulation

3. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 11, pp. 197, 199, 202.
4, Roe, p. 363.

5. Ibid., p. 404.
6. Ibid., p. 407,

. Della Valle; Vol. I, pp. 56-7.

- e - iR



38 The Life and Time of Noor Jahan

of such stories. Noor Jahan might have thought of selecting Khusrau
as her candidate. He was popular. One of her brothers had lost

his life for his sake, and her father had also suffered. Either Khus-
rau could not be won over as the rumours tell, or Noor Jahan was
afraid of his character that he would not make a good tool. It 1s
also possible that such overtures of Noor Jahan made Khurram
cautious and he did away with his elder brother Parvez who was a
mediocre devoid of ability and intelligence, but very ambitious and
vain.

Ladli’s Betrotha! to Shahriyar. His tender age and docile

character made Shahriyar the proper instrument for the crafty
Noor Jahan.

In December 1620 Shahriyar and Ladli Begum were betrothed.’
Ladli Begum was the daughter of Noor Jahan by Sher Afgan.
This ceremony was performed with great pomp and show at
Lahore Fort in the new buildings which had been constructed by the
Emperor. The Emperor gave a gift of one lakh of rupees. He graced
the ceremonies and entertainments with his presence. In April
1621 the marriage was solemnised at Agra.” Very grand and daz-
zling ceremonies were organised. The marriage procession headed
by the Emperor and his Harem went to the mansion of Itimad-ud-
Daula, the grandfather of the bride. It looks very strange that the
Emperor hoped that the marriage “would be propitious to this
ever-increasing State.”

Shahriyar was raised to the rank of 8,000!° zat and 4,000 swar,
and was profusely honoured.

From April 1621 Noor Jahan embarked on a hazardous enter-
prise. She was bound to lose the sympathies of her brother Asaf
Khan, whose daughter Arjumand Bano was the dearly loved wife
of Khurram. He rightly saw his future interests secure in his
powerful son in-law.

Unfortunately, at this critical juncture (in 1621) Noor Jahan
lost her mothier Asmat Begum.!! The death of Asmat Begum was
a crushing blow to her aged and devoted husband Itimad-ud-

Daula. Nobody, not even the children and the grand-children,
could sooth the afflicted heart of the aged husband.

8. Tuzk (R. &B.), Vol 11, pp. 187-8.
9. Ibid., p. 202,

10. Ibid., p. 199.

11. Ibid., p. 216.
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Noor Jahan did her best to console her father. In thc winter
of 1621-2 the Royal couple went on a tour to Northern India.
The aged and forlorn Itimad-ud-Daula was also taken along with
them. On the way he fell ill at Bahlwan. The Royal couple had
started on a visit to Kangra, but were recalled by the news of the
serious illness of the old man. His health had taken a very serious
turn. The news disturbed Noor Jahan very much. The shock of
the mother’s loss was revived. Jahangir was also nervous. They
hurried back, and by the same evening they reached the bedside
of the ailing old man. His critical condition perturbed them. His
mind was deranged and he often sauk into fits of coma. Noot
Jahan, pointing at her husband, asked him, **Do you recognise
him?” The dying man regained his consciousness and recited the
following couplet of Anwari:

352 ol S st pale 2 Lgl aKii
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[““Were a born blind man present,

He would recognise majesty in his world-adorning forechead.]

Some time after this he breathed his last,'* and his dead body
was sent to Agra for burial adjacent to the grave of his wifc Asmat
Begum.

The death of the parents of Noor Jahan finally broke up the
Junta that had ruled over the Empire very wisely forover a decade.
The services of this Junta cannot be minimised. Although they

worked for the realisation of their own ambitions, yct their contri-
bution to the building up of the Empire is appreciable. From 1622
to 1627 Asaf Khan was one of the most important men 1n the
State and served as an adviser and helper of his royal sister;
however, he was secretly working for his son-in-law, Prince Khur-

ram, against the interests of his ambitious sister’s nominec and son-
in-law, Prince Shahriyar,

12, 1bid., p. 22:. See Muathir, Vol. I, pp. 127-34, for his biography.
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Chapter 8

NOOR JAHAN AND KASHMIR

Jahangir and Noor Jahan were the lovers of nature. So their
liking to the vale of Kashmir was immense. Jahangir visited
Kashmir eight times. Twice he went in the company of his father.
He paid six visits to this land of charm and gaiety as Emperor
of the Mughal India, accompanied by his lovely consort, Noor
Jahan. It was in the fourteenth, sixteenth, eighteenth, nineteenth,
twentieth and twenty-first years of his reign. The romantic spirit of
the Empress appears to have led the Emperor into the most seclud-
ed and enchanting recesses of the valley. They passed their time in
festivities. Many pleasant retreats of the valley are even now
pointed out as the spots where the imperial couple used to enjoy
themselves during their sojourns in the valley. The crystal-clear
waters of the Dal Lake many a time reflected brilliant illumina-
tions and fantastic fireworks arranged in their honour. The drowsy
bewitching air must have re-echoed the sound of song and dance.
The Mughals are credited to have introduced many Central Asian
fruits and flowers in this sub-continent. It is said that Jahangir
brought “Chinar” (plain tree) from lIran and planted it in Kashmir
to please Noor Jahan.! But this popular romantic tale is historically
unsound. “Chinar’ did exist in Kashmir even before the Mughal
occupation, Jahangir himself noted large old plain trees in the
Kashmir valley.? Jahangir took great interest 1n the country, its
people and their culture as he has given a very vivid record in his
memaoirs.

The construction of palaces, gardens and villas had started
under Akbar immediately after the annexation of Kashmir. The
imperial couple (Jahangir and Noor Jahan) had very appropriately
contributed their share to the decoration of this valley.

1. Kashmir, Vol. I, p. 252.
2. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 11, p. 154. '
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The world famous ‘““Shalimar Gardens’’3 were laid by Jahangir.
The description of this earthly paradise cannot be complete with-
out a mention of this Royal couple that was the moving spirit of
this fascinating spot. I cannot restrain quoting here some verses®
by the late Justice Shah Din, depicting the Royal visit to Shalimar:
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The happy days of Jahangir and Noor Jahan in the valley of
Kashmir have been portrayed by Thomas Moore in his romantic
Poem Lalla Rookh. Let us quote a few lines from this immortal
poem:

And Salim to his heart has caught

In blushes, more than ever bright,
His Nourmahal, his Harem’s light !
And well do vanish’d frowns enhance
The charm of every brighten’d glance;
And dearer seems each dawning smile
For having lost its light awhile;

And, happier now for all her sighs
As on his arm her head reposes,

She whispers him, with laughing eyes,
“Remember, love, the Feast of Roses.”

A large number of such references can be gleaned outl. But we
only confine to these two,

Jahangir laid Shalimar Gardens in 1030/1620. He called 1t
Farah B.kh h (Delightful). Noor Jahan’s moonlit night strolls 1n
this fragrant and flowery garden with sparkling fountams, and
flowing waters, must have been an enchanting experience. The
following lines of Urfi (¢¢) fitly describe Shalimar:

3. Kashir, Vol 11, pp. 330-2.
4. Ibid., Vol. 1, (. 253.
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The beauty of this garden has inspired a Kashmiri poet Sharif
to express his feelings in the following lines :
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In A.p. 1623 Noor Jahan laid out a garden called “Bahar
Ara’’s on the western arm of the Dal. It was arranged and decorat-
ed according to her taste. In it there was a palace which presented
a very impressive view of the lake on moonlit nights. The garden
has now disappeared due to the vicissitudes of time and the site
1s now occupied by a leper asylum.

Ver-Nag 1s a very lovely place where a spring, set in a very
picturesque atmosphere, is situated. 1t is the source of River
Jehlum. For the people who apprecjate the charm of solitude in
¢ beautiful setting, Ver-Nag is the most suitable place. The land
around it 1s very fertile and fascinating. Originally, the spring was
a shapeless pond, with water oozing out from its different holes.
Jahangir appreciated this place very much. He built round the
spring the Octagonal Tank® of sculptured stones in A.p. 1619. A
fine garden in front of it was also laid. Halls and houses were
set up. The place got the name of Shahabad (the abode of king).
I'here arc two inscriptions of Jahangir on the spring. The first one
dates 1029 A.H. (A.D. 1619) and the second 1036 A.H. (A.D. 1626).

The first inscription’ :

SN adalS e gl Wld AT s ANl )
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[Through Jahangir Shah, the son of Akbar Shah, this founda-
Lion raised its head to heavens. The source of wisdom discovered
its date (1029 A.H.=a.D. 1619) from “May the palace and the
spring of Ver Nag endure!”’]

5. 1bid., p. 533.
o, Tuzk (R, & B.), Vol. 1, p. 92.
7. Kashir, Vol. 11, pp. 536-7.
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The second inscription :
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[God he thanked! by order of the world monarch, the King ol

the Universe, Haidar constructed such a cascade and such a water
course.

This water-course is reminiscent of the stream that flows in the
Paradise, and the cascade has brought honour to Kashmir. The
invisible angel whispered the date (1036 A.H.—=A.U. 1626) of the

water-course in my ear: “This stream has sprung from the fountain
of Paradise.”]

Noor Jahan seems to have spent some time in this fascinating
atmosphere. The ruins of the palace bear testimony to the fact that
it was an abode of royalty. It is fifteen miles from Srinagar.

Abdul Hamid Lahori® gives the names of a large number of
gardens built by the Mughals in Kashmir. According to Lawrence,”
there were 777 gardens in Mughal period in the Dal arca.

The Shahi Masjid of Srinagar. Whenever we talk ol Mughal
architecture our attention is diverted to their buildings at Agra
and Delhi, or at least to their monuments at Lahore. But the hilly
regions of Kashmir also became the centre of architectural activi-
ties of the Mughals.

Noor Jahan added a mosque to the galaxy of buildings con-
structed in Kashmir by the Mughals. It 1s called “Nau Masjd”
(New Mosque), “Shahi Masjd” (Royal Mosque) and “‘Pathar
Masjid” (Stone Mosque). It is executed in grey limestone readily
available in Kashmir. The mosques in the valley are generally
wooden mosgques.

The facadel® of this mosque consists of nine arches including
the central arched portico. “The arched openings are enclosed 1n
shallow decorative cusped arches, which in their turn are enclosed

8. Badshah Nama, Vol. 1, I art 11, pp. 26-9.
9, The Valley of Kashmir, p. 194.

10. Ancient Monuments of Kcshmir, p. 80; Percy Brown, Iudian Architecture,
i{slamic Period, p. 88.
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in rectangular frames.” The arches are horizontal. “The half
attached “bed-post’ columns in the two outer angles of the jambs
of the entrance are noteworthy. The plinth is surmounted by a
lotus-leaf coping. The frieze between the projecting cornice and
the eaves 1s decorated with a series of large lotus leaves, carved
in relief, some of which have been pierced and thus made to serve
the purpose of ventilation apertures.” The roof 1s sloping, except
In the centre, where there was 1 dome, which was dismantled in
the Sikh period. The roof is supported on eighteen massive
columns. The enclosure is built of bricks with a coat of lime
plaster adorned by a range of shallow arched niches.

A very curious story!! is current about this mosque. When the
mosque was completed, it is said, Noor Jahan was questioned
about its cost. In response she is said to have pointed to her jewel-
led slippers and replied, ““As much as that.”’ When the Ulema heard
of it, they gave the verdict that the mosque was not fit for religious
use. This ridiculous story is a later concoction. The founder of
a place of worship would never remark in this way about Iit.
During the Sikh rule it was closed and used as a rice granary.
Under Dogra rule also it was similarly used till only two decades
before independence. Such stories were circulated during the Sikh
period by interested people to make the masses feel that the
mosque was declared unfit for prayers even when it was construct-
ed, and, therefore, its use as a granary did not amount to desecra-
tion.

In Jahangir’s reign there lived in Kashmir two brothers, Malik
Haidar and Malik Ali, who descended!? from a noble family. Their
ancestor Malik Muhammad Naji was the minister of Sultan
Husain Shah Chak of Kashmir. Malik Haidar wrote a ‘“‘History
of Kashmir” also. These brothers were greatly favoured by Noor
Jahan.

Once in the reign of Jahangir the Jami Masjid at Srinagar was
destroyed by fire. Malik Hasan, the father of these two brothers,
was accused of having done this along with other leading Shi‘ahs.
[t may not be irrelevant to point out here that Shi‘ah-Sunni con-
troversy has always been very acute in Kashmir.

This charge perturbed this family very much. Noor Jahan advised

11. Kashir, Vol. II, p. 516.
12, Ibid., Vol. I, p. 258.
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shem to rebuild it at their own expense. They did it in 1029/
1619. This pacified the opponents. The Jami Musjid was originally
built by Sultan Sikandar, a ruler of Kashmir. Malik Ali conquered
Kishtwar, a hilly district east of Kashmir, for Jahangir in 1030/
1620. This is the fascinating story of the intercst taken by the
imperial couple in the charming and enchanting Kashmir, Besides
enjoying its beauty Jahangir attended to the welfare of its people.

He strictly prohibited the strangulation of daughters at birth.
In Rajauri in 1620, he stopped!? the immolation of Muslim womei
in emulation of their Hindu sisters.

It is positive that Jahangir took such steps under the advice of

his able consort, Noor Jahan.

13. Tuzk, Vol, 11, p. 181, Gladwin, Jahangir, p. 92,
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Chapter 9
KHUSRAU'S MYSTERIOUS END

The political situation in the Deccan was very critical by the
year 1620. Ahmadnagar had a very able defender in the person of
Mulik Amber. He had made » coalition with Bijapur and Golcondg
and mustered about siXty thousand troops for the defence of the
Deccan. He had recruited the Maratha bands also. He violated the
treaty imposed on him by the Mughals only two months earlier.
One Mughal post after another was captured within three months
of the outbreak of hostilities. A large part of the conquered terri-
tory was liberated from the Mughals.!

Khan-i-Khanan was répeatedly asking the headquarters for rein-
forcement. Janangir commissioned his son Khurram (Shah Jahan)
many a time to march to the Deccan. But he was réluctant to go.
He was afruaid of his elder and more popular brother, Khusrau.
Any strong party in the Royal Court and camp might rise jn his
favour. Shah Jahan’s mind was not clear even about Noor Jahan.
Her ambitious natuie might find a better instrument to turn the
lables on him. Jahangir’s delicate health could glve way at any
moment and Khusrau might be proclaimed Emperor. Shah Jahan
was the most suitable person to take up the Deccan campaign,
Even his name was enough to restore confidence and morale of
the Imperial army. It.could create awe and terror in the hearts of
the enemy. Shah Jahan would not move to the Deccan without
taking Khusrau along with him. To this Jahangir could not agree,
It was dangerous and improper to hand over Khusrau to the mercy
of his rival. It appears that Noor Jahan had become clear in her
mind by that time that Khusrau, who was once supported by hijs
late brother and father, could not prove a fit candidate to deserve
her support. Perhaps more Imbecile Shahriyar could become a
better tool in her hands. Jahangir, at last, gave permission to Shah

1. Iqbal Nama, pp, 271-2 (Elliot, Vol. V1, pp. 428-9); Gladwin, P 93
Grant Duff, Vol. I, pp. 73-4,
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Jahan to take his brother away to the Deccan along with him. But
.+ could not be without the consent of Noor Jahan. Certainly she
wanted the end of one of her rivals at the hands of the other. The
gravity of the Deccan situation and inevitability of Shah Jahan’s
command over the Deccan forces could easily hide the diplomatic
designs of the Empress. This permission must have roused the
indignation of the common people. Khusrau’s admirers and sup-
porters in the Court and Harem must have felt it. This public
consternation and Harem lamentation 1s not preserved by any
Eastern or Western authority. Had our familiar and interesting
observer Sir Thomas Roe prolonged his stay in the Mughal Court,
he would have positively recorded tiem. Shah Jahan (Prince
Khurram) paid a visit to his imperial tather at Lahore. He took
leave of him. They were not destined to meet again.

The prince marched at the head of his armies from Lahore to
the Deccan. Khusrau was also being taken along w1th his glorious
cavalcade.

Shah Jahan met with success in the Deccan campaigns. The
news of his success was received with jubilations in the camp and
the country.! Afzal Khan, the Dewan of Khurram, brought the
news of his master’s military attainments to the imperial court. He
was rewarded with a dress of honour, an elephant, an ink pot and
a jewelled pen. Some other captains and nobles were also honoured.

Khurram himself received a precious ruby plume (=) ¢x8)
and a horse named Rum Ratan, sent to Jahangir as a present by
the Shah of Persia.

Amidst the echoes of these victories and festivities the news of
Khusrau’s death at Burhanpur was announced.

In April 1621 Shahriyar was married to Ladli Begum and very
high ranks and rewards were showered on him. It was a serious
and dangerous development for Shah Jahan (Khurram). In August
1621 Jhangir’s health took a serious turn and he fell 1ll. This news
disturbed Khurram in the far-off Burhanpur, and he appears to
have taken a step against the life of his captive rival, Khusrau.
Jahangir himself records in “Tuzk” that according to 4 report from

2. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 1I, pp. 206-8, 228.
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K hurram, on the 20th of Bahman, Khusrau® died of colic pain.

Mr. Beveridge* has discussed this event in one of his articles.
He concludes, “There is no evidence worthy of the name that

Khusrau was poisoned or strangled.” No doubt, we cannot infer
anything from the pages of Jahangir and Motamid Khan. The
Emperor coud not mention a deed for which the ultimate responsi- 4
bility lay with him. The other one was a courtier of Shah Jahan. |
So we cannol expect anything from him.

A very authentic and reliable Western contemporary authority,
De Laet,5 clearly blames Shah Jahan. According to him, the prince
took into his confidence Khan-i-Khanan and other important nobles
stationed at Burhanpur. He himself departed on a hunting excurs=
sion. His slave Raza, who was commissioned to commit the crime, -
knocked at the door of the bed-room of the royal captive at the
dead of night. He pretended ‘that he and his companions had
brought the robes of honour and the letter of liberty for him from
the Emperor. The prince refused to believe this story and did not
open the door. Raza broke open the door and strangled the unarmed
prince. His corpse was placed on the bed, and the door was
closed. At dawn the loyal and fatthful wife of Khusrau, who
was a daughter of Khan-i-Azam (Mirza Aziz Koka, foaster-brother
of Akbar), entered the bed-room. Having found her husband dead,
she filled the whole palace with her shrieks.

Khurram hurriedly returned to the city from the hunting
grounds and all the ceremonies and formalities of sorrow were
observed, obviously to hide the plot. On the letter for the Royal
Court, all the nobles and mansabdars affixed their seals and
signatures that the prince died a natural death. But Nuruddin
Quli wrote to the Emperor separately a full account of what had
actually happened. On receiving the news the Emperor mourned
deeply on the death of his son. He wrote most bitterly reprimand-
ing the Umara on neglecting to inform him about the nature of

. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. II, p. 228. The text of “Tuzk” gives the date as
8th. B. & R. suggestit to be 20th Bahman. This date of 1031 corresponds to
29 January 1622. But this date is not quite sure (see footnote of the above-
quoted reference). Iqbal Nama, p. 191 :
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4. Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, 1907, p.599.
5. De Laet’s English translation, pp. 198-9,
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his son’s death.

The Emperor ordered that the dead body of the prince should
be exhumed and sent to Allahabad for burial by the side of his
mother’s grave. The Emperor summoned Khan-i-Azam to condole
the death of his son-in-law with him. Prince Bulaki, a son of
Khusrau, was placed under his charge, so that proper arrangements
for his education might be made. Bulaki was made a commander
of ten thousand horse.

This description of De Laet gives very interesting details about
the death of the prince. It shows that Khurram’s hands were
positively soiled with the blood of Khusrau. Jahangir really felt
the loss of his son, who was the first fruit of his youth. He sent
Khusrau to the Deccan perhaps on Noor Jahan’s advice, and
under the pressure of the requirement of Khurram in the Deccan.

Khusrau’s mausoleum at Allahabad still reminds us of the life of
the most pitiable personality of his age, who was feared by Noor
Jahan. It is the master stroke of her diplomacy that he was killed
at the hands of another more formidable rival. Besides De Laet,
there are some European travellers who bear testimony to this fact.
Peter Della Valle® wrote in 1623 that “Khusro died of a violent
death” and Khurram was the murderer. Petermundy’ wrote in 1632
and confirmed the above view that the prince who “was much be-
loved of the people while living, and as much lamented being dead”
was killed by his brother. Terry? asserts that Khurram “strangled the
most galant prince, his brother.” Palsart? wrote in 1627 ; “Sultan
Khusrau was assassinated by his brother Sultan Khurram in the
year 1621.” Sarkarl® describes that Aurangzeb, in one of his
letters to Shah Jahan during his captivity, reminds him of his
murder of Khusrau.

Among later Mughal historians Khawafi Khan!! holds Shah
Jahan responsible for Khusrau’s murder. Beale!? states on the
authority of Maathir-i-Qutub Shahi that a man Raza by name
strangled Khusrau at the orders of Khurram.

6. Della Valle, Vol. I, p. 58.

1. Travels, Vol. 11, pp. 104-5.

8. Travels, p. 412,

9. Palsart, p. 18.

10. Sarkar, Aurangzeb, Vol, 111, p. 15>.

11. Khawafi Khan, Vol. 1.

12. Oriental Biographical Dictionary, p. 220,




Chapter 10

NOOR JAHAN AND PRINCE KHURRAM

The history of Noor Jahan's relations with Khurram, her step-
son, is of immense 1mportance and interest in the annals of Mughal
India. It is the history of relations between an ambitious woman,
who wanted political domination at all costs, and a young intelligent
politician prince who could not become a tool in the hands of
others. He wanted to rule as well as reign. In this chapter the clash
between these two great personalities will be critically discussed.

The Birth and the Early Life of the Prince. Khurram was born on
5 January 1592 (30 Rabi-ul-Awwal 1000) in the Lahore Fort, in
the thirty-sixth vear of his grandfather Akbar’s reign.! His mother
was the Rathor Rajput Princess Man Mati (also known as Jagat
Gosain). She was the daughter of Mota Raja Uday Singh of Jodh-
pur and was married to Salim in 1586. He was put under the care
and patronage of Rugiah Sultan Begum the childless wife of
Akbar. She belonged to the Royal Taimurid family and was a
daughter of Prince Hindal. He received education according to the
practice of the Mughal Royal House. One of his teachers was
Shaikh Abul Khayr,? brother of Abul Fazl.

The parental care of Akbar and Rugiah Sultan Begum and
education under the eminent scholars of the age appear to have
quickened the intelligence and developed his qualities of head and
heart. Unlike his father, his genius was more practical than con-
templative. It was perhaps the influence of the Rajput blood which
he inherited from his mother. He also received regular military
training. The role of Khurram on the eve of his grandfather’s
death in October 1605, when he was only thirteen years old, and
when the discontented conspirators were hatching seditious and
wicked schemes to place Khusrau on the throne in place of

\. Akbar Nama, Vol. 111, p. 921; Abdul Hamid, Vol. I, p. 16; Kamboh,

Vol. I, p. 6; Tuzk (R. and B.) Vol. 1, p. 19 (Jahangir puts the date of birth in
999 A.H. which is clearly an oversight).

2. Akbar Nama, Vol. 111, p. 922.
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Salim3 was very remarkable and depict the signs of his future
greatness as a statesman.

Khurram’s Role during Khusraw's Rebellion. ITn 1606 Khusrau
rebelled against his father. He left Agra on the cvening of 6 April
under the pretext of visiting Akbar’s tomb and made his way to
the Punjab. Jahangir sent Shaikh Farid Bukhari to pursue him.
Shortly after this he decided to proceed to the Punjab personally.
In Agra he left Khurram* at the helm of affairs with a band of
experienced nobles to help him.

This was the first occasion when the teen-aged Khurram got
the chance of coming into direct contact with administration. The
father gave him the reins of Government in supersession of his
elder brother, Parvez, who was senior to him by two years. How-
ever nominal the nature of this charge had been, due to the fact
that many experienced nobles such as Islam Khan and Mirza
Ghiath Tehrani were there, it roused the ambitions of the young
prince.

Khusrauw’s rebellion was subdued within less than a month.
Jahangir entered Lahore on 9 May 1606. He stayed here for the
next eleven months. He ordered Khurram to come with his grand-
mother, Maryam Zamani, and other ladies to Lahore.

It was here in Lahore, the city of his birth, that Khurram re-
ceived on 21 March 1607, at the age of fifteen, his first Mansab
(rank) of 8000 Zat and 5000 Sawar, together with a Tuman-tugh,?
a flag and drums, and also a jagir. About a week later he was be-
trothed to Arjumand Bano Begum.® the daughter of Itigad Khan
(the future Asif Khan). Jahangir appears to have been in a jovial
mood those days. He celebrated the betrothal ceremony of Parvez
with the daughter of Murad, also with great pomp and show.

After returning from Kabul the Emperor assigned to Khurram
a jagir in Ujjain. .

Khusrau was taken to Kabul along with the royal cavalcade.
The vigilance on him was slackened therc. Some 1irresponsible

3. Ibid., pp. 1258-62; Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. I, p. 322.

4. Igbal Nama, p. 9; Tu:k (R. and B.), Vol. I, pp. 51-4.

5. Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. I, p. 87; Kamboh, Vol. [, p. 33 (Kamboh says
that the prince got the custody of royal seal and Hisar Firoza as jagir, the

distinctions enjoyed only by heirs apparent to the throne). Sce also Tuzk
(R. and B.), Vol. 1, p. 133.

6. Kamboh, Vﬂl_. I, p. 34.
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young men such as Sharif Khan (son of Mirza Ghiath and a
brother of Noor Jahan), Noor-ud-Din and Itibar Khan hatched a
conspiracy to place Khusrau on the throne after murdering the
Emperor. About 400 persons joined them. The plot might have
succeeded, but luckily one of the party made a clear confession of
it to Khwaja Wais, the Dewan of Prince Khurram. Consequently,
the prince came to know of the plot and he promptly apprised the
Emperor of it. The three ring leaders were apprehended and
punished. Khusrau was ordered to be blinded.” The timely dis-
covery of the plot through Khurram’s own officer added to his
glory. He stood higher than ever in the estimation of his father.

Khurram's Life from 1607 to 1611. After the suppression of the
conspiracy the Emperor set out from Kabul. The Imperial caval-
cade reached Lahore on 23 November 1607. After a stay of about
six months at Lahore the journey to Agra was resumed. The Em-
peror entered the capital on 12 March 1608. Khurram was now a
stripling of sixteen years. It was essential to provide for him a
separate household. But the Emperor did not like to keep him
away from himself. In the fort of Agra near the Royal apartments
there was the house of Muhammad Mugim® (styled Wazir Khan).
It was assigned to the prince. ?

On 7 September 1609, Prince Khurram was given a ruby with
two pearls worth about 40,000 rupees.’

In January 1610, Khurram was betrothed to the daughter of
Mirza Muzaffar Husain Safavi, a lineal descendant of Shah Ismail
of Persia. The marriage was solemnised with great pomp and show
on 29 October 1610.10

The problem that has vexed!! the historians is as to why
Jahangir arranged Khurram’s marriage with the daughter of Mirza
Muzaffar Husain, when the prince was already engaged to
Arjumand Bano. The only explanation to this riddle is the participa-
tion of some members of Arjumand’s family in the pro-Khusrau
conspiracies as it has been discussed in detail in another chapter.

The unfortunate circumstances led to the death of her uncle
Mirza Sharif and the imprisonment of Mirza Ghiath.!* Her aunt,

7. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, pp. 122-3; Igbal Nama, pp. 28-30.
8. Kamboh, Vol. I, p. 33.

0. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, p. 156.
10. Ibid., p. 180; Kamboh, Vol. I, pp. 36-7; Iqbal Nama, p, 46.
11. B.P. Saksena, p. .
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Mehrun-Nisa, lost her husband and liberty duc to similar reasons.
Arjumand’s father Mirza Abul Hasan Itigad Khan (Asif Khan of
the later period) and other relatives were carryling on with their
duties silently avoiding any suspicion.

In 1611, a happy and auspicious change took place in the for-
tune of this family. Mehrun-Nisa who was serving as a maid-
servant on the staff of Salima Sultan, the dowager empress, hap-
pened to have impressed the Emperor so much by her ability and
beauty that he decided to marry her. As explained in some o(hcr
chapter, this eventful marriage!? was solemnised on 25 May 1611.

Mehrun-Nisa (now styled as Noor Mahal by the Emperor)
began to spread her influence to every nook and corner of the
State slowly but steadily. She found that the most influential
prince who was dearly loved and reljed upon by the father was
Prince Khurram. He was a smart und intelligent statesman. Noor
Jahan wanted to impress upon him that his future rise now depend-
ed on her support. She had him promoted to the rank of 12,000
Zat and 5000 Sawar on 27, March 1612. In order t0 win over
the prince and organise a ruling junta in the State, she decided to

solemnise Khurram's marriage!4 with her niece Arjumand Bano,
to whom he was betrothed in 1607,

Arjumand so much impressed
mensely attached to her. His oth
and the other a grand-daughter!s
could not eclipse her.

From 1611 starts the
friendship between Prince

the prince that he became 1m-
€r wives, one the Iranian princess
of Abdur Rahjim Khan-i-Khanan,

period of complete accord and perfect

Khurram and the Empress, Noor jahan.
The prince rose into prominence by the good-willl6 of his tather

and the favour of hijs Step-mother. He totally eclipsed Pervez.

The Mewar Campaign Very soon Khurram got the chance of
showing his merits in the Mewar campaign. Of al] the Rajput States
Mewar was one which did not bow to the Mughals despite thejp
overwhelming armies. Akbar could only cripple it and not destroy
it. Jahangir had tried Many generals including Prince Pervez in

12. De Laet, p. 178.
13, Igbal! Nama, Pp. 54-7.
i; 3Tuzk (R. & B.) Vol. 1, pp. 224-5; Iqbal Nama, p. 67: Kambeh, Vie, 1,
pp. 42-3.
15. Abdul Hamid vol I, p. 391.
16. Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol 1, p. 25s.
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Mewar, but their efforts met with little success. In 1613 Khan-i-
Azam Aziz Kokah was sent. 1 ike others he also could not succeed.
Jahangir personally moved to Ajmer. Early in 1614, Prince
Khurram was despatched to help Khan-i-Azam. Having reached
the scene of action the prince found it impossible to pull together
with Aziz Kokah.l7 He was very much irritated at the dilatory
tactics of his senior. He complained against him to the Emperor,
who sent Ibrahim to 1mpress upoi the Khan the need for loyalty.
But the Khan did not change his behaviour. Prince Khurram was
so active and vigilant in the matter of arresting the foster-brother
of his grandfather. He wanted to avail of the opportunity for brush-
ing aside a staunch supporter and father-in-law of Khusrau, This 1S
the first indication of the aggressive temperament of the ambitious
Khurram. He, however, succeeded in reducing the Rana to submis-
sion. Karan Singh, the son of Rana Amar Singh, was to attend the
Royal Court.

The subjugation of Mewar enhanced the prestige of Khurram.
By his gracious treatment, he was suggessful in getting round him a
chosen band of devotees. They were ready to die for him in thick
and thin. Khurram’s success in Rajputana resulted in an increase
in his rank. He was caised to 15,000 Zat and 8000 Sawar.!® He
was in a more advantageous position. The parly recently organised
by Noor Jahan was at his back. Meanwhile another opportunity
arose for Khurram’s display of ability. The officers at the helm of
the Deccan affairs were disappointing him. The rank of Khurram
was increased to 20,000 Zat and 10,000 Sawar. Pervez was removed
from the Deccan on grounds of incompetency and was transferred
to Allahabad. Khurram was appointed to head the Deccan armies.

This was the first master stroke of policy on the part of Noor
Jahan to condema the rival of her candidate, Prince Khurram, the
son-in-law of her brother. Pervez was nevet properly backed by
the Centre. He was merely a nominal commander. The real power
vested in the officers who took him lightly. Had he been given
the same chance and patronage as Was extended to Khurram, he
could also do well in the Deccan.

Noor Jahan was after her own gain. She was patroniai.ug
Khurram fo bring him under her obligation. She wanted him to
depend on her completely. But the clever and crafty Khurram, while

17 Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. 1, pp. 257-8. Igbhal Nama, p. 76.
18 Tuzk (R. and B.), vol. I, p. 288.
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utilising her favours on the one hand, he was, on the other hand,
creating a strong party of friends and favourites in the Royal court
and Camp. Such people were ready to sink or swim with him. In
the Rajputana campaigns, as it has been pointed out, he won a
large number of friends, through sheer affectionate treatment.

About that time Abdullah Khan Feroz Jang was accused of
certain misdemeanours. He was called from Gujrat. He was so
much mentally perturbed that he started onfoot for Ajmer. Having
arrived there he found in Khurram a sympathetic supporter. He
interceded!® with his father on Abdullah’s behalf. His fault was
forgiven. He was ordered to accompany his benefactor to the Deccan.
The prince was really fortunate in having such an experienced
officer in his service when he was going to an unfamiliar and
unfriendly region.

Before his departure, the prince paraded the pick of his soldiers
before the Emperor. Jahangir bestowed upon him the title of
Shah.2% This was a unique honour that had never been showered
upon any Mughal prince.

Shah Jahan and the Decca:: Campaign. On 6 October 1616,
Khurram, accompanied by loyal and experienced officers and the
fervent prayers of his father, left Aymer for the Deccan.?! On the
way Rana Amar?2 Singh met him placing at his disposal a contingent
of 1500 chosen horsemen under Prince Karan. On reaching the
banks of the Narbada he was welcomed by the Deccan officers
including Khan-i-Khanan, Khan Jahan and Mahabat Khan. The

prince went straight to Burhanpur and reached there on 6 March
1617.23 Meanwhile the Emperor arrived at Mandu.

The arrival in the Deccan of Prince Khurram changed the
political atmosphere. Adil Shah and Malik Ambar were so much

frightened that they readily responded to the gesture of peace made

E by the prince. They forwarded presents worth one million and five
- hundred thousand rupees. Malik Ambar returned Bala Ghat.24 He

19 Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. I, pp. 331 and 335.

20 Ibid., p. 338; Igbal Nama, p. 90

21 Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. I, pp. 339; Igbal Vana, pr. 2 -100 (Mutamid
Khan, the author of Iqbal Nama, also accom;anied the Prince as Pay-Master,
1.e. Bakhshi, with the Mansab of Ha/ari, robes of honour and the award of an
elephant, p. 91).

22 Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. I, p. 344 , Igbal Nama, p. 93.
23 Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. I, p. 368.

24 1bid., p. 380; Igbal Nama, p. 100,
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agreed to surrender Ahmadnagar along with some other forts. It
was very creditable for Shah Khurram. He won a victory of peace —
a great feat of diplomacy. The sheer propaganda of the military
strength accompanied by masterly display of diplomacy won for him
what the actual use of arms failed to achieve. Mewar disclosed
Khurram as a skilful general and the Deccan presented him as a
clever statesman. Having placed the newly acquired area under the
charge of the Khan-i-Khanan? and Shah Nawaz Khan, the prince
left for Mandu to meet his father, who was anxiously waiting for
him.

Syed Abdullah of Barah was the first to bring the news of the
new arrangements in the Royal Court. Drums?® were beaten to
celebrate the occasion.

On 12 October 1617, the prince arrived in the Imperial court.
After he had performed the due rites of salutation, the Emperor
called him and with ‘“uncontrolled delight ““held him in the embrace
of affection.” The prince was given a seat near the throne and
unprecedented honours were showered on him. He received the
rank of 30,000 Zat and 20,000 Sagvar along with the title of
Shah Jahan. To celebrate the occasion, Noor Jahan organised a
magnificent feast in his honour.?? Presents worth thousands of
rupees were submitted to the Emperor by the prince, his officers
and the envoys of the Deccan rulers. Shah Jahan gave to
Noor Jahan presents worth 200,000. Thus we find that it was a
period of close association and mutual reliance between the Empress
and the heir apparent. The title of Shah Jahan made it clear to

everybody that the prince was decidedly their future sovereign.

Shah Jahan in Gujrat along with the Empcror. Having solved
the Deccan problem the Emperor decided to make a tour of Guyjrat.
Noor Jahan and Shah Jahan accompanied him., They travelled
leisurely. They reached Ahmadabad on 5January 1618, visiting

Dhar and Cambay on the way. In appreciation of the success of
the prince in the Deccan, Gujrat was assigned to him.28

The sojourn in Gujrat did not, however, prove congenial. The
suffocating heat and dust of the country affected adversely the

25. Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. 1, p. 393; Iqbal Nama, p. 102.
26. Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. I, p. 380.

27. Ibid., pp.394-7.

28. Ibid., p. 424 ; Vol. 11, p. 26l.
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health of the prince and the Emperor. Both of them fell ill with
fever in May 1618. But they could not leave Gujrat before the end
of the rainy season. So they started for Agra on September 1618.
Passing through Malwa they arrived in the vicinity of Agra about
the beginning of January 1619.

Shah Jahan and the Emperor at Sikri. As Agra was still infested
with plague, Jahangir decided to stay at Fatehpur Sikri.*® During
their stay at Sikri, once Jahangir took the prince round the palaces
and discussed with him in detail the architecture of the buildings
constructed by Akbar.

Death of Jagat Gosain. On Friday, 8 April 1619, Shah Jahan’s
mother Jagat Gosain died. Next day the Emperor went to condole
with the prince and took him to his palace.3!

Journey to Kashmir. In October 1619, the Emperor left for
Kashmir. As usual the journey was slow and easy. They reached
Srinagar on 20 March 1620.

The Deccan Problem Revived. The much-trumpeted victory
of Shah Jahan in the Deccan was in reality a hollow truce. There
was no stability in the terms obtained from the Nizam Shahi and the
Adil Shahi rulers. When the Emperor was away in Kashmir along
with his valiant son, there was a golden opportunity for them
to recover their lost prestige and possessions. Malik Ambar
organised another anti-Mughal front. He was successful in securing
the co-operation of the other two powers against the common foe.
The Qutub Shahis offered money and the Adil Shahis provided the

. soldiers. Malik Ambar mustered an army 50,000 strong. He or-
ganised light Maratha cavalry to harass the enemy with their guerilla
tactics. The imperialists were soon driven out of Bala Ghat and
Payin Ghat. Ahmednagar and Burhanpur were closely invested by the
Deccanis. Khan-i-Khanan32 was in miserable plight. He sent pathetic
appeals to the Court for help. When the reports were placed before

F' the Emperor, his heart was greatly moved at the applications of his
: Atalig (tutor), who was so tenderly brought up by his father.

He decided to send an army to the Deccan. Who was to lead

29. Ibid., Vol. 11, p. 14. Igbal Nama, p. 115.
30. Igbal Nama, p. 123.

31. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 11, p. 84, The news of her death reached the
Emperﬂr when he was staying at Noor Manzil, a garden near Agra, which got
its name after those of the Emperor and the Empress.

32. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 11, pp. 155-6.
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the campaign? The only man whom Jahangir could choose was
Shah Jahan. The father showed him the despatches received
from Khan-i-Khanan. He agreed to undertake the task.

Shah Jahan’s Apprehensions. This time Shah Jahan was not .5
willing to move unconditionally. Although apparently he was ”
honoured, yet the signs of disruption were visible in the party that *
had supported him for a long time. The failing health of Jahangir,
the renewed mild treatment3? of Khusrau, the rumours’* of his

alliance with Noor Jahan made Shan Jahan cautious and
careful. Noor Jahan had come to the conclusion, after long
association with Shah Jahan, that he would not become a tool in her
hands. He was gifted with the ability to rule and command.
He had made a large number of nobles to look upon him as
their future sovereign. Noor Jahan realised that there was no
room for two equally ambitious and talented personalities—
Noor Jahan and Shah Jahan. The issue was clear. Noor Jahan
must either retire from public life immediately after the death
of Jahangir or support some other prince to succeed the Emperor.
As Sir Thomas Roe¥ records, }jhere was a popular rumour
current as early as 1616-7 that Noor Jahan proposed to marry her
daughter to Khusrau and support his candidature to the throne
against Khurram.

With this mental background, Shah Jahan asked his father
to place Khusrau under his control as the only condition for
his marching against the Deccan. Shah Jahan wanted to deprive
Noor Jahan of a popular prince to serve as her candidate to
the throne. Noor Jahan would have pondered over it a little. It was
a good game to do away with one claimant to the throne through
the other. The end of Khusrau under Khurram’s charge was
bound to make him unpopular among the admirers of the former.
The absence of Khurram in the far-off Deccan could provide
an opportunity to the Empress to search for some such prince
as could ecasily become her tool like Jahangir himself. Perhaps
she thought that there was very little chance of Khurram’s success N
the campaign; and his failure would make him unpopular among
the nobility and common people and discredited in the estimation

33. lbid., p. 107.

34. Della Valle, Vol. 1, pp. 56-7; Roe, pp. 369 and 373.
35. Roe, pp. 369 and 373.
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of the Emperor. Shah Jahan was permitted to take Khusrau
with him. It appears that Jahangir must have been unwilling
to hand over Khusrau to the tender mercy of his rival. It seems to
be the decision of Noor Jahan, who prevailed upon the Emperor to
allow this arrangement. The gravity of the Deccan situation press-
ed Jahangir to comply with Shah Jahan’s demand.3¢ The Emperor
also started for Agra.

Shah Jahan's Departuré for the Deccan. At Lahore the
prince took leave of his father not to meet him again. The
campaign was quite tough. But Shah Jahan manoeuvred to tackie
the situation. The Maratha guerillas were faced very bravely
and carefully. When Malik Ambar found that it was impossible
for him to face the Mughal odds he decided to submit. Neither
the Mughals could relinquish their claim on the Deccan, nor
could the Deccanis be expected 10 accept Mughal domination
without a severe struggle. Shah Jahan was, however, successful
in bringing about a settlement of the Deccan problem within
about six months. It added to his dignity and prestige. 1t could
not, however, be expected to be a peace of everlasting nature.

The terms of the peace treaty were3’ .

(1) The Imperial territory seized by the Deccanis during the
previous two years, along with fourteen Kos of the adjoin-
ing territory, was to be handed over to the Mughals.

(2) Fifty lakhs of rupees were to be paid by the three Deccan
states as tribute.

= Shah Jahan’s Dewan Afzal Khan conveyed?® the news of success
to the Emperor. He was rewarded with a robe of honour, an
elephant, an inkpot and a jewelled pen. lhe officers of the
Deccan army received promotion and robes of honour. The prince
himself was honoured with the gift of a precious ruby plume
and a horse named Rum Ratan. Both these gifts had been

? received by the Emperor from the Shah of Persia.

: As compared with the jubilations on the occasion of his hrst
success in the Deccan the response of the Emperor on the second
occasion was a colder one. NO drums were beaten and there was
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36. Igbal Nama, p. 176. Motamid Khan, the author of Igbal Nama, also

accompanied the prince as his Bakhshi.)
37. Tuzk (R. & B.), vol. I1, pp. 190-1, 206-8; Igbal Nama, D. 182-4;

K amboh, Vol. I, p. 121.
18, Tuzk (R.and B.), Vol. 11, pp. 208, 228.




60 The Life and Times of Noor Jahan

no State banquet. It may be due to the failing health of the
Emperor or to the influence of Noor Jahan.

The next few months were spent by the prince in the Deccan,
consolidating his conquests and reorganising the administrative .
machinery. In fact, he was consolidating his own power and posi- ?
tion against Noor Jahan, whom he had started to count as his
enemy. In August 1621, he received the news of Jahangir’s serious

1llness. As a pecautionary measure he put his elder brother Khusrau
to death at Burhanpur. It was announced that he died of colic
pain.3’

Although Jahangir®® does not appear to have been moved by the
death of Khusrau, yet Noor Jahan must have utilised the oppor-
tunity to condemn Shah Jahan in the estimation of his father.
The devotion exhibited by the people, after the death of Khusrau,
to his grave and memory (described even by a pro-Shah Jahan
historian, Kamboh) shows that a group of the older nobility and
the masses had started hating Shah Jahan. Noor Jahan wanted to
exploit the situation in favour of her new protege, Prince Shahriyar.
He was a weak and good-for-nothing type of a young man. He
was born of a slave-girl. This made him unpopular, no doubt. He
could not, therefore, be a fit candidate. But the docile nature and
imbecile character of the prince marked him out as the proper tool
for the crafty and ambitious lady. She secured for him the Mansab
of 8000 Zat and 4000 Sawar, on the auspicious occasion of the
celebration of the sixteenth year of the Imperial accession on 10
March 16:1. In April 161, she solemnised his marriage?! with
Ladli Begum, her daughter from Sher Afgan. The betrothal
ceremony had already taken place*? in December 1620.

The Creation of the Gulf. By the year 1621 there were no signs
of an open hostility towards Shah Jahan. J ahangir did not suspect
him. Noor Jahan apparently did nothing to give Shah Jahan cause
of complaint. The war of nerves was, of course, going on. It
was Shah Jahan who openly started the struggle. He believed in
open and direct conflict. In the case of Khusrau he executed his

39. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I1, p. 228; Igbal Nama, p. 197, See for detailed
description Kamboh, Vol. I, pp. 124-5. He (efends the action of Shah Jahan
but openly admits the murder having been done at his instance.

40. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 11, p, 199,

41. Ibid., p. 202.

42. Ibid., pp. 187-8.
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plan without hesitation. Ladli Begum’s betrothal with Shahriyar
in December 1620 and showering of awards and Mansabs on him
in 1621 led him to believe rightly that Noor Jahan had ceased
to be his friend and supporter. Like a cautious politician he
became suspicious and careful of her. In 1621, Noor Jahan’s
mother®3 died and in January 1622 her father Itimad-ud-Daula%¢
also breathed his last. The ruling Junta, organised by Noor Jahun
in 1511, broke up. Henceforth Noor Jahan and Shahriyar were
one party and Shah Jahan headed the other. Asiuf Khan, the

brother of Noor Jahan, secretly worked for Shah Jahan. He did
not oppose his sister openly till the death of Jahangir.

The Qandhar Problera. 1In 1622, Shah Abbas of Persia besieg-
ed Qandhar.*S Noor Jahan got an opportunity to land Shah Jahan
in trouble. He was ordered to lead an expedition for the relief of
Qandhar. This decision was a multi-edged weapon. If he refused to
leave the Deccan, he was to be condemned as a rebel, guilty of
insubordination—a safe pretext to crush him for ever. If he left
the Deccan for Qandhar, he would be deprived of a very strong
centre, where he had gathered round him a band of loyal nobles,
ready to sink or swim with him, with whose help he could easily
fight a war of succession. He could also get help from the
Deccan rulers. The Qandhar expedition was almost a hopeless
enterprise. It could drag very long with very little hope of
success. Such an expedition could ruin the prestige and reputa-
tion of the prince. If during Khurram’s absence in the dull and
dreary hills of Qandhar province, the Emperor dicd, Shahriyar
could easily be hailed as the future sovereign. The prince was on
the horns of a dilemma.

Shah Jahan forwarded his camp equipage from Burhanpur
on 24 March 1622. Soon after this he himself left. But he did
not proceed beyond Mandu. He proposed*¢ that before he marched
to Qandhar he should be given absolute charge of the army; the
Punjab placed under his sway; the fort of Ranthambhor given to
him for the residence of his family. He wanted to stay at Mandu
till the expiry of the rainy season, and then to march to Qandhar.

The contemporary chroniclers are silent on the reasons

43. Ibid., p. 216.
44, 1bid., p. 222.
45. Ibid., p. 233.

46. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 11, pp. 233-4; Gladwin, p. 57.
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prompting Shah Jahan to adopt this attitude. But it 1s easy to
make a conjecture. In order to check the possible designs of the
ymbitious Empress, such safeguards were essential. With all his
cleverness and diplomacy, Shah Jahan could not calculate that
Noor Jahan was the last person (o be taken in by his proposals.
She could interpret them to the Emperor asarising out of seditious
designs. For the last few years the prince had been a sort of a
deputy sovereign. His vanity, ambition and ability were known
‘o all. He could be dubbed before the King as a source of danger
io the stability of the State. If Sir Thomas Roe is to be believ-
ed, Jahangir had grown suspicious of Shah Jahan’s powers as early
as 1617.

Clash at Dholpur. Shah Jahan was still hesitating to comply with >
the Imperial mandate. Meanwhile a very trifling incident took
place—an incident ‘he like of which sometimes makes the matters
worse, and quickens the outburst of long pent-up feelings and
patience.

Sometimes back Shah Jahan had asked for the grant of the
Pargana of Dholpur as @ jagir. Anticipating the acceptance of the
request, a shortwhile after this, Be sent a body of men under
Darya Khan, an Afghan general, to take charge of the place.
Meanwhile Noor Jahan secured the Pargana for Shahriyar and
Shariful-Mulk was appointed as 1ts faujdar. When Darya Khan
reached Dholpur, he was opposed by Qharif. A clash ensued. Many
soldiers were killed on both sides, and Sharif was wounded in the
eye.’

The Angry Emperor Reprimands the Son. Noor Jahan exploited
the incident. She convinced Jahangir very skilfully that Shah Jahan
did not deserve the favours bestowed upon him. The Emperor repri-
manded him severely and warned him to behave properly. He was
commanded to send his officers and troops at once to the North.

Another proof of Noor Jahan’s exploitation of the situation is

47. Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. 11, pp. 235-6; Igbal Nama, pPp-. 193-4, Note
the angry tone of Jahangir (Tuzk, Text, p. 346) :
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the promotion of Shahriyar to the rank of 12000 Zat and 8000
Sawar. He was appointed the commander of the Qandhar Expedi-
tion, with Mirza Rustam as his guardian and actual leader. The
Mirza was sent along with Itigad Khan to Lahore with rupees
100,000*¢ as advance of pay to assist the military preparations.
Next, Shah Jehan’s jagi* in the North was transterred to Shahriyar
and he was told to choose® jagir of equal value in the South.
Motamid Khan says that it was Noor Jahan who initiated such
orders ; the Emperor did not want to go to that length. But it should
not be forgotten that all the Imperial decisions of that period
were inspired by the Empress. The aim of this mischievous
decision was to creat trouble for Shah Jahan. If he disobeyed, he
could be branded as a rebel. If he exchanged the jagirs of Hisar
and Doab for jagirs in the South, he could be deprived of them
also very easily in the long run. The Emperor was repeatedly
writing him to send his troops for the Qandhar campaign.

The turn of events alarmed Shah Jahan. He sincerely wanted a
patch-up with the Emperor. He was against Noor J ahan and hated
her. but he could not afford to pick up a quarrel with his father.
He sent his Dewan, Allami Afzal Khan, to the Imperial Court
with a humble apologetic letter. Motamid Khan3? reports that
the Begum prevented Afzal Khan from contacting the Emperor.
But the Emperor himself notes down that Khurrum sent a petition
through Afzal Khan but he refused to listen to him>! :
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Shah Nawaz in his Maathir-ul-Umara>? gives the subject-matter
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50. Ibid., p. 196.
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During this period the only man who observed prudent silence
was Asif Khan. Noor Jahan could neither trust him in her new
designs nor could she afford to take an action against him.

Mahabat Khan Won Over by the Empress. Mahabat Khan, a
brave general of that age, had been away from the court for the
last few years. He was appointed the Governor of Kabul. He hated
Noor Jahan, especially Asif Khan. In 1622, Noor Jahan was
facing the most dangerous crisis of her career. She had recently
lost her parents. The brother could not be relied upon. Shah Jahan
had become hostile and rebellious. The Iranians had besieged
Qandhar. She had to save the situation and protect her superiority.
She thought of winning over Mahabat Khan to her side in order
to utilise his talents at such a critical juncture. He was raised to
the Mansabs? of 6000 Zat and 5000 Sawar. He was summoned to
the court by a Farmon bearing the personal seal of the Empress.
He refused’* to attend the court until his enemy Asif Khan was
sent away. In order to allay his doubjs Noor Jahan sent Asif Khan
to Agra under the pretext of bringing the Royal treasury.

Qandhar Conquered by the Persians. Meanwhile the Persians had
conquered Qandhar after a siege of forty-five days. Immediately
after this Haider Beg, the Persian ambassador, came (0 the Mughal
court with a conciliatory letter from his master. The Shah tried to
justify his occupation of Qandhar on the plea that it belonged to
the Persians. The letter expressed the pious hope that the friendship
would be re-established and the Mughals would not pursue the
1Ssue.

Jahangir was irritated at this letter and condemned the Iranians
for treachery and meanness.>>

After the departure of the Persian envoy the Emperor started
preparations for an attack on Qandhar. Mirza Rustam was
promoted to the rank of 5000. Prince Pervez was sent an urgent
message to hasten at once with an army to the court from his
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53. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 11, p.240.

54. Maathir, Vol. 111, p. 388 ; Abdul Hamid, Vol. II, p. 24 (B. & D.),
Vol. VII, p. 64); Gladwin, p. 60.

5. Both the letters are found in Tuzk (Text of Syed Ahmad), py. 348-31;
R. & B., Vol. II, pp. 240-5,
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province Behar.5¢

Unfortunately, the wishes of the Emperor could not be material-
ised. Despite his preparations he was not destined to embark vpon
the project of taking Qandhar back from the Persians.

Shah Jahan's Rebellion. A very unfortunate news was received
from the South that the best of the sons of the Emperor and the
pride of the house of Taimur, who could measure his sword with
the Persians, had revolted’? against his Imperial father due to the
suffocating policy of his step-mother, the ambitious Empress Noor
Jahan. He had left Mandu with a strong army for the North.

Let us now examine the factors that prompted Shah Jahan to
rebel openly. When Afzal Khan returne:! to his master Shah Jahan,
he reported that the domination of the Empress over the Emperor
was complete, and that the negotiations had been of no avail. He
stated how coldly and scornfully he had been treated. The inactivity
and negotiations would not prevent the confiscation of his Jagir.
Besides this the tone and trend of the Imperial Farmans, secret
messages and rumours indicated that the matter could be solved
enly by the sword. A large number of experienced grandees and
the pick of the court nobility were either openly with him or
sympathised with him.

Shah Jahan suddenly marched from Mandu with his select and
seasoned troops. He hoped to catch the Impenal forces unawares.
But this did not happen. Noor Jahan rose equal to the occasion.
She was eagerly watching the situation. The feudatory Rajput Rajas
were summoned to the help of the throne. They generously res-
ponded. Khan-i-Azam was granted the Mansab®® of 7000 Zat and
5000 Sawar. Numerous other chiefs, who were under Royal
displeasure, were pardoned and promoted. Mahabat Khan reached
the court in January 1623 and became the commander of the
Imperial forces. To please Mal:abat Khan, Asif Khan was given
an appointment in Bengal. This decision not only pleased Mahabat
but amounted to the loss to Shah Jahan of a sure and silent

supporter at the court. The Emperor himself left Lahore in February
1623 and marched to Delhi at the risk of his delicate health. In

order, probably, to gain ime, Noor Jahan sent Musawi Khan° to

56. Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. 1l, p. 245.

§7. Ibid., p. 247.

58. Tuzk (S>yed Ahmad’s Text), p. 355.

59. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 11, p. 249; Igbal Nama, p. 197,
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negotiate with the rebel prince. The emissary met the prince at .
Fatehpur Sikri. The only result of the meeting was that the prince
sent his own officer, Qazi Abdul Aziz, to place his demands before
the Emperor. The Emperor was so much irritated on meeting the
Qazi that he put him into the prison.

Attack on Agra. The rebel found the gates of Fatehpur Sikri
closed and properly guarded. His general Raja Bikramajt attacked
the unwalled portion of Agra City and plundered it.°® After this
there were a few clashes and skirmishes at Shahpur. He tried
guerilla tactics also, while encamping with the main force at
Bilochpur. The Imperial army headed by Mahabat Khan with
vanguard under Abdullah Khan Feroz Jung reached Qabulpur.

T).e Battle of Bilochpur. On 29 March 1623, a decisive battle was -
fought at Bilochpur. The Imperial army numbered 26,000 horse.
Abdullah Khan Feroz Jung treacherously deserted to Shah Jahan
along with his soldiers. On the way he had tried to weaken the
Royal army by accusing many loyal and capable officers of sedi-
tion and treachery.5! Any action against them on the part of Noor
Jahan was bound to create a chaos in her ranks. But Noor Jahan
escaped the trap and avoided the pinitive action against them.

The rebels were thrown into confusion when Raja Bikramajit

was shot dead. At night they prudently retreated towards Mandu.
The Emperor profusely showered promotions and titles on his
followers.6* But he did not pursue the rebel beyond Fatehpur.
The pursuit of Shah Jahan was postponed till the arrival of Pervez
with his army. Abdullah Khan’s action had created doubts about
Asif Khan, Abul Hasan and many others.

Meanwhile Pervez arrived from Behar and met the royal camp
at Hinduan. He was received with great honour, and conducted
with great pomp and show to the Emperor, who publicly embraced
him. In order to set him above Shah Jahan he was given the rank
of 40,000 Zat and 30,000 Sawar, The army was sent to pursue
Shah Jahan nominally headed by Pervez and actually commanded
by Mahabat Khan. Another army was sent under the nominal
command of Dawar Bukhsh son of Khusrau. He was raised to
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8000 Zat and 3000 Sawar. He was appointed Governor of Gujrat
with his maternal grandfather Khan-i-Azam as his guardian.o The
Emperor moved to Ajmer on 9 May 1623, to watch the events
from closer quarters.

This state of affairs sorely afflicted the heart of Jahangir. He
records with great pathos his s:ntiments on these sad events:
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After his defeat near Bilochpur Shah Jahan retreated to the
South. In the way he plundered Ambar.5* He reached Mandu on
17 August 1623. On hearing of his hot pursuit by Prince Pervez

and Mahabat Khan, he marched to Burhanpur the very next day.

The Imperial army overtook him on the way. Before coming to
grips Mahabat Khan enticed away® many important supporters of
the rebel. Shah Jahan had to flee across the Narbada.

As a last resort he tried to make Narbada the line against the

Imperialists. He withdrew all the boats from the right bank of the

river. Bairam Beg was appointed to keep a strict vigil on the

banks and the ferries. At this juncture a messenger of Khan-i-

, Khanan going to Mahabat Khan with his letter was captured and
_p- brought before the prince. It perturbed him very much and he

interned Khan-i-Khanan66 and his son Darab Khan together with
| their families.

garh. Leaving some of his heavy

hanpur. He sent Rao Ratan Hadx

to negotiate for peace with Mahabat Khan, who made the release

63. Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. II, pp. 260-1;
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: 366 Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol, II, p. 274; Iqbal Numa, p. 210; Maathir, Vol, I,
p- 706.

Igbal Nama, p. 205,




68 The Life and Times of Noor Jahan

of Khan-i-Khanan$? a condition for such talks.

Shah Jahan not only released him but asked him to plead for
him with the Imperialists. Khan-i-Khanan agreed but later on,
instead of keeping up his promise, joined Prince Pervez, who had
crossed the Narbada along with his army.

Shah Jahan’s Wanderings. This state of affairs unnerved Shah
Jahan. He sought a passage to Golkunda territory to Orissa 1n
order to go to Bengal® to try his luck there. He reached Bengal
safely. Ibrahim Khan, the Governor, refused to join him and died
fighting with the rebel army while defending the fort of Ra)
Mahal.6® Emboldened by this success Shah Jahan marched forward,
occupied Behar? and went forward in Oudh up to Jaunpur.

Meanwhile Prince Pervez and Mahabat Khan hurried from the
Deccan to the scene of action. Shah Jahan was defeated’! in an
.ction that ensued. Most of his followers were either slained or
dispersed. The prince retreated to Rohtas. The Imperial army
made it difficult for him to stay in the East. Accompanied by his
sons, Dara and Aurangzeb, and a bg,nd of faithful followers, he
made his way to the Deccan. He passed through Orissa and
Golkunda territory. He entered Malik Ambar’s dominion, who
received him cordially. An alliance was struck up between the two.

Shah Jahan laid siege to Burhanpur with the help of his new
ally. Meanwhile Prince Pervez and Mahabat Khan again reached
the Deccan. The prince was compelled to raise the siege and
retreat to Rohan Khed.”?

Shah Jahan's Submission. On the way Shah Jahan fell seriously
ill. He was completely unnerved and his pride fully subdued. He
was unable to continue the struggle which had disturbed his father
very much. He had neither men nor money to help him. No other
course was left except to sue for pardon, which was readily grant-
ed to him on the following conditions:

(1) Shah Jahan was to send to the Court his sons Dara and

Aurangzeb as hostages for his future good conduct.
(2) He was to instruct his officers to surrender the Asirgarh fort

67. Kamboh, Vol. I, p. 131,
68. 1Ibid., pp. 135-6.

69, Igbal Nama, pp. 219-20.
70. 1bid., p. 222.

71. 1bid., pp. 232-4.

72. 1Ibid., p. 244.
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in Khandesh (Deccan) and Rohtas fort in Behar.

Shah Jahan complied’? with these demands and sent his sons as
hostages to the Emperor with presents worth three lakhs of rupees.

Despite this arrangement Shah Jahan was afraid of entering the
Imperial territory. He took up residence at Nasak.

Thus ended the rebellion which was the result of the clash
between the two ambitious, proud and clever personalities, viz. Shah
Jahan and Noor Jahan. It kept the Empire in a troubled statc for
over three years. This civil war drained the State resources in both
men and money. The Qandhar campaign and the expansion in the
South were set aside. It lowered the prestige of the Mughals.

This war did not improve Shah Jahan’s chances to succession.
He suffered reverses and the war ended in his complete ruin. He

could not dare to enter the territory which he was destined to rule
after about two years only.

This war revealed Noor Jahan’s mastery in the art of diplo-
macy. She successfully used one enemy (Mahabat Khan) against
the other (Shah Jahan). She brought forth the neglected Prince
Pervez as the most suitable instrument against Shan Jahan;
although she never wanted Pervez to become so much popular and
powerful as to inherit his ancestral throne. This privilege she
wanted to reserve for her son-in-law and protege Shahriyar.

Shah Jahan’s defeat in the civil war can be credited to Noor
Jahan’s superior tactics.

The other causes of Shah Jahan’s failure are :

i (1) Shah Jahan’s strategical mistake to march unscrupulously
to the North. This rendered it impossible for him to stand
at any place during he hurried retreat.

(2) Most of Shah Jahan’s supporters were opportunists like
Khan-i-Khanan and his son Darab Khan. Such people
fought half-heartedly and were ready to desert him, as their
alm was merely to fish in the troubled waters.

(3) The loss of trusted commanders like Raja Bikramajit and
Raja Bhim weakened him very much.

(4) The resources of the rebel prince were no doubt limited as
compared with those of the Imperial Government.
After the civil war Shah Jahan remained in the Deccan till he

received the news of the death of his father in the distant Poonch
arca towards the close of 1627.

13. 1bid., p. 274,
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Chapter 11

NOOR JAHAN AND MAHABAT KHAN’S COUP

It was the rebellion of Shah Jahah which compelled Noor Jahan
to bring Mahabat Khan to prominence, and to give supreme com-
mand of the army to Prince Pervez. Their achievements against
Shah Jahan were making them popular and powerful. Meanwhile
the health of the Emperor was deteriorating faster than ever. The
worry caused by the rebellion of the ablest son was further
vexing him. What had Noor Jahan gained so far as the problem of
succession was concerned? Her motive was to clear the path for
the succession of her protege, Shahriyar. Her fears were not
baseless. Had the Emperor died in 1625, Mahabat Khan could
easily enthrone Pervez and rule over Mughal India as his vizer,
Their dazzling success made Noor JaRan jealous of them. It was
partly due to this apprehension that Noor Jahan accepted the
apology of Shah Jahan on comparatively lenient terms. Although
the health of the Fmperor was fast breaking dowan, the physical and
mental vigour of the Empress was unimpaired. The wielding of
sovereign power for a long time had strengthened her imperious
instinct. Her success against Shah Jahan strengthened her belief
in her own diplomatic skill and organising capacity. Her dominant
motive was to perpetuate her sway.

Khusrau, the most popular prince, had died in 1622 Khan-i-
Azam who could espouse the cause of Dawar Bukhsh,! and was
cecently given prominence during the campaign against Shah Jahan,
had died at Ahmedabad in 1624. Shah Jahan, the virtual heir
apparent in 1621 was utterly humiliated and distressed. He stood
discredited in the estimation of the Emperor and his subjects.

As compared with the situation in 1621, Noor Jahan appeared
to have gained her object in 1625. But the irony of circumstances
had brought into prominence a comparatively mediocre prince.

1. Dawar Bakhsh was the son of Prince Khusrau from a daughter of
Khan-i-Azam Mirza Aziz Koka,

Marfat.com
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Till 1623, Pervez was an insignificant and unimportant prince as
compared with Khusrau and Shah Jahan. In 1625, Pervez was
definitely superior to Shahriyar. He had successfully led the
military expeditions against his rebel brother (Shah Jahan). He
was born of a duly-wedded Muslim lady of Turkish origin. His
mother, Sahib Jamal,® was the daughter of Khwaja Hasan, an uncle
of Zen Khan Koka. His wife was also a lady of Timurid origin,
a daughter of Prince Murad? and a grand-daughter of Akbar. Hc
was bound to be helped by the Turkish Central Asian nobility.

Parvez had, therefore, a better claim to the throne as com-
pared with Shahriyar, who was the son of a concubine 4 While
Shahriyar was a lad of twenty years, Pervez was thirty-six possessing
greater ability and more experience. Why should he yield to
Shahriyar and the Empress to accept perpetual confinement or a
bloody grave for him. Mahabat Khan also must have contemplated
on these lines. For him, and, as a matter of fact, for the State also,
Pervez was a better choice than Shahriyar. The accession of
Shahriyar was bound to result in his permanent exclusion from the
higher councils of the State. The best course for him was to
cmancipate Jahangir from petticoat influence and strive for the
sucession of Pervez.

The Empress clearly understood the new political developments.
So long as Shah Jahan’s revolt continued, the services of Mahabat
Khan were indispensable. After the conclusion of peace with Shah
Jahan the Empress proceeded to undermine Mahabat Khan’s power
with her usual audacity and diplomatic skill. Her brother Asif
Khan, an enemy of Mahabat Khan, who had nothing to gain from
the accession of Pervez and who still secretly espoused Shah
Jahan’s cause, supported her in this venture.

The first step was to separate Mahabat Khan from Pervez and
to deprive him of the command of the forces which were nominally
under the prince. In September 1625, when the prince and Mahabat
Khan were encamping at Sarangpur on their way to Burhanpur,
the prince received an Imperial Farman through Fidai Khan,s
transferring Mahabat Khan to the governorship of Bengal and
appointing Khan Jahan Lodhi to succeed him as adviser to Parvez,

2. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, pp. 15-9, footnote 1.
3. Ibid., p. 78.
4. Ibid., p. 20.

5. Igbal Nama, p. 245 (E. & D., Vol. VI, p. 418); Gladwin, pp. 78-9.
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The whole plan was evident to the prince and the general. The
prince declared his unwillingness to relieve Mahabat Khan and to
receive Khan Jahan Lodhi. This response clearly shows that the
apprehensions of the Empress were not unfounded. She had to
adopt a sterner attitude. Another Farman warned Pervez and called w
upon him 10 avoid refractory conduct and to render implicit
obedience. 1f Mahabat K han was unwilling to goto Bengal he was
(o return to court and the prince was to stay at Burhanpur.
Menawhile Khan Jahan Lodhi had started to take charge of his
new appointment. The tone of the Royal mandate frightened
Pervez. He did not want to share the fate of Shah Jahan. He
yielded and Mahabat Khan agreed to go to Bengal. |

Had Pervez shown Somc audacity to stick to his previous
decision, Noor Jahan could send a force against him and his general
Mahabat Khan under Khan Jahan Lodhi or Asif Khan.
The defeat of Pervez would have completely cleared the path of
the Empress. The obedience shown to the Royal Furman by Pervez
ieft no other choice for Mahabat Khan but to proceed towards
Bengal. 5

Activities against Mahabat Khan. Having succeeded in her object
of separating Mahabat Khan and Pervez, Noor Jahan was not the
person to sit idle. The position of Mahabat Khan was greatly
weakened after his removal from his previous post. Noor Jahan
decided to strike while the iron was hot. She wanted to ruin
Mahabat Khan utterly.

Mahabat Khan had just reached Bengal when he was called upon
to despatch to the Court the elephants he got in Bengal and Behar,
while suppressing Shah Jahan’s revolt. He was asked to furnish
an account of the sums forfeited to the State after the dismissal
of the disloyal Jagirdars. A Royal officer named Dast Ghaib® was
sent to fetch the elephants and 1o take an account of the disputed
money. If the Khan was not to satisfy the Royal agent, he was to

get an order of recall to the Court.
Mahabat Khan clearly understood the motive behind this

move. It was an insidious attempt’ on the part of the Empress to

6. Igqbal Nama, p. 248,
7. Ibid., p. 252.
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undermine his fame for honesty. She wanted to get an excuse to
punish him for embezzlement. He must have felt siiocked at the
ingratitude shown to him immediately after he had saved the
Empire from a disaster. He understood that his patron Jahangir
had become so weak and invalid as to do anything against or for
him. He knew that Noor Jahan and Asaf Khan would not stop
till they had completely destroyed him.

Mahabat Khan's March with Rajput Solaiers. Mahabat Khan
was not, however, a man of weak nature. He could no subnmit
tamely to disgrace. His bold and intrepid spirit could not be satis-
fied till he had redeemed his honour. He decided to march towards
the Imperial Court with four or five thousand Rajput warriors of
undoubted fidelity. He had already sent the elephants in question.

The Emperor left Kashmir in September 1625 and arrived at

Lahore on 12 October 1625. He started for Kabul in March 1626.
The Royal camp was pitched on the bank of the Jhelum, when
Mahabat Khan arrived in its vicinity. The appearance of Mahabat
Khan along with his Rajput force produced some consternation.
But no one bothered to take any precautionary measure. In reply
to his intimation of arrival, he was disallowed to attend the Court,
till formally summoned. The demand for elephants was repeated.

The Ruling Faction Insults Maha» .t Khan. It secems essential to
describe an incident which demonstrates clearly the extent of the
animosity borne by the ruling faction to Mahabat Khan. He had
married his daughter to purkhurdar,® son of Khwaja Umar Nagsh-
bandi. His fault was that he did not obtain the customary Royal
permission. The best course would have been to call him to
account for this neglect. But the ruling clique was bent upon €x-
ploiting this omission for insulting Mahabat Khan. His son-in-law
was called into the Court. His hands were bound to his neck and he
was remanded to prison. The dowry given to his wife by Mahabat
Khan was forfeited to the State.

The poor bridegroom Burkhurdar, who hailed from a respect-
able Sunni Nagshbandi family of Turkestan, was thus mercilessly
insulted merely for the oversight of his father-in-law. This shows
how desperate Noor Jahan had become. Such cruel treatment could

)
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8. Igbal Nama, p. 253 (E. & D, Vol. VL. p. 420); Muhammad Hadi (E. &
D., Vol. VI, pp. 396-7); Khwafi k. han, Vol. I, p. 360 ; Maathir. Vol. !;
Gladwin p. 79. |
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not be easily tolerated.

On one side Mahabat Khan was being insulted at every step,
on the other, Asaf Khan was heedless of the safety of the King.
Motamid Khan also? makes the some charge. He was an eye-witness
of the event and give a graphic description of Mahabat Khan’s
camp. This event is described on the basis of his account.

The Royal Camp Crosses the Jhelum. A few days after the
arrival of Mahabat Khan at Jhelum the Imperial cortege began to
cross the river. Almost all the officers and soldiers went over to the
right bank. The treasury and arms had also been transported
over the bridge. Asaf Khan and other important nobles had also

crossed. The Emperor, his family, Motamid Khan (author of Igbal
Nama), Mir Mansur, a few servants and eunuchs alone remained

in the camp on the left bank of the river. They intended to cross
over the next morning. Mahabat Khan knew that the power of the
ruling party rested on their control of the Emperor. If he could
exercise control on the Emperor, he would turn the table on them.
Ordinarily, it was difficult, if not impossible, to get an access to
the Emperor, and to persuade him to shake off the hold of Noor
Jahan or her brother. If others could use the Emperor, why
should Mahabat Khan not try to seize his person, and play the same
game which his encmies had played for fifteen years. Such thoughts
led him to stage a co.up de main.

Mahabat Khan’s Coup. Early next morning Mahabat Khan
posted two thousand horsemen at the boat bridge. They were
not to allow anyone to cross it, and had to set it on fire in the case
of an attack. After making this arrangement he advanced to the
Imperial camp with a select body. A cry arose in the camp about
his arrival. Motamid Khan went out of his camp with sword in hand
to see what had happened. Mahabat Khan, whose horse was suf-

rounded by about one hundred armed Rajput footmen, inquired of

him about the Emperor. He hastened to the chief entrance and
Motamid Khan went into the royal apartment by a side door. Mahabat
Khan and his soldiers roamed in the Imperial camp without any
hesitation and regard for [mperial etiquette and decorum. Being
disturbed by this onslaught the Emperor came out and sat in a palki
(palanquin) which was in waiting for him. Mahabat K han advanced
respectfully and said, “Having assured myself that escape from the

9. lqbal Nama, pp. 253-4.
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malice of Asaf Khan is impossible, I have taken this bold step of
throwing myself upon your majesty’s protection. If I deserve
punishment, give the order that I may suffer it in your presence.”
The camp had by now come under complete control of the Rajput
soldiers. The Emperor and his few attendants were 1n confinement.
Although Mahabat Khan was respectful to the Emperor, yet he
could never think of such violation of the Royal camp. The Emperor
twice laid his hand on the sword, and appeared intent on cutting off
Mahabat Khan’s head. Mansur Badakhshi twice dissuaded him
from this mad venture. He advised the Emperor in Turki, which
Mahabat Khan did not understand.

The Emperor was loved by the people and Mahabat Khan
apprehended a commotion among them on the slightest suspicion
of personal harm to him. Mahabat Khan asked the King to take
his usual ride for sport. “So that your slave i.e. Mahabat Khan
himself] may go out in attendance upon you, and it may appear that
this bold step has been taken by your majesty’s consent.”” The Em-
peror could not “disobey”. He did not, however, ride on Mahabat
Khan’s horse but called for his own steed. He desired to go inside
to dress for the hunt and probably to consult the Empress. But
Mahabat Khan refused to allow him to go in.

The Emperor moved out on the back of the Imperial stallion,
surrounded by Mahabat Khan and his Rajputs. After covering
‘““two arrow shots’ distance,” Mahabat Khan urged the Emperor to
mout an elephant so that the people might see him clearly. The
Emperor agreed. In front of the howdah sat one of the most

- reliable Rajput followers, while two others took their seats be-
hind. Mugarrab Khan, an adherent of the Emperor, got injured
in his struggle to get a seat beside his master. The Imperial cup-

% bearer also mounted to provide essential needs of his master.

* Meanwhile an Imperial elephant was brought forward by Gajpat
Khan and his son. Mahabat Khan suspected an attempt at rescu-

| ing the Emperor. So he signalled to his Rajputs and these innocent

L‘_ persons were killed. This incident frightened all those present. The

r procession reached Mahabat Khan’s camp. The Emperor was

placed under the strict guard of Mahabat Khan’s son.

Noor Jahanm’s Disappearan e. Mahabat Khan was no doubt a
desperate and daring general, but he does not appear to have been
a careful diplomat. He secured the person of the Emperor and
brought him to his camp, but he did not bother to get hold of the
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Queen also who was in the female apartment of the same camp. It
was 1n reaching his camp that he thought of the Queen. He came
back to the Imperial camp with the Emperor. But he was dis-
appointed to find that his prey had flown across the river. After
this he went to the camp of Shahriyar. He was again disappointed
to find him also missing. Chhaju,!? the grandson of Shajaat Khan,
a noble of Akbar’s Court, who happened to be present there took
him round the camp but Shahriyar could not be found. Mahabat
Khan suspected Chhaju’s hand in Shahriyar’s flight, and got him
killed by his Rajput attendants. At night the Emperor was strongly
cuarded by the Rajputs.

Noor Jahan crossed over the bridge in disguise. Only Jawahir
Khan, her chief eunuch, was with her. Although the guards were
very strict in forbidding those trying to cross over to the right
bank, they appear to have taken not much care about isolated
individuals crossing over to the other side. The Empress seems to
have disguised herself such that nobody could know her identity.
This was the crucial mistake which, in the long run, decided the
issue against Mahabat Khan. Had he got hold of the Empress, her
daughter and son-in-law also, NooryJahan must, in distress, have
struck a bargain with him. Mahabat Khan would have been
appointed vizier and commander-in-chief to share the power and
authority with the Empress, on the promise of accepting Shahriyar
as the heir apparent. Mahabat Khan would have wreaked his
vengeance on Asaf Khan and some other nobles whom he did not
like. Asaf Khan might have been transferred to some far-off pro-
vince like Kabul or Bengal. But this is all speculation which could
not be realised due to the shortsightedness and carelessness of
Mahabat Khan.

Neoor Jahan’s Activity on the Right Bank of Jhelum. Having
crossed the river Noor Jahan hurried straight to her brother, Asaf
Khan. She rebuked him for his slothfulness. She¢ convened a
meeting of all the nobles and mansabdars present in the camp. She
vociferously upbraided them. She pointed out to them that all that

had happened was due to their negiigence and improper arrange-
ments. Nobody could i1magine these happenings. She added that

10, Iqbul Nama, pp. 259-60 (E. & D., Vol. VI, pp. 423-4); Khwafi Khan,
Yol. I, p. 356.
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they must do their best to face this evil.!! It was unanimously
decided that the whole army should cross the river and attack
Mahabat Khan’s camp.

The Preparations. Mahabat Khan was more powerful than the
forces on the other side of the river. His Rajputs were better
fighters than those who were travelling along the Royal cavalcade.
Moreover, the bridge had been burat, and to cross the flooded
Jhelum, in the presence of a strong and well-posted enemy, was
desperate and difficult action.

Such a clash was against the interests of Mahabat Khan., He
could not fight with Noor Jahan and Asaf Khan openly. It would
have exposed the real nature of his coup. His aim was to give the
impression that the Emperor had willingly accepted his protection
to shake off the undesirable influence of the Empress and her
family. It was in the best interests of Mahabat Khan to capture
Noor Jahan, Asaf Khan, Shahriyar and other persons, and render
them harmless. The Emperor tried to dissuade the nobles from a
clash. The news of the preparations of Noor Jahan and the
nobles infilterated to the left bank of the river. Jahangir realised
the folly of the whole venture. With the consent of Mahabat
Khan he sent messages through Muqarrab Khan, Sadiq Khan, Mir
Mansur and some other reliable persons who were left in his
service, to Asaf Khan and other nobles advising them to avoid
an armed clash with Mahabat Khan. It would produce nothing but
evil and repentance. With what hope and zeal the army could fight
when the Emperor was on the other side of the river? It order to

authenticate his message and to show that it was without duress
the Emperor sent his signet ring through Mir Mansur.'?

11, Igbal Numa, p. 260. Motamid Khan, the eye-witn ss of the events,
gives the -pe:ch of Noor Jahan in the following words.
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12. Igbal N-uma, p. 260. Motamid Khan, the cye-witness, preserves the
text of the message of Jahangir as follows :
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Asaf Khan did not believe in the authenticity of the message.
He took it to have been effected by Mahabat Khan. The sense of
shame and the enthusiasm created by exhortations of the Empress
led the Imperial officers to turn a deaf ear to all such advice. Perhaps _
they thought that if the proposed attack would not achieve anything, ;
it would at least exonerate them from the blame of cowardice, '
carelessness and desertion of their master. They could be justified
in suspecting the message and even the sending of the signet ring
itself as a device of the enemy. They, therefore, remained firm on
their resolution to force their master released the next morning.

Fidai Khan's Venture to Rescue the Emperor. In the last hours
of the night, an attempt was made by Fidai Khan to rescue the
Emperor. Fidai Khan was once a follower of Mahabat Khan, but
later on he attached himself to Noor Jahan and had recently risen
to prominence. He galloped on to the head of the bridge and
found it burnt. In the cover of darkness he resolved to cross along
with some two dozen of his followers. They plunged their horses
into the river just opposite the Imperial camp. Unfortunately, the
current was very violent and it swept away six of the men along
with their horses. A few others turned back finding it impossible to
go any further. Fidai Khan and seven of his companions left their
horses at the mercy of the waves and themselves swam across to
the opposite bank to be greeted by enemy swords. The enemy was
too vigilant to be deceived like this. The four of the band were
killed. The others, including Fidai Khan himself, swam back with
the same dash and spirit with which they had crossed it. In the
morning they were ready to participate in the ensuing scuffle. But
such display of dash and daring was of no avail. It could resuit
only in the loss of men and material.

The Battle of Jhelum. On the morning of Sunday, 9th of March
1629 (21 Jamadi-uth-Thani 1035), great stir and bustle was seen
in the camp on the right bank of the river. Noor Jahan herself led
the army, which proceeded to cross the river. It was an occasion
for Noor Jahan to display her dauntless spirit. She was seated on
an elephant with the infant daughter of Shahriyar in her lap. Ladl
Begum and the foster-mother of the baby were also 1n the same
howdah. Unfortunately, the ford, which was discovered and re-
commanded by Ghazi Beg, the superintendent of the boats
(o)l »i S3,44), proved to be one of the worst. It contained many
large and deep pools. Th¢ result was that before reaching the

%
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middle of the stream chaos and disorder prevailed in the army.
Meanwhile Mahabat Khan had arranged his forces in battle array
with huge elephants in the front.

Noor Jahan’s army was separated into many isolated confused
groups. Asaf Khan, Abul Hasan Turbati and Iradat Khan found
themselves facing a portion of the bank, where the enemy were very
strongly posted. Fidai Khan and Abu Talib (son of Asaf Khan)
and a considerable number of people crossed the river at the better
fords lower down. At the main ford the water being deep many
horses had to swim.

In this turmoil some horsemen succeeded in reaching the bank
while others were still in water. The enemy led their clephants to-
wards them. Asaf Khan and Khwaja Abul Hasan were yet in the
middle of the river, when the soldiers ahead of them recoiled due
to the pressure of the advancing elephant force, In the ensuing
panic everybody thought of his personal safety; the officers rush-
ed off in disorder, not knowing what to do.

Motamid Khan and Khwaja Abul Hasan had crossed one
branch of the river, and were standing on the brink of the other.
Motamid Khan reports that they were much perplexed and para-
lysed. They were!3 surprisingly pondering at the vicissitudes of
fate, and looking towards horsemen, footmen, camels and carriages
which were jostling in the middle of the river amidst that chaos. At
that time Nadim, an eunuch of Noor Jahan, approached them and
said, ““The Begum asks if this is the time for delay and irresolution:
dash forward boldly, so that the enemy may be repulsed and
scattered by your advance.”14

Motamid Khan and the Khwaja did not wait to reply and plung-
ed into the water. Seven to eight hundred Rajputs stood firmly

with war elephants facing them. Some of Noor Jahan’s horsemen
and footmen reached the bank in a disordered form. The Rajputs

13. Igbal Nama, p. 263. Motamid Khan says :
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pushed forward the elephants to wards them and their horsemen

dashed into the water with their swords. Noor Jahan’s soldiers
were compelled to flee after much loss of life.

Attack on Noor Jahan's Elephant. In this turmoil even Noor

Jahan could not remain immune from attack. In the litter of the
Begum’s elephant the foster-mother of Shahriyar’s daughter (who
was Shah Nawaz Khan's daughter) was also seated. An arrow
struck her arm.!®> Noor Jahan herself plucked it out. The dresses
of the ladies were tinged with blood. As soon as this elephant
approached the bank, it received two sword cuts on its trunk.
The Queen’s four eunuchs, including Jawahar Khan, in charge of
the Royal household, and Nadim were killed. The elephant turned -
‘ts back and ran towards water. The Rajputs followed it, and
caused two or three injuries at its back. Several Rajputs plunged
into the river with drawn swords. The elephant driver led the
wounded beast into deep water. The chasing Rajputs had to return.
The elephant, however, swam across to the bank and the Begum
went straight to her camp. Motgmid Khan and Khwaja Abul
Hasan were both with her. The former stood on the bank along
with forty horsemen. They were all shooting arrows towards the
enemy in order to check their advance to that side. Khwaja Abul
Hasan in the meanwhile spurred his horse at full gallop. But the
fear and astonishment so puzzled ham that he plunged the horse
into deep and violent water, with the result that he fell off. He, how-
ever, clutched the saddle-bow firmly. The horse dived several times
but the Khwaja did not loosen his grasp at the saddle. A Kashmirl
boatman came to his rescue, but the horse was drowned. Thus the
main attack was disastrously repulsed.

During this clash, nothing is heard about Asaf Khan. Motamid

Khan'¢ tells that he made his appearance only after the clash was over

4
1
1

15. Motamid Khan says .p. 363) :
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It means that the arrow struck her foster-mother. But Khwafi Khan
reports that the arrow struck the infant herself (Vol. I, p. 269).

16. (gbal Nama, p. 264. Writing about Asaf Khan Motamid Khan says :
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and complained about the deception of the fate, vague nature
of friends and failure of the plans. He left him without finishing
his talk and Motamid Khan could not get any clue of his where-
abouts. This was the conduct of the premier noble of the Court,
the trusted brother of Noor Jahan and the main enemy of Mahabat
Khan.

The Exploits of Fidai Khan. Fidai Khan crossed the river at
a better ford with a small band of brave followers. They reach-
ed the bank in order and discipline, and attacked thc Rajput

guards stationed there. They got the upper hand after a brisk
fight. They pushed on to the camp of Shahriyar where the Emperor
was confined. It was strongly guarded. Fidai Khan stood at the
entrance of the camp and shot a valley of arrows inside. Some
of them fell near the Emperor. Mukhlis Khan stood before the royal
seat and made his body a shicld to protect the Emperor. Fidat Khan
and his men fought on for some time. Some of them were killed and
some wounded. Among those who were killed may be mentioned
Syed Muzaffar, Vizier Beg son of Tardi Beg and Atta Ullah.
Syed Abdul Ghafoor, a brave young man, was seriously injured.
Fidai Khan’s horse received four injuries. When Fidai Khan
found that he could not succeed in contacting the King, he left
the field and went up the river. Next day he joined his family
at Rohtas. -
Fidai Khan did his best in his own way to rescue the King.
But such actions of wanton and unrestrained bravery could not
succeed against Mahabat Khan. Fidai Khan, however, appears to
be the most impressive personality in the camp of Noor Jahan
due, among other things, to his sincerity of actions. Had he been
able to contact the Emperor, he would have positively tried to ex-
tricate him from the clutches of Mahabat Khan. Fidai Khan’s
conduct is in sharp contrast to that of Asaf Khan, who could not
3 face a serious crisis that was mainly the result of his own negligence.
Chaos in Noor Jahan’s Camp. So far as Noor Jahan is con-
cerned, she failed in her efforts. The nobles lacked capacity to
reorganise their forces and continue resistance. They were dispersed
and scattered in all directions. Some of them even fled away
neglecting defence of the right bank of the river which was to
providle women and servants a passage to safe places. Only

Motamid Khan and a few others stood at the river bank to prevent
the enemy from crossing over to their side.
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Asaf Khan Flees to Att »ck. Asaf Khan, the premier noble of the
State, was the person whose cowardice was exposed in this strug-
gle. There 1s no doubt that he could not expect any mercy from
Mahabat Khan. There were hardly two other men in J ahangir’s
Empire who hated and detested each other so much as Asaf Khan
and Mahabat Khan did. When the attack failed, Asaf Khan fled to 2
the fort of Attock along with two ot three hundred soldiers, some
camp followers and servants. Attock was in his Jagir. Having
reached there he shut himself up in the fort.

This was shameful on his part—to leave his sister in the lurch.
She was the person responsible for his rise in the Mughal Court.
For a long time he had shared authority and power with her. It
looks very strange that Asaf Khan thought of himself alone, and
forgot the safety of his sister, the Empress and the first lady of the
Mughal realm.

Khwaja Abul Hasan who seems to have been in a confused
mental condition concealed himself for a while. But later he wenl
over to Mahabat Khan swearing fidelity to him. He persuaded
[radat Khan and the historian Motamid Khan to follow his
example. For a while they refused, but subsequently they also

followed him.!?
The Surrender of Noor Jahan. The cause of Noor Jahan was

lost due to the treachery and cowardice of the nobility, especially
Asaf Khan. She found further resistance impossible and surrender-
ed to Mahabat Khan. She was allowed to join her dearly loved
husband.

The Ascendancy of Mahabat Khan. The surrender of the
Empress completed the ascendancy and supremacy of Mahabat
Khan. He took charge of the government machinery and virtually
became the controller of the destiny of the Mughal Empire. The
hold of Noor Jahan over Jahangir was based on affection and
devotion, while that of Mahabat Khan had no other foundation

except force.
Mahabat Khan started confiscating the hidden wealth of his

e

17. Igbal Nama, p. 266. Motamid Khan writes that the Khjvaja :
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Throughout the description of this rising hz condemns Mahabat, even after
joining him. This event he describes n an ambiguous way in the abov
Persian quotation.
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enemies, disclosed by Rai Govardhan. The Rai was once a favour-
ite servant of Itimad-ud-Daula, and after his death became
steward to Noor Jahan. Now he was the principal lieutenant of
Mahabat Khan.

Mahabat Khan got executed in his presence Abdus Samad, the
daughter’s son of Shaikh Chand, the astrologer. His only fault
was strong association and deep intimation with Asaf Khan.

Expedition against Asaf Khan. Mahabat Khan had become the
controller of the destinies of the Mughal Empire. All the nobles had
acknowledged his self-acquired position. But his main opponent,
Asaf Khan, was still out of his clutches, in the fort of Attock.
Mahabat Khan'8 sent a body of Rajputs and Ahadis under his son,
Bihroz. After a brief siege he found no other alternative but to
surrender. He took an oath to uphold and support Mahabat Khan
when, contrary to his expectations, he was promised security of life.
In Mughal India the Attock fort was considered to be impregnable.
It was constructed by Akbar on the left back of the Indus at a
strategical point to serve as a military base against any invasion
and incursion from the northwest.

The fact that Asaf Khan could not hold himself for a longer
time in this fort betrays his efficiency as a military commander.

March to Kabul Resumed. After making necessary administra-
tive arrangements, Mahabat Khan decided that the Imperial journey
to Kabul be resumed. The Imperial cavalcade including the
Emperor, Empress, other members of the royal household, the
nobility and soldiers proceeded under the control of Mahabat Khan.

On reaching Attock Mahabat Khan brought Asaf Khan and
his son Abu Talib out of the fort, with the formal permission
of the Emperor, and placed them under the charge of his
own men. The amnesty granted to Asaf Khan was no doubt
kept but many of his associates were atrociously executed. Abdul
Khaliqg, the nephew of Khwaja Shams-ud-Din, Muhammad Khwaii,
Muhammad Taqi and the aged Mulla Muhammad Thattvi may
be mentioned in this connection. The most atrocious case was
that of the Mulla. This pious aged man was the preceptor of
Asaf Khan. This charge was quite enough against him. Motamid

18. Igbal Nama, pp 266-7 (Elliot and Dawson, Vol. VI, p, 428): Maathir-

ul-Umara Vol. I ; Gladwin p. 83. For Rai Govardhan’s life, see Maathir,
Vol. |,
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i han describes his execution with pathetic and heart-rending details.
The chains were not securely tied to his feet. By a small move-
ment they slipped off his feet, and he was accused of using
magic. The Mulla was a Hafiz of the Quran. He used always
to mutter the holy verses; for this he was accused of invoking divine d
1

curses on Mahabat Khan and was executed. After perpetrating
such ghastly deeds at Attock, Mahabat Khan asked the Imperial
cortege to resume its march. They halted at Jalalabad for some
time. A deputation of the Kafir tribe of the Hindukush mountains
waited upon the Emperor.

Entry into Kabul. On Sunday, 21 Shaban 1035 (8 May
1626) the entourage reached Kabul. The Emperor seated on
an clephant entered the city scattering gold and silver pieces in
his usual fashion. He stayed at the famous Shahr Ara garden.

He paid a visit to the graves of his elders, viz. Emperor Babar,
Mirza Hindal and Mirza Hakim.

Activities at Kabul. Apparently, the authority of Mahabat Khan
was well established. The Emperor also appeared to have reconciled
himself to the situation. Noor Jahan and Asaf Khan were power-
Jess. There was no organised party to stand against Mahabat Khan,
The nobles who wete jealous of Noor Jahan in their heart of
hearts must have appreciated this change. The Hindu nobility,
it is possible, might have felt some satisfaction at the influence
exercised by the Rajput soldiers of Mahabat Khan. The general
public, especially the ruralites, must have been quite 1gnorant
of the real nature of the revolution, as the means of spreading
the news were very crude. This factor always leads to concocted
rumours.

Among the Royal mandates issued at the instance of Mahabat
Khan from Kabul were the following:

1. The Khan-i-Khanan, one of Mahabat Khan’s bitterest
opponents, was arrested while he was on his way to his jagir in
Qanauj.

9 Muzaffar Khan, the subahdar of Agra, was ordered to
keep a strong watch on Dara and Aurangzeb, who were at that
time on their way to the Imperial Court as hostages for the
good conduct of their father (Shah Jahan).

3. Sadiq Khan, a partisan of Mahabat Khan, was appointed
Governor of the Lahore province.

.
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Shah Jahan, of course, could think of staging a rebellion at
that juncture, but he was too weak to materialise it. The brave
patriot Malik Ambar had died in May 1626 at an advanced
age of eighty. The struggle to save the Deccan from the
Mughals, therefore, had died out for the time being. The situation
on the North-western Frontier was also well in hand. Thus we find
that the position of Mahabat Khan was very secure.

Mahabat Khan could not remain in power for a very long
time. Sooner or later the nobles were sure to become jealous
of his unprecedented position. The intelligent brain of Noor
Jahan was sure to meditate on this problem. She must devise
some way of her husband’s emancipation and her restoration to
power.The influence and the occasional misbehaviour of the brute
and illiterate Rajput soldiers gave a cause of complaint and
objection not only to the nobility but also to the rank and file.

It was due to this reason that the Rajputs and the Ahadis
soon came to conceive bitter hostility towards each other. The
Rajputs were accused of perpetrating tyranny over the people of
Kabul. This was bound to rouse a deep resentment among the
people; a sort of hatred developed between the Rajput soldiers
of Mahabat Khan and the Muslim soldiers who accompanied
the Royal cavalcade. Such charges were of general nature and
are to be accepted very cautiously. But it is certain that the
individual Rajputs must have shown improper conduct tow .rds
the weak and the poor, under the intoxicating influence of powér
and authority.

Clash between the Rajputs and the Ahadis. One day some Rajputs,
in violation of the rules, sent their horses to graze in a Royal
hunting ground near Kabul.!® The Ahadis on guard fook them
to task, with the result that there was an exchange of hot
words soon followed by a scuffle. An Ahadi lost his life. His
associates lodged a report. They were told by Mahabat Khan
that if they could point out the particulur murderer he would
hold an inquiry and impart justice. The Ahadis returned dis-
satisfied with the reply. They regarded it a mere attempt at
evasion. After mutual consultation they decided to wreak vengeance
on the Rajputs. Next day the whole body of Ahadis attacked

a large body of the Rajputs. They killed between eight and

i

}

1¢. Igbal Nama, p. 270, The hunting ground was at Yarat Chalak near
Kabul.
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nine hundred Rajputs. The dead included some of the fast
friends and strongest supporters of Mahabat Khan. A general
rising also broke out in the province which resulted in the
murder of many more Rajputs.

When the news of this rising was broken to Mahabat Khan,
he did not dare to go to the scene of the ghastly happenings.
Habash Khan, Jamal Khan, Muhammad Xhawas and Khan

Rathor were appointed to suppress this rising. They succeeded
in curbing the culprits and restoring order.

Badiuz-Zaman and Khwaja Qa sim, the son-in-law and the
brother of Khwaja Abul Hasan, respectively, were charged with
having fomented the trouble as the ring leaders of the rioters. They
were summoned to Mahabat Kha'n presence and he personally
cross-examined them. Their explanations were not accepted. They
were sentenced to imprisonment, and their property was confiscat-
ed. This was how peace was restored. The army of Mahabat Khan
had, however, suffered a great loss. He became unpopular among
the people of Kabul and the Muslim soldiers.

If we critically examine the sad affair, we find that it started
from a very minor incident. The Rajputs of Mahabat Khan had
become arrogant, and this made the Muslim soldiers jealous of
them. Had Mahabat Khan tried to please and pacify the Ahadis
by immediately holding an inquiry, it might have nipped the evil
in the bud. The evasive and arrogant attitude of Mahabat Khan
provided a pretext for mischief-mongers to foment trouble. The
subsequent inquiry and the punishment of the ring leaders of the
anti-Rajput riots, no doubt, eased the situation for the time being,

but the net result was the unpopularity and weakness of Mahabat
Khan and his associates.

Noor Jahan Plans to Regain Power. This course of events was
in favour of Noor Jahan. Her aim was to lull the suspicion of
Mahabat Khan and to throw him out of power by winning the
Lobles to her side. So far as the winning over of the nobility was
concerned, it was to be executed by the Empress herself. Mahabat
Khan could be dislodged only by the Emperor acting under her
advice,

Mahabat Khan Duped through the Emperor. As tutored by the
Empress, the Emperor impressed upon Mahabat Khan that he was
quite satisfied and pleased with the new situation. He told him
that he had been helpless in the hands of Asaf Khan and Noor
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Jahan. Otherwise he was always anxious to avail himself of his
advice. He participated in all his pastimes, enjoyments and pur-
suits. He went regularly for hunting, although all the time guarded
by Rajputs. A Qamargha?® was also arranged, in which both the
Emperor and the Empress participated.

In taking Mahabat Khan in his confidence the Emperor carried
his duplicity so far as to warn Mahabat Khan plainly to be carcful
of his life as Noor Jahan and Asaf Khan had designs against him.

This kind of behaviour on the part of the Emperor deceived
Mahabat Khan despite his caution and cleverness. He decreased
the number of his own Rajput bodyguards. The strength of the
guards placed round the Emperor was also reduced.?!

Noor Jahan’s Bid to Win Over Nobility. Meanwhile Noor Jahan
did not sit idle. She used her splendid intellect and intriguing
power to excite the nobility. The unwilling and weak-minded

nobles were cajoled. She encouraged the wavering and bribed the
sreedy. The support of the common people was also enlisted and
a great conspiracy was organised.

Departure from Kabul. The Imperial cortege left Kabul after a
stay of several weeks. On the way Jahangir continued acting tact-
fully, so that every doubt might be removed from the mind of
Mahabat Khan. On the other hand, Noor Jahan doubled her
efforts. The number of her supporters increased daily, so much so
that she succeeded in posting her own men near the Royal escort.
Her confidant eunuch Hushiyar Khan secretly recruited about two
thousand men at Lahore, and made his way to Kabul.

The Turning of the Tables. When tie Imperial caravan was at a
day’s march from Rohtas, Noor Jahan got the opportunity of putt-
ing her plot into practice. Suddenly the Emperor decided to hold a
review of the cavalary. All the soldiers, old as well as new, were

ordered to arrange themselves in twos from the Imperial camp

as far as they would extend, leaving a path in between the two
TOWS.

20. Igbal Nama, p. 272, 4< .3 is a hunt arranged at a larg. scalc in

which a large IEIllIIleI‘ of servants collect 2 huge quantity of wild animais with
| the help of a big net cailed ,,5 . These animals are hunted first by the

Emperor and then by others with his permission. So &£ ,.5 may be definzd
as Community Hunt.
21. 1bid., pp. 274-35.
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Buland Khan, one of the Imperial attendants, was ordered to
2o to Mahabat Khan to tell him that the Emperor was arranging a

review of the Begum’s troops that day. It would be better for him 4
to postpone his usual parade and salute, lest words should !

pass between the two parties resultingin strife. After Buland Khan,
Khwaja Abul Hasan was sent to enforce his wish more strongly.
He was to urge Mahabat Khan to proceed a stage ahead of them.
Motamid Khan describes that the Khwaja prevailed®? upon him by
cogent reasons to act upon these suggestionns. Our eye-witness, the
contemporary chronicler Motamid Khan, does not give the details
of the talk of Buland Khan and Khwaja Abul Hasan with
Mahabat Khan.

It is certain that Mahabat Khan felt the ground crumbling
beneath his feet. The message delivered to him by the Khwaja,
whose two near relatives he had recently insulted at Kabul, could
clearly indicate to a man of Mahabat Khan’s calibre that
Noor Jahan had distinctly got the better of him. He realised that
he had become too weak to control the march of events. Practical-
ly his period of domination was OVer.

Mahabat Khan professed to obey the Imperial orders to march
a stage ahead of the Imperial cavalcade. In practice he marched so
rapidly that the Imperial army which followed close after him
could not overtake him. A step taken up by Mahabat Khan
even at this stage of mental disturbance deserves all praise for his
diplomatic sense. He took along with him Asaf Khan, his son
Abu Talib, Tahmurath (Shaista Khan) and Hoshang (sons of
Daniyal) and Lashkari (son of Mukhlas Khan) to serveas hostages
for his future safety.

The Emperor stayed at Rohtas and held a Darbar. The most
important problem was obviously the reduction of Mahabat Khan
and the release of the prominent persons still with him. Noor
Jahan at last decided to send through Afzal Khan an Imperial
order to Mahabat Khan. He was commanded to release at once?’
Asaf Khan, Abu Talib, Tahmurath, Hoshang and Lashkari.

22, 1bid., p. 276

23. As usual in those days gossips and fantastic stories got circulated
among people. 'eter Mundy, a contemporary European traveller, has based
his account of the event on such gossips. For example, he says that Mahabat

Khan had Asaf Khan beaten with shoes and kept him in irons (Vol. II,
p. :04). Obviously it is wrong,
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Mahabat Khan was to go to Thattah to check Shah Jahan,
who had gone to Sind from the Deccan to try his luck -after hav-
ing heard about the events at the Court. Mahabat Khan was
warned that in the case of delay in sending Asal Khan to the
Court an army would be sent against him.

Release of Asaf Khan and Others. Mahabat Khan at once
released the sons of Daniyal. He planned to keep Asaf Khan and
his son till he was reasonably safe. In reply he wrote that he was
suspicious of the intentions of the Empress. If he releascd Asaf

Khan, he feared pursuit by an army. He promised to set him at
liberty after having passed Lahore.

In responsec to this reply the Begum sent Afzal Khan with the
demand of the prompt release of Asaf Khan. She threatened to
press the matter to extremities. Upon this Mahabat' Khan relecased?4
Asaf Khan after taking a promise of fidelity. But he still detained

Abu Talib, releasing him only after he had marched a few stages
towards Thatta,

Reorganisation of the State Machinery. The Imperial camp
reached Lahore safely. The Empress was in complete ascendancy.
The administrative machinery was reorganised at Lahore. Asaf
Khan was appointed v:kil. He also held the governorship of the
Lahore province. Khwaja Abul Hasan was appointed Dewan,
Mir Jumla Bakhshi and Afzal Khan got the office of Khan-i-
Saman. Later on, Fidai1 Khan became Governor of Bengal.

All these nobles had rendered meritorious services to the cause
of Noor Jahan. After her restoration to authorily she was bound
to honour and reward them. Noor Jahan’s success 1n regaining her
lost authority from the clutches of the soldier-diplomat Mahabat
Khan was the master stroke of her policy. It shows that Noor
Jahan could patiently and secrctly work according to a well-

executed plan and had the proper qualification to achieve her end
and enjoy the fruit of her success.

24, Igbal Nama, pp. 275-6 (E. & D.fVol. VI, p. 430), Khwafi Khan, Vol. |,
ppn 377'8; GladWin, pp- 36'7.
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CHAPTER 12

SHAH JAHAN AND MAHABAT KHAN

During the last two years of Jahangir’s reign, Shah Jahan was
under the shadow of the dark clouds of misfortune. The news of
Mahabat Khan’s coup was Vvery encouraging for him. He left
Ahmednagar on 27 Ramazan 1035 (7 June 1626). He marched
through Nasik-Trimbak pass towards the north. He had only one
thousand horsemen with him. Half of them had been provided
by Raja Kishan Singh, and were under his command.

Shah Jahan hoped that he would succeed in enlisting the
sympathies of some more Zamindags on the way. He declared that
he was going to release his father from the control of Mahabat
K han, but there cannot be any doubt about the fact that he was
trying to fish in troubled waters 1o his own advantage. He could
join neither Noor Jahan nor Mahabat Khan. Everybody knew
that both were his enemies at that time. He reached Ajmer with-
out any increase in his force. Unfortumately, Raja Kishan Singh
died there. It resulted in the immediate dispersal of his five
hundred retainers. It made Shah Jahan very gloomy and sad. He,
however, decided to go to Thaita with the remaining force. He
marched through Nagor, on the borders of Jodhpur and J aisilmere
states. Unexpectedly, no oneé came to join him, although his
mother belonged to Jodhpur and he scems (O have expected some
help from his maternal relatives.

Shah Jahan at Thatta. Shah Jahan found Thatta well fortified
by a large force. Its governot was a devoted adherent of Noor
Jahan. He did not listen to any promise or threat of the
prince. Shah Jahan could neither storm the fort nor starve its
garrison.

He thought of going to Persia, like his great-grandfather
Humayun, to get help from his powerful friend Shah Abbas, with
whom he had friendly correspondence. 1t appears that his plan
was not liked by his followers. Perhaps they preferred heroic
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death to exile. They made two suicidal attempts to take Thatta in
flagrant violation of the orders of the prince.

Shah Jahan soon gave up his plan of proceeding to Persia.
- The course of future events justified his decision. The period of

his misfortune was about to end, and within a year and a half,
he was going to be proclaimed as the Emperor of India. These
are some of the factors that made Shah Jahan give up going to
Persia:

(1) His own followers were unwilling to take up the hazardous
and long journey.

(2) The prince himself fell ill and was too weak to take up a
long journey.

(3) He feared an attack by the Governor of Thatta during his
march.

(4) He heard that Prince Pervez was hopelessly ill. Thus an-
other rival, who was very strong at that moment, was on the
verge of disappearance. It kindled a new hope in his mind.

Mahabat Khan’s “reign of hundred days” had proved a
nine day’s wonder. The general was himself a fugitive, who
might make an alliance with Shah Jahan against their common
enemy, the Empress Noor Jahan.

The prince started! his journey to the Deccan tiirough Gujrat
and Berar. As he was extremely weak due to illness, he travelled
in a palki (palanquin) instead of riding a horse.

Shah Jahan had reached Gujrat when he heard that after
long 1illness Prince Pervez had at last died on 6 Safar 1036
(28 October 1626). He was in his thirty-eighth year. His body
was carried to Agra and buried there in his garden. A tomb is
pointed out as that of Pervez in Lahore also,2 but this is not
correct; he was, of certain, buried at Agra.

The death of Pervez at such a crucial moment gave birth to
rumours? that Shah Jahan had a hand in it.

woI 1ell1b |\

1. Igbal Nama, pp.273-4, 279-82 (E. & D., Vol. VI, pp. 429, 431-3);
Mohammad Hadi (E. & D. Vol. II, p. 97); Khwafi Khan, Vol. I, pp. 382-3;
Gladwin, pp. 85, 88.

2. Tahgiqat-i-Chisht, pp. 558-9, Latif, Lahore, p. 160.

. Tod (Vol. I, p. 294, Vol. II, p. 33) regards Shah Jahan responsible for
the death of Pervez; English Fictories in India 1624-29, p. 152. Aurangzeb, in
one Of his letters to his captive father, Shah Jahan, condemns hini: for the

murder of Khusrau and Pervez. See Sarkar, Aurangzeb, Vol. 111, p. 155.
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Pervez’s death, no doubt, cleared the way of Shah Jahan, and
on hearing the news, he must have heaved a sight of relief, but
Shah Jahan’s poisoning him is incredible. Pervez died after a 4
long illness which was the result of his intemperate habits. g

From Gujrat Shah Jahan reached Nasik Trimbak. He took up
his residence at Khaibar (or Junair)* at a short distance from
Nasik.

Mahabat Khan was expecting a convoy from Bengal bringing
twenty-two lakhs of rupees for him. He hoped to raise a
large army with that money to retrieve his fortunes. Unfortunately
for him, the Imperial government got wind of 1t, and it was
forcefully seized by its agents. Deprived of the money and pursued
hotly by an army sent by Noor Jahan, Mahabat Khan took
refuge in the deserts of Mewar.

He sent his trusted emissariecs to Shah Jahan making
an overture for complete reconciliation and alliance. He wrote
to the prince that on receiving an assurance of complete pardon,
he would enter into his service. Naturally, Shah Jahan was ex-
tremely happy on receiving the envoys. He sent him a letter,
impressed with his own hand, not only pardoning him but
enkindling many hopes for future glory. Soon after, Mahabat
Khan joined Shah Jahan, at Khaibar (or Junair) with 2000
cavalry. Mahabat Khan presented to the prince a thousand mohurs,

1 diumoned worth Rs. 20,000 and other valuable things. The
prince honoured him and awarded him an elephant, a horse, a
sword and a dagger inlaid with precious siones.

The news of this alliance and friendship between these two
geniuses shocked Noor Jahan. She appointed Khan Jahan Lodhi’
Commander-in-Chief of the Imperial forces and ordered him to

undertake a military campaign to suppress and crush the new
allies

4. Igbal Nama, pp. 280-2.

5, Ibid., pp. 2779 (E. & D., Vol. VI, pp. 431, 434,) Gladwin,
pp- 89"%-
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CHAPTER 13

NOOR JAHAN AND JAHANGIR'S OTHER
WIVES

Noor Jahan fascinated the Emperor J ahangir immediately after
her marriage in May 1611. She continued exerting her influence
on the Emperor till his demise. This was despitc the fact that
Jahangir had, according to Xavier,! twenty lawful wives, besides
a large number of concubines and female attendants.

Nothing is so interesting in Indian history as the evolution
of the Mughal culture. The Turko-Iranian tradition brought by
the Mughals from outside intermingled with the local Rajput
iraditions. Akbar started matrimonial alliances with the Rajputs.
He and his son Jahangir, who was himself born of a Rajput
mother, married Rajput ladies of renowned families.

In what follows a brief account of Jahangir’s legal wives 18
given. |

1. Raj Kumari Man Bai of Amber Eatitled Shah Begum. Salim
was hardly fifteen years old when he was betrothed to Man Bai,
a daughter of his maternal uncle Raja Bhagwan Dass of Amber.
The marriage at such an early age was a Hindu custom, but
the marriage with the first cousin was the Muslim practice. Two
crores of tankas were fixed as the “Sachiq” (3=z'~). Akbar himself
along with his nobles went to the Raja’s house in the form of
a marriage procession on 13 February 1585.2 Both Muslim and
Hindu ceremonies were observed. A very rich dowry was given
by the Raja to his daughter. She won the affection of the
prince by her charms, manners and intelligence. Her first child

was a daughter, Sultan-un-Nisa. The second child Khusrau? was
born on 6 August 1578 at Lahore. On his birth she got the title of

1. Maclagan, p. 75.
2. Abul Fazl, Akbar Nama (Beveridge); Vol. 111, pp. 637-8; Badauni

(Lowe), Vol. I1, p. 352; Nizam’s Tabagat (E. & D.), Vol. V, p. 447,
3, Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, p. 19,
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Shah Begum. She committed suicide in 1604 plunging Salim into
deep grief.

2 Jaga* Gosain. In 1585, Jagat Gosain, a daughter of Udai
Singh, the ‘“Mota Raja” or the “Fat Prince,” was married? to
Prince Salim amidst great festivitics. Although it was also a
political marriage, it was a very successful one. She was ex-
tremely beautiful, intelligent and brive—a typical specimen of
Rujput race. She was the mother of Emperor Shah Jahan. Many
anecdotes illustrating the wit and wisdom of Jagan Gosain and
her superiority over Noor Jahan are reported. But the fact is
that after the dawn of Noor Jahan in the Harem nobody could
eclipse her. Khwafi Khan3 gives this very interesting story about a
lion hunt. Once Jahangir went ahunting accompanied by both
Jagat Gosain and Noor Jahan. The huntsmen were trying to
goad a lion within the range of the Imperial guns. Meanwhile
the Emperor fell asleep. Both the ladies sat by his side along
with two or three maid-servants. Suddenly a lion came in roar-
ing. Noor Jahan was left perplexed and spell-bound. The Rani
took the gun and fired. The bullet struck thelion’s chest. It roared,
took a high leap and fell dead on the ground. This roused the
Emperor from sleep. Seeing the dedd lion and the Rani with
gun in her hand, he applauded her bravery; with terror-stricken
Noor Jahan he was displeased. Khwafi Khan says that Ismat-
un-Nisa, the mother of Noor Jahan, tried to pacify the Emperor
by stressing that the use of arms is the function of men, who
have to display their bravery in the battlefield. The delicate
ladies are meant for coquetry and blandishment. This made
Jahangir forget his displeasure.

Noor Jahan started learning the use of arms and was soon
proficent in handling them. She, later on, joined the Emperor in
tiger hunts and often killed them with her own hands.®

The chroniclers? praise the physical charms, subtlety of thought
and spontaneity of response of the Rani. She could wield arms
and ride on horseback like experts. Unfortunately, she had to
face Noor Jahan in the Harem. No doubt, her son Shah Jahan

. Ibid , Gladwin, p. iil.

Muntakhab-ul-Lubal, Yol. 1, pp. 289-9.).

Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, pp. 348, 375 ; Vol. 11, p. 105
Mukhadarat-i-Taimuria, Vol. 11, pp. 11, 12.

p L= BRI,
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in the long run thwarted the designs of Noor Jahan, but Jagat
Gosain could not overshadow her. Some anecdotes are preserved
which depict her verbal contests with Noor Jahan. Some of them
are reproduced here. They show that she could use her tongue
against her rival as dexterously as she could wield sword.

(1) Once in the royal compay Noor Jahan happened to be in
white dress while Jodh Bai was wearing coloured clothes. Address-
ing the Emperor, Noor Jahan said ironically, “Your Majesty, this
rustic woman always selects gaudy colours. I have never seen her
in a dress of sober colours.”” Jagat Gosain spontaneously retorted,
“A widow may select white clothes but a ‘S¢ .agan’ (married
woman) must have coloured clothes.” Noor Jahan was silenced.
It may be pointed out here that the Hindu society did not appreciate
the remarriage of widows.

(2) Once Noor Jahan told Jahangir, just out of flattery, that
sweet smell emitted out of his mouth. The Emperor was pleased,
and he talked of it to Jagat Gosain. She at once replied, “Your
Majesty, the woman who has smelt the mouth of only one man 1n
life cannot appreciate it. It can only be differentiated from bad
odour by a woman who has seen more than one man. So Noor
Jahan can only judge it.”

I feel that these two tales out of a large number will suffice to
illustrate the wit and humour of Jagat Gosain, the mother of
Shah Jahan.

Jagat Gosain died on Friday, 30 November 1619, at Agra.?
She was buried in Bagh Dahra according to her own will. A fine
structure was set up on her grave. Its ruins can still be seen in the
suburbs of Agra.?

After her death it was decided to address her as ‘““Bilgis
Makani’10 in State papers.

3. Sahib-i-Jamal. Sahib-i-Jamalll was a daughter of Khwaja
Hasan, cousin of Zain Khan Koka, who was the son of Pichah Jan
Angah, one of the nurses of Akbar. Her marriage was solemnised
in 1586. She was extremely beautiful and was dearly loved by the
prince. Pervez was born to her at Kabul in November 1589 Her

8. Tuzk (R. and B), Vol. 11, p. 84.
9. Latifs, Agra, pp. 192-3,
10. Kamboh, Vol. I, pp. 97, 98.

11, Tuzk (R. and B.), Vol. L, pp. 18, 19 (see also footnote 1); Beale p. 345.
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magnificent tomb?? is in Lahore and is at present used to house the
Government Record Office. It is wrongly attributed by the common
mind to Anarkali, who is a legendary figure and whose¢ romance
with Prince Salim is the subject of many dramas and novels.}?

4. Malika-i-Jahan. Malika-i-Jahan (queen of the world) was a
daughter of Raja Kalyan of Jaisalmere. Her Rajput name is not
known. '

5 Nur-un-Nisa Begum, sister of Muzaffar Husain.

6. Saliha Bano, daughter of Qasim Khan.

7. Karamsi, daughter of Raja Keshudas Rathor.

8. The daughter of Ali Rai. ruler of little Tibet.

9. Ihe daughter of Mubarak Chak of Kashmir.

10. The daughter of Husain Chak of Kashmir.

il. The daughier of the King of Khandesh.

2. The daughte- of Khwja-i-Jahan of Kabul.

j3. The grand-daughter of Khizar Khan'® Hazara.

14, The daughter of Rai Singh of Bikaner,!> married on 238
June 1586.

15. The daughter of Said Khan Ghakkar.1®

16. She daughter'? of Jagat Singh and grand-daughter of Raja
Mann Singh. The ceremony wa3s performed atthe house of
Jahangir's mother, Maryam Zamani.

17. The daughter'd of Raju Ram Chandra Bundela whose name
:s also not known. She was married in 1609 at the request of her
father, who had recently accepted the overlordship of the Mughals
after a revolt.

12. Baqir, Lahore, pp. 412-6. Seealso an article on “‘Anarkali’” by Maulana
I1m ud-Din Salik in Annual Number of Nairang-i-Khyal (an Urdu magazine
of Lahore).

13. For example, see Anarkali (Urdu) a nov.1 by Muhammad Din Faug
(Lahore, 1929). The best and the most popular Jrdu dra .,a celebrating the
«“Anarkali’’ legend is Anarkali by Imtiaz Ali [aj. See an article “The Story of
Anarkali” in English by C. Grey in Journal of the Panjab University Historical
Society, April 1934.

14. For Jahangir’s marriages with the wives from No. 4 to 13, see Tuk
(R. & B), pp. 1, 18, 19, 326; Akbar Nama (Text.), Vol., I, p. 388; Gladwin,
p. 111.

15. Abul Fazl, (4kbar Nama Text), p. 496; Lowe, Badauni, Vol. II, p. 36 4.

16. Lowe, Badauni, p. 368.

17. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, pp. 144-5.

18. Ibid; p. 160,
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18. Noor Jahan Begum. Mehr-un-Nisa, the daughter of Mirza
Ghiath, an Iranian by birth, dominated the Harem and the person
of her husband so much that she alone is remembered by the
popular mind as having been the Empress of Emperor Jahangir.

Out of the eighteen wives, whose accountis preserved in history,
seven were Hindu and eleven Muslim. It shows that the Harem was
cosmopolitan in composition, Most of these marriages were political
in nature. As it is apparent, matrimonial alliances were made with
Rajputs to strengthen the ties of friendship. The marriages with
the Chak princesses, who belonged to the ex-ruling family of
Kashmir. and the princess from little Tibet were all political
marriages. Such marriages were intended either to honour the
family of the lady, or to secure their co-operation and friendship.

In connection with political marriages, the marriage of Ram
Chandra Bundela’s daughter with Jahangir is a very significant
example. This Raja had rebelled. After submission, he himself
requested the Emperor to marry his daughter. The psychology of
the man seems to be to have relation with the Emperor, and be
equal in status to other Rajas having matrimonial alliances with
the Emperor. Secondly, he wanted to be secure against the intrigues
of his rivals in the court.

It is a pity that the talented and charming young girls of
princely families were played as pawns on the chessboard of
politics. Possibly the Emperor could not attend to them regularly.
They lived in palaces a rich life, splendidly isolated from the
general public. Only those wives of an Emperor came 1nto pro-
minence who were either the mothers of promising sons or had
extraordinary physical charms and qualities of head and heart. In
the case of Jahangir, Shah Begum, the mother of Khusrau, and
Qahib-i-Jamal, the mother of Parvez, died before his accession.
The prince like any other human being felt these losses very much.

Out of other wives we read of Jagat Gosain a great deal. She
also died in the lifetime of the Emperor.

Hawkins2® writes in 1611 that the number of Jahangir’s wives
was 300. Out of them only four were the chief queens. Terry?l
writes in 1618-9 that the Emperor’s women numbered a thousand.
It is evident that these travellers count the concubines, the attend-

20. The Hawkin’s Voyages, p. 421.
21. Voyage to East India, pp. 405-6.
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ants and the slavegirls also. Moreover, they wrote whatever they
heard in the bazars, markets, inns and the gatherings of common
soldiers. So they based their statements mainly on what they

heard from the scandal-mongering and gossip-minded Indian
masses.

Jahangir got two sons,® Shahriyar and Jahandar, from two
concubines, whose names are not preserved in history. Jahandar
died young and Shahriyar became a well-known figure in history
as it has been discussed in many other chapters.

In March 1611 Jahangir saw the widow of Sher Afgan for the
first time on the eve of Jashn-i-Nawroz. After having heen ena-
mourned by her personality he married her. This lady, who was
given the title of Noor Jahan by her admirer, dominated him for
about sixteen years. The history of the Mughal India from 1611 to
1627 reveals that Noor Jahan was the only woman who could
appeal the Emperor. All the Hindu and Muslim princesses, who
were no doubt talented and beautiful women, had been thrown to
the background.

It is really the great achievemept of Noor Jahan to dominate to
such an extent an experienced and educated artist, the Mughal
sovereign, who had seen so many ladies of high rank and birth.
It means that this august daughter of Iran possessed extraordinary
qualities and her toweriug personality was head and shoulder
above other wives of the Emperor.

22. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, p. 20,




Chapter 14

'THE NUMISMATICS OF NOOR JAHAN

The sovereignty under the Muslim rulers was expressed by
the coinage and the Khutbah (the use of the name of the sovereign
in the mosque-sermons before the Friday and after the Eid prayers).
The titles of the ruler, the name of the mint and the year of
minting were impressed upon the coins. So the coins. of the
ancient and medieval kings are a very important source of their
history.

Under Akbar the coins were made very artistically. The Persian
Nasta‘liq ((sl=2ei) script was adopted for minting the legends.

The decorative adaptability of this script, combined with artistic
designing, gave attractive look to the Mughal coins. |

The coins of the great Mughals from Akbar to Shah Jahan

abound in types, varieties and sizes. The coins which Jahangir

issued from the Imperial mint at Agra in 1610 and 1611 are
particularly fair and fine. They may be compared in artistic
merit and refinement of execution with the best coins of other
countries. The Mughal coins were struck in gold, silver and
copper. The mints were scattered throughout the Empire from
Kabul to Burhanpur.

It was a convention in India that the coins issued by the
predecessors of a king were not withdrawn by him. Under Jahangir
the copper coins issued by Sher Shah and Akbar were in circulation
in large numbers. So his copper money is very rare. Under Jahangir,
‘minting attained a very high level of excellence. He' generally
struck gold and silver coins. The coins minted at a particular
mint had its distinct verses.!

Jahangir got minted gold coins of a very high value. *“Noor

1. For example, the coins minted at the Lahore mint had this verse®
330 30 >4 K 3 Ols) oL ey
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Afshan” and “Khair Qabul” (OW! )¢ =light-scattering; Jyd jone=
may this be accepted!) may be mentioned in this connection. An-
other very striking example of Jahangir’s coins is his zodiacal
mohars and rupees.

The months in which they were struck were represented by
their zodiac sign.

The importance which Emperor Jahangir gave to Noor Jahan is
unprecedented in the Mughal history. She shared sovereignty with
her august husband. Every honour was showered on her. Jahangir,
however, did not give her a rank in the Mansabdari system.
Certainly she did not need it. As the co-sovereign of Mughal India,
or as the real force behind the State authority, ranks were bestowed
upon many nobles at her whim and desire. Out-of the emblems of
sovereignty only the Khutbah was not recited in her name. Perhaps
it was due to the fact that the Khutbah was under the control of
the Ulema. They were strong enough to refuse the inclusion of the
name of the Shi‘ah Emperss in the Khutbah, if they had been asked
to do so. The prudent Emperor, or rather the Empress, did
not deem it proper to intrude into the domain of the Ulema.

Coins were issued in the name of Noor Jahan and the Farmans
were also adorned with her name. Their opening words used

to be pRat 023k Olpa yai Lle dee adle “acle (S, But all Farmans
and all the coins issued after her ascendancy did not bear her name.
The coins issued in the Queen’s name contain the following verse 12

325 Mo b oRNilpa ol oS

2) pRa olddl Ol s Pl
[“By the order of the King Jahangir, the gold got a hundred
ostentations added to it, by getting impressed on it the name
of Noor Jahan, the Queen.”]

The gold and silver coins bearing this legend were minted
at different places. They also include zodiac coins. Her coms
are to be found in the museums of the East and the. West.
They are also available in many private collections.3

2. Igbal Nama, pp. 56-1.
3. For the coins of Jahangir and Noor Jahan see:

(1) Whitehead’s Catralogue of Coins in Lahore Museum, Vol. II, pp. xx t0

XXV,
(2) W. Marsden, The Oriental Coins, pp. 466-10.

(3) Lane-Poole, Catalogue of British Museum Coins, Introduction, p.

Ixxxvii, No. 23-305.

(4) Syed M.D. Rafi, Gunj-i-Shaigan (Urdu), Part I, pp. 90 to 100 ; Part I,
pp- l1932-1',.,6181 . Syed Shamsullah Qadri, Naqud-ul-Islamia (Urdu),
pp. 19 to 26. '
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Chapter 15

NOOR JAHAN’S INTEREST IN FINE ARTS

The Mughals have left a very rich tradition in the domain
of Fine Arts. From Babur to the last of their rulers they
were all interested in its various branches. They were not only
conquerors, administrators and just rulers, but they were also
patrons of arts and letters also. They had inherited rich traditions
of taste in Fine Arts from their Central Asian Timurid ancestors.

Jahangir may aptly be described as the Prince of Artists.
His interest mainly centred round painting and‘ gardening. Yet
his reign is marked for the construction of some very superb
specimens of architecture.

The union of Noor Jahan and Jahangiralso proved a blessing in
disguise for the development of Fine Arts. She had cultivated
a very delicate and refined taste. She possessed a very deep
understanding of art. Under her patronage the Mughal art received
a great impetus and a new lustre was added to the artistic activities
of the august reign of her consort. As it is apparent from the
discussions in other chapters, Noor Jahan was an astute diplomat
and a shrewd administrator who could solve very easily the intricate
problems of the State. This chapter will reveal the delicate aspects
of her personality and her contribution to Fine Arts. Let us
examine her interest in different branches of Fine Arts, separately.

Architecture, The Mughal architecture forms a golden chapter of
the history of human attainments. By the time Noor Jahan came
into prominence the Mughal architecture had already attained
a considerably high level of evolution. It appears that the
talents of Noor Jahan actively worked in the planning and execu-
tion of all the Royal buildings constructed between 1611 and

1627. Besides the Royal edifices she got constructed a few bulidings
after her own name, possibly out of her own private purse.
The construction of a mosque by her in Kashmir has already

been discussed in the chapter on Kashmir. Two of the very famous
structures raised by her are discussed below.
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(1) Noor Jahan Serai.! In Mughal India a network of roads
interlinked important centres. On these roads serais were con-
structed at convenient distances for the use of the travellers.
Noor Jahan populated a town called Noor Maha: on the highway
in Jullundar Doab. She got constructed a very spacious serai E
there. It is a superb piece of architecture. Its main gate (the !
western one) is richly decorated with multiccloured panels of lime- '
mosaic. The importance of this serai can be guaged from the fact
that “‘Serai Noor Mahal” in local idiom means some spacious and
important edifice,

The Empress held the title Noor Mahal between 1611 and 1616.

The town was founded during this period. The construction of the
serai also started at that time as it is called “Serai Noor Mahal,”
and not “Serai Noor Jahan.” But the construction of the serai
and the adjoining garden had been completed in 1620, when
Jahangir visited it.

The site was anciently occupied by a town called Kot Ghalur.
It “appears to have fallen into considerable disrepair,” and “was
rebuilt under the auspices of the Emperor Jahangir,” from whose
consort, the present name of the townli.e. Noor Mahal) was derived.
In the Sikh and British periods the serai was used for official
purposes. The same is the case even now. The police station, rest
house, post office, and a high school are housed within its premises.

The two wvisits of the Imperial cavalcade to this place are men-
tioned. On 1 January 1621,3 the Emperor reached Noor Serai. The
Empress arranged a great feast in honour of the Emperor. She
presented befor the Emperor a large varity of rarities and deli-
cacies. In order to please the Queen, the Emperor accepted some
gifts out of them. The Emperor stayed there for two days and made
certain decisions. Then the camp moved towards Sirhind.

Then* again next year the Emperor passed that way and stayed
there. Jahangir calls it Noor Serai.

(2) Tomb of Iiin:ad-ud-Daulah. Among the relics of Mughal
India, Itimad-ud-Daulah’s tomb at Agra stands as the superb

1. Percy Brown. Indian Architecture (Islamic Period), p. 108; Cunningham,
Archaeological Jullundur District Gazetteer, pp. 72-3; Reports, Vol, X1V, p. 62;
The Imperial Gozetteer Vnl. XIX, pp. 231-2.

2. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 11, p. 192.

3. 1bid.

4, 1bid., p. 220.
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specimen of Mughal architecture. Itimad-ud-Daulah, the father
of Noor Jahan, died in January 1622. He was buried at Agra in
his own garden across the Jumna. Noor Jahan naturally felt
aggrieved at the death of her father, who died when she was at the
zenith of her glory. A legend tells us that Noor Jahan proposed to
erect a tomb of pure silver on the grave of her beloved father. But
she was advised by experts to use marble instead because of its
durability. The building, which is neither massive nor very big, was
completed in six years at an enormous cost. It is situated on the
left bank of the Jumna in a garden surrounded by a wall. In the
centre, on a raised platform, stands the tomb. It is a square building
measuring 69 feet on each side. At each angle there 1s an octagonal
tower. These four towers are rather squat in proportion. The tomb
is made of white marble. The inner as well as the outer surface of
the building is decorated with very fine specimens of multicoloured
pietra-dura work. The whole structure looks verf charming and
exquisitely attractive. But Fergusson says,” “Had i, indeed, been
built in red sand-stone, or even with an inlay of white marble like
that of Humayun, it would not have attracted much attention. [ts
real merit consists in being wholly in white marble and being
covered throughout with a mosaic in pietra dura.” It is certainly a
splendid specimen of the type of ornamentation in India. The fine
tracery of the pierced marble slabs of its windows, which resemble
those of Salim Chishti’s tomb at Fatehpur Sikri, the beauty of its
white marble walls and the rich colour of its decorations make up so
beuutiful 2 whole that it can be compared only to the works of Shah
Jahan. Under Shah Jahan, no doubt, some better specimens of this
art were constructed. but its import nce lies in its being the
pioneer work.

Marshal$ pays tribute to this edifice in these words : “There 1s
no other building like it in the entire range of Mughal architecture,
the delicacy of treatment and the chaste quality of its decoration
places it in a class by itself. .. the Tomb of Liimad-ud-Daulah
expresses. . . the high aesthetic idcals that prevailed among the
Moghals at that time.”

- When we see this tomb we feel that it has teen executed not by

5. Fcrgusson, Vol. II, pp. 306-7,
6. Marshal’s Chapter on **Architecture’ in Cambridge History, Vol. 1V,
pit. 552-3.
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masons but by jewellers. It served as a model of decorative art for
Shah Jahan who profusely employed pietra-dura work in the

embellishment of his structures. Percy Brown’ regards it the con-
necting link between the style of Akbar and that of Shah Jahan.
Apart from marking the stage of transition this elegant sfructure
stands in a class by itself. “It illustrates a fresh interpretation of
the building art, an expression of the style in its most delicate and
refined aspect.” In its surroundings of green gardens, fountains,
pathways and flowerbeds, it reposes like a gem within a casket.?
Noor Jahan was the maker of her own tomb which has been
discussed in a separate chapter. She is also credited to have con-

structed Jahangir’s masoleum.? But it is wrong.
Gardening. The sub-continent of Indo-Pakistan has all along

been famous for the abundance and variety of fiowers, fruit and
foliage, which occupied a very important place in the social and

religious life of the Indian people. The flowers have always been

used on festive occasions, to adorn the newly-married couples and

to cover the bier of the dead—special sanctity is attached to certain
flowers such as Tulsi by the Hindps. The Muslims shower flowers

on the graves of the saints. Amir Khusrau and Malik Muhammad .
Jaisi have given detailed descriptions of the flora of India.

Babur felt disgusted at the sight of the Indian gardens and other
aspects of Indian culture. He himself managed to snatch some time
out of his military campaigns and turned his attention to the laying
out of the gardens. They were after the style of the Central
Asian gardens and were profusely covered with foliage and greenery.
There were canals of running water with rows of fountains playing
in them. The avenues of cypress trees imparted to them a sublime
tinge of sobriety. In the midst of the gardens there were summer
houses and waterfalls. In the hot climate of India such gardens
provided a cool and refreshing refuge. Besides Indian flowers the
Central Asian and Iranian flowers and fruits were introduced by

the Mughals in their Indian gardens.

¥
:

7. Indian Architecture (Islamic Period), pp. 108-9.

8. Besides Fergusson, Percy Brown and Marshal, see Murray's Hund Beek,
pp. 294-5, Latif’s Agra, pp. 182-4,

9. Percy Brown, p. 108, Fergusson, p. 304, ascribe the construction to
Noor Jahan. It was constructed as the State building at the instance of Shah
Jahan. Kamboh, Vol. I, p. 11, says that Shah Jahan got it constructed at a
cost of Rs. 10 lakhs and it took ten years to complete it.
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Babur’s example was followed by his descendants, especially by
Jahangir, his great grandson. Jahangir loved nature and was fond
of gardening. Wherever Jahangir sojourned for some time 4 garden
would spring up. It was a very happy coincidence that Empress
Noor Jahan also possessed a similar zeal for gardening. All the
gardens laid by Jahangir after 1611 were planned jointly by the
Imperial couple. The gardens of the Empress in Kashmir have been
discussed in a separate chapter.

I ahore was a favourite city of the Empress, where she appears
to have laid many gardens. In 1607 Jahangir went to Jahangirpur,
his hunting-place, where he constructed a minaret on the grave of
his pet antelope, Mansaroj. On 7 Zil-Haj 1015 (26 March 1607)
he left the Lahore fortl® and took up his quarters in Bagh-i-Dil-
Amiz on the other bank of the river Ravi. He stayed there for
four days. He bestowed honours and awards on many of the
royal servants there. It is obvious that he celebrated 1d-ul-Azha
(the festival of sacrifice), which fell on 29 March, in this garden.

While coming to Lahore!! from the North the Emperor visited
this garden on Monday, 12 Sha‘ban 1016 (23 November 1607) and
met his mother, who was staying there.

It is obvious that the garden existed before the marriage of
Noor Jahan with Jahangir and her rise to power. Naturally 1t was
built neither by her nor for her. The assertion of Dr. M. Baqir,™
therefore, “that the garden was originally built by Jahangir’s celeb-
rated queen, Noor Jahan™ is wrong.

Noor Jahan, after her ascendancy, must have got access to this
garden. In the Mughal city of Lahore, there were a large number of
gardens on both the sides of the river Ravi. A close study of
contemporary sources reveals the names of many such gardens.

Noor Jahan appears to have founded Bagh-i-Dilkusha (besides
many more) on the right bank of the river Ravi, close to Bagh-i-
Dil-Amiz. It was in Bagh-i-Dilkusha that Jahangir!3 was buried.
Aurangzeb’s historian, Munshi Muhammad Kazim,!4 while describ-

10. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, p. 90.
11. Ibid., p. 131.
12. Baqir, Lahore, p. 37i5.

13. oolgn u-l.ul P.iae (_}Lrn.- )8 a8 uf-lg L. )}hy h:-l-i t-!JL ol L
- .Li.}_,:...;..'bﬂ \>c) - o

Igbal Nama, p. 294; Latif’s Lahore, p. 100.
14, Alamgir Nama, pp. 840-1.
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ing the visit of the Emperor to his grandfather, Jahangir’s tomb
in October 1663, gives the name of the garden as Dilkusha.
Even the eunuchs of the Empress, Hoshiar Khan!5 and Jawahir

Khan, had developed a taste for gardening under her influence and
had laid out their personal gardens at Lahore.

In Kabul province, midway between Jalalabad and Kabul, there !
is a very charming Mughal garden at Nimla. It is marked for its '
beautiful cypress trees which are said to have been planted by
Jahangir and Noor Jahan.!6

Among the gardens of Noor Jahan at Agra, the Noor Afshan
Garden!? seems to have been exquisitely fine. The sixteenth year of
Jahangir’s accession began on 10 March 1621. The Royal camp at
that time was at Agra. The Emperor along with ladies of the
Imperial Harem rowed to this garden on Wednesday, 12 March 1621.
It shows that the garden was situated on the left bank of the river
Jumna at a little distance from the fort. The Imperjal party spent
the night in the garden. On Thursday, the Empress organised a
grand feast and presented offerings. The Emperor selected iewels
and jewelled ornaments worth Rs. 100,000. Only a fewl® weeks
earlier, while coming from Delhi ® Agra by boat, the Emperor
stayed in this garden for three days.

One can easily imagine the grandeur and glory of the garden
that became the centre of Imperial festivities.

By the end of the year 1620,!? we read of a party, held in Noor
Manzil Garden at Agra. Prince Shahriyar was given a present of
Rs. 100,000,

The tradition of laying well-planned gardens after Central Asian
style started by Babur reached the zcnith of its glory and perfection
under Shah Jahan., Noor Jahan’s period of ascendancy is a very
important link in the chain of the evolution of Mughal culture.

i5. Prince Dara Shikoh, son of Shah Jaha-, compiled a biography entitled
Sakinat-rl-Auliya, of the saint Mian Mir, who died and was buried at Lahore
in 1635. In this book he mentions those g.:rdens, tombs and other important
places which were the re orts of the saints. Therein he mentions the gardens
ol Hoshiar Khar. and Jawahir Khan. See Urdu translatio: of the book.

16 Beyond the Khyber Pass, p. 119-20.

17. Tuzk (R & B.), Vol. II, pp. 199-200.
18, Ibid., p. 197. (Here in a footnote the translator of the T:k, Alexander

Rogers, attributes this garden to Babur. Only two pages later in the text the
Emperor remarks that it belonged to Noor Jahan.) T
19, Ibid., i 197. | '

]
'Qwi
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Her gardens and their decoration, which was the result of her
refined taste, display the cultural attainments of that period and
form a very interesting chapter of the Mughal history.

Fainting. In the court of Akbar there developed a very exquisite
and fine school of painting. Besides portraits the artists of Akbar’s
court strove to illustrate the books prepared by calligraphers.
Mansur and Jagan Nath were the well-known painters of this
period. Akbar’s court had Indian as well as foreign artists. The
two schools interacted and the result was the emergence of the
Mughal school of painting. The manuscripts of many illustrated
books prepared under Akbar’s patronage are to be found in the
libraries of the East and the West.

So far as the patronage of this art is concerned, Jahangir®® was
the true successor of his father. In this period the art of painting
reached the zenith of its glory. Under him the quality of the
pictures improved. After Jahangir the decay of the "Mughal school
of painting started. Shah Jahan was fond of architecture. While
Jahangir could point out?! the painter of each portrait out of a
collection finished by various artists, Shah Jahan had a very keen

eye for imposing buildings. This passionate lover of art was a great
critic as well.

Jahangir would often get his portraits prepared and sent to
the neighbouring rulers.22 Whenever Jahangir moved?? in his vast
dominion, he used to keep artists with him. Whatever flower or bird
or animal or natural scenery appealed the Emperor or his equally gift-
ed consort Noor Jahan, it was at once ordered 1o be preserved on paper
in gorgeous colours by the painters. When the ¢vents of twelve
years of Jahangir’s reign were completely recorded by the Emperor
in his Tuzk, also called “Jahangir Nama,” he ordered the scribes of

20. Every art develops under liberal patronage. It was all the more true in
the medieval days. In Mughal India differentarts developed under the patronage
of the Emperor and his nobility. Jahangir and his talented consort Noor Jahan
generously patronised the ariists. The art of painting flourished in his court
due to his generosity. He excelled his illustrious father in honouring the
painters. For instance in 1609 he gave two thousand rupees to Farrukh beg
the painter, who was unrivalled in the age (.._-;......l gt (_}Y-Lg - _,|) [Tuzk, Text,

p. 76, Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol, I, p. 159.
Q1. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, p. 20.
22. Ibid., Vol. 11, p. 36, 37.
23. Ibid., p. 108,
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his library to prepare?* a number of copies of this book. He wanted
to circulate them among his special courtiers. Abul Hasan, the painter
who held the title of Nadir-uz-Zaman,?5 drew the picture of the
Emperor’s accession as the frontispiece to this book. As the picture
was worthy of all praise, he received endless favours. Mansur Nag-
qash,2% another master painter, held the title of Nadir-ul-Asr.

The first copy of the book was given to Shah Jahan, who
was a favourite of Noor Jahan at that time (1618). The next
two copies were given to Itimad-ud-Daulah called Madar-ul-Mulk,
(the Centre of the Kingdom) and Asaf Khan styled ‘“Farzandi”
(my son). It may be remembered that the former was the father and
the latter the brother of the Empress. It is apparent that they
were honoured at the instance of Noor Jahan.

In 1029/1620 when the Imperial couple was staying at Kashmir,
Jahangir ordered that a picture gallery be set up in a building
within the garden.?? It was decorated with pictures made by
unique painters of the age. The portraits of Humayun, Akbar,
Juhangir and Shah Abbas of Persia were decorated at very promi-
nent places. Next to them were the pictures of Mirza Hakim,
Mirza Kamran, Murad and Daniyals In the second row the pictures
of the Amirs and grandees of the court were displayed. On the
outer walls the stages of the roads to Kashmir were recorded.
It reveals the taste of this artist couple. Noor Jahan, who was
herself an artist and painter, must have taken a lion’s share
in the organisation of this exhibition. A poet determined the
year of its organisation by the following hemistich:

i Oleghe Olalz il
1029/1620

[*“The assembly of the kings of Solomon-like glory.”]

The portraits of Jahangir, Noor Jahan and other members of the
Royal household are available in different museums, libraries
and private collections of the East and the West. They reprcsent
the interest of these people in prescrving their physical personality
through the art of painting. On the inner walls of Noor Jahan’s
tomb, prepared under her own supervision, there are some panels of
floral painting and geometrical designs. Their shades and colours are

24. 1bid., pp. 26, 27.

25. Ibid., p. 20,

26. Ibid. o
2°. Tuzk (Syed’s text), p. 308; Tuzk (R.& B.), Vol. II, p. isz.l
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still praised and appreciated by the visitors. They reveal that
Noor Jahan’s interest in paintings was not less than that of
her Imperial consort, and she patronised the artists and painters.

Music and Dancing. The musicians and dancers generally throng-
ed the Royal palaces. On ceremonial and festive occasions the poets,
musicians and dancers appeared in the Royal courts and were
profusely awarded. Generally the royal concubines were given
training in the art of singing and dancing.
 In the year 1614 Jahangir heard that Bakhter Khan Kalawant,?®
an expert singer, had arrived in Lahore in the garb of a darvesh.
He was the preceptor of Ibrahim Adil Shah II of Bijapur.

Jahangir called him to his court, heard his music and gave him
Rs. 10,000 in cash, fifty pieces of cloth and a string of pearls.
He was made a guest of Asaf Khan. Jahangir expresses doubts
whether the man came in this wretched condition to secure secrets
of the Mughal court.

Jahangir himself had his own court musicians. He talks of the
death of Lal Kalawant?® in 1608 at a ripe old age. tle had been 1n
the Royal court since his father’s time

While describing the events of the year 1616, the Emperor men-

tions Shauqi, the mandolin player ()'» o) s-b) . He calls him the
wonder of the age. He could sing Hindi and Persian songs “in a
manner that clears the rust from the hearts” (4:1%) Lo 51 KN )).

The Emperor gave him the title of Anand Khan.>¢

X From the instances narrated above it appears that among the
Fine Arts music also enjoyed Imperial patronage. The way in which
Jahangir praises3! Tan Sen, a musician of his father’s court or the
sorrow he expresses at the demise of Lal Kalawant®? reveals
Jahangir’s attachment with music. The close association between
the Emperor and the Empress in 1611 leads us to infer that they
both heard the music of Bakhter Khan Kalawant together. Similarly,

| the title of Anand Khan must have been conferred upon Shauqi in
1 consultation with Noor Jahan.

.[ ~ 28. Tuzk (R. & B.). Vol 1, pp. 271-2. Bakhter Khan was an expert In
Singing Dhurp: t, which isakind of Indian music. Ibrahim Adil Shah 1lI, who
died in 1626, was so much emanoured by the musician that he married him his
brother’s daughter. This king was a patron of the historian Firishta and
composed Nauras, a treatise on music. See footnote 1, p. 272 (R. &. B).

29, Ibid.,p 1 0.

30, Tuzk (Syed’s text), p 162 ; Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. 1, p. 331.

31, Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. I, p. 413.

32, 1bid , p. 150,
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Chapter 16
NOOR JAHAN'S LITERARY AT TAINMENTS

Noor Jahan belonged to a family that was known for its literary
and academic attainments. She inherited a sparkling personality
from her parents and her temperament was quite suitable for art
and poetry. The company of her husband of academic and artistic
temperament further stimulated her inborn qualities. Jahangir
himself eulogises her qualities of head and heart. The authors of
Iybal Nama-i-Jahangir, Muntakhab-ul-Lubab, and Vaathir-ul-Umera
are unanimous in depicting her as a sparkling personality of
subtlety and spontaneity. Some of the anecdotes relating to the
wit and humour of this talented lady are reproduced below.

(1) Once Jahangir changed his dress. He wore a silken long
coat (L) with a precious ruby used as a button. This spectacle led
to a spontaneous retort in the form of this verse.

,_J_)a..:'__l.:i'ﬁ IV R V'Y PR ¢ S1BY

o WY EORE. T S
(2) Once the royal couple had gone up the terrace of the palace

to see the appearance of the Eid moon. thn it was mghted
Jahangir recited the followmg hemistich :

Noor Jahan spontaneously composed the second hemistich:

1As layg o9 Azf{,fn.ksf ‘,_.,.EK

Sir Thomas William Beale compiled his Persian history
(Miftah-ul-Tawarikh) which is a biographical dictionary of Oriental
personalities. This book gives a large number of instances of Noor
Jahan’s witty remarks. Some of them are reproduced here: .

(1) Once Jahangir and Noor sahan met after an interval of a
few days. Tears of joy trickled down the eyes of Noor Jahan. This

V. Muntakhab-ul-Lubab, Vol. I, p. 270 ; Miraat-yl-Khayal, p. 129,

o
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led Jahangir to remark spontaneously :

39) g ohle 5 oty Ka2lj 0
Noor Jahan at once retorted :

29y ooy 5l pledyps gig S 20

(2) In Muharran 1028 a meteor appeared on the horizon.
Having seen it Noor Jahan remarked :

03y 91y a5 az “g,ble 4 KU
(3) Once Talib Amli, the poet laureate of Jahangir’s court, fell

under royal disfavour and was imprisoned. He sent this vers: to
Noor Jahan from the prison:

N ¥ B S I S 2
e SR PPN PR s
Noor Jahan spontaneously remarked?:
L) § e P2

The compilation of poetry seems to have been a hobby among
the educated and cultured upper strata of the society. From
them this practice passed on to the educated middle classes also.
In the Royal house almost everybody appears to have developed the
taste for poetry. They used to study the poetical compilation
of the various Persian poets, making their own selections of the big
and bulky Diwans (collections of poetry) in their note-books.
Most of them could compose verses and many of them were quite
good poets whose verses are not less than the compositions
of contemporary poets of established fame. Out of the mem-
__ bers of the Royal family, Mirza Kamran, the second son of
i Emperor Zahir-ud-Din Babur, has left a Diwan which is a com-

pilation of a very rich and relishing poetry. It was edited and

.3 published by Professor Mahfuz-ul-Haque of Presidency College,
i Calcutta.

The ladies of the Royal household did not lag behind their
menfolk. It is very strange that whenever she turned her attention

towards the compilation of poetry, the gal>= (nom de plume)
of 4=« (Makhfi, i.e. the concealed one) was attributed towards her.
Noor Jahan could not escape this. The following two of her verses

2. Miftah-ul-Tawarikh, p. 314.
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are given in the Muntakhab-ul-Lubab,} the Maathir-ul-Umera* and
Miraat-ul-Khayal>:
Pl E oo Js
o S cle 959 dliia g gles o Ay
L Jd 5o oae wald daa sl
ﬁr_,lu O W r.e.hil‘,:,f Ol e g
The following two quatrains are also attributed to Noor Jahan

by Mijtah-ul-Tawarikh, although no other history or Tazkirah
(biographical dictionary of the poets) gives this information:

(1)
el 131 oend 3 ;l ams MNLS
R R PR e P
i) 9 P)le Al o ,&_,a.;,.x.u.:,f' i
(2)
Sy p S Ky adg £ edlon 0%
PRI Pl (RIS
rjl.. J:Lf C):“B'J"'J? LNU’_’ yeen- Ugl;
sk S jlke  jed ORh Oln)
The following verse of Noor Jahan shows her attachment with
Lahore, where she spent a large portion of her life and which

became her burial spot after her death:
w! el A Olaw 1y gy
r.gl ol yn JS:J_} i ﬁl 1> Yla
desire about her burial place is also

Another verse depicting her
attributed to her :
Lo plme o by
A dl e & 2y ailgn R &
As we have already seen, Noor J ahan compiled her poetry under

the nom de plume Makhfi. This takhallus was employed by almost
all the princesses, perhaps due to the fact that they were all concealed

. Vol. I, p. 270.
4, vol. I, p. 164.

5. P. 532.
6, <hawafi Khan, Vol. L, p. 270.
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from the public eye and lived the life of retirement and
segregation. A book entitled Diwan-i-Makhfi (a collection of the
poetical compilation of Makhfi) 1s very popular and has been
published many a time Makhfi here is Zeb-un-Nisa, the talented
daughter of Aurangzeb. But the Diwan may have preserved in
it the compilations of other Makhfis. Professor Mahfooz ul-
Haque? of Presidency College, Calcutta, has expressed the view
that Diwan-i-Mskhfi is the compilation of Makhfi Rishti, an
Iranian male poet, who came here in search of wealth like so
many other writers, poets and scholars. He unfortunately could
not get any service, was involved in some trouble and imprisoned

1. Maarif, Vol. I1, No, 5,



Chapter 17

ANECDOTES OF NOOR JAHAN

The dazzling personality of the Imperial consort has left an
: ndelible mark on the popular mind, and has become the centre of
4 large number of anecdotes and stories.

In Lahore even now the people of our older generation narrate
the stories of Jahangir and Noor Jahan’s justice, kind-heartedness
and magnanimity. Urdu literature has preserved many of such
stories. Maulana Shibli,! the well-known Urdu historian and critic,
has versified a story of Jahangir’s justice in a case in which Noor
Jahan was the accused. It runs as follows:

Once when Noor Jahan was having 2 stroll in her imperial
garden, which was closed to males, she noticed a man loitering
about. The Empress, in a fit of Tage, shot him dead. When the
relatives of the deceased came to know of his death, they went
and pulled Jahangir’s famous «Chain of Justice” for redress.
The Emperor was annoyed. He ordered arrest of Noor Jahan and
sent the case for trial to the Qazi. The Qazi’s verdict was for the
execution of the Empress like any other ordinary murderer. The
climax of the whole affair was the assenl of the Emperor to the
Qazi's verdict. Meanwhile all the overtures of the Empress to
influence the State officials proved fruitless. At last the inherent
prudence carried the day. She pointed out that if the dependants
of the deceased agreed, as 1s provided by the Islamic law, she
could pay the blood-money 10 them in lieu of her lhfe. The Qazi
accepted the proposal provided the Empress paid the money from
her own purse (and not from the Royal Exchequer). The Emperor
approved of this decision only when he was convinced that the
dependants of the deceased had voluntarily agreed to it without
any external pressure. During this period Jahangir did not face the
Empress, lest her affection should stand in the way of justice. After .
her release he went to her apartments, and the intensity of the

. Mazamin-i-Shibli, pp. 70-2: Noor Jahan, (Ferozsons), pp. 31-3.
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affection for the Queen led the Emperor to utter these words:

—

G0 PO s A of (S &S 1 43
[“Had you been executed, what would have been my fate?”’]

This theme depicting that Jahangir’s affection for the Empress
could not segregate the Emperor from the sense of duty, has also
been the theme of many novels, films and dramas.

Here is another very' interesting anecdote which I have come
across:?

In Agra there was a young jeweller, who had lost his mother
In his early life. When he grew into a young man, he used to in-
quire from his relatives about the features and personality of his
mother, as he could not recollect how she looked. Many a time
he would weep for hours for his mother. Wiile talking about his
mother once a lady told him that his mother was exactly like the
Queen Empress. Having heard this the young man -became desir-
ous of casting a glance on the Queen to formulate an idea about
the person of his mother. He mentioned it to his wife, and asked
her to make a plan of taking him stealthily to the Meena Bazar so
that he may have a glimpse of the Empress. It may not be irre-
levant to point out here that the Empress observed strict Purdah
and no alien eye could see her. Every now and then Meena Bazars
were held in the Royal palace. The wives of leading merchants and

business men used to set up shops. Many a time even ladies of the
nobility opened shops just as a fun. The bazar was resorted to by
the Queen, princesses and ladies from high families. The Em-
peror and sometimes the royal princes were the only male visitors,

The jeweller’s wife, who used to open a shop in the Meena
Bazar, declined the proposal out of the fear of the Imperial wrath.

He pondered over the matter for quite a long time and finally
decided to visit the Meena Bazar in female attire. As an experi-
ment, one day he put on a female dress and in a palanquin went to
his own house, posing as the Begum of a Royal grandee. He
expressed a desire to see the finest and choicest types of jewellery.
His own wife seated him in the drawing room and displayed before
him all the precious stones that were available in the house. He
discussed their qualities and prices with her. The disguise was so
masterly that even his wife could not recognise him. Upon this he

2. Noor Jahan (Ferozesons), pp. 33-8,
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felt satisfied and relieved; when his own wife could not recognise
him, how was it possible for others to detect him? He revealed

himself to his wife, discussed the problem again, and she gave in

and agreed.
Next time, when a Mezna Bazar was held, both of them went

there. The wife worked at the counter in their jewellery shop in the !
Meena Bazar, while her husband, of course in complete female attire, '
remained within the shop near the show cases. On her round
through the Bazar, when the Empress reached the jewellery shop,

she instantaneously recognised the man and hid her face. This was

the height of intelligence and acuteness of observation. She inform-

.d the Emperor that there was a male in the shop. The Emperor
jaughed and would not believe this. Noor Jahan persisted in her
assertion and suggested a test. She ordered a canal to be dug

round the Bazar with water flowing in it. After this was done the
ittendants of the Bazar were asked to go out. The royal eunuchs

were ordered to watch how each one of them crossed the canal. A
woman would necessarily wade through it after pulling up the
pyjama, sari or lehnga, while a mgn would just jump over it.

It happend as the Empress had expected. The jeweller jumped
over and was arrested by Urdu Beganis (women guards). The culprit
was presented in the Royal Court before the angry Emperor. Before
the Emperor could give an order, his wife appeared in the Court
and prayed, “O ! the world refuge, I am to be punished for this
crime. He is innocent. I took him there.”

Noor Jahan was sitting behind the curtain at the back of the
Emperor’s throne. Her right hand was on the back of the Emperor.
On the Empress’s suggestion the Emperor asked the young man the
reason of his entry in the Meena Bazar. He replied with folded
hands, “My Lord, I lost my mother when I was in tender age. ]
have no recollection of how she looked. Somebody told me that
the Empress has a very close resemblance with my mother. I
wanted to have a look at the august person of the Queen to refresh
the faded vision of my mother. This fond desire led me to this
crime. I may please be excused.” Having heard this the large-
hearted Empress ordered that his handcuffs and chains be removed.
“When he considers me as his mother, [ also regard him as my son™
He was excused and set at liberty.

This reaction was much appreciated by the courtiers and the
general public, It all the more endeared her in their estimate,

Marfat.com



Chapter 18

JAHANGIR’S DEATH AND NOOR JAHAN'S
LAST EFFORT5

It was March 1627. Emperor Jahangir and his Empress Noor

Jahan were staying at Lahore. The decaying health of the Emperor
d him so delicate that he could not bear the heat of the
ded to leave for Kashmir along with

f Khan, Shahriyar and Khusrau’s son

had rendere
approaching summer. He deci
his retinue, which included Asa

Dawar Bakhsh. y
Even at Kashmir he fared no better. His disease, asthma, took

such violent and serious turn that the physicians became hopeless.
He, however, showed some signs of recovery and the fatal end
which was considered imminent was postponed.

Although the Emperor had survived the severe attack, yet the
disease lingered on. He continued to loose his vitality. His appetite
completely vanished. Even opium would not agree with him.
He could endure only a few cups of grape wine. It was 1mpos-
sible for him to write. He could move about only in a palanquin.?

[llness of Shahriyar. Unfortunately for Noor Jahan, her son-1n-
law, Prince Shahriyar, fell suddenly ill at such an inopportune
vime. He was attacked by Diu-th-thalab (a2l 913) (Fox’s disease

which is a species of leprosy). The hair of his body fell off.
The physicians could not cure him. Later on he was advised

to move from the cold climate of Kashmir to the warmth of Lahore.
The prince came over to Lahore, leaving company of his mother-in-
law, Noor Jahan, at such a critical juncture.?

Emperor’s Return Journey to Lahore. Shortly after, the Emperor
himself decided to leave for Lahore. Pershaps he was persuaded
by the Empress to do so, as she must have Prince Shahriyar near
the imperial bed when Jahangir breathed his last. As the Emperor

1. Ighal Nama, pp. 290-1 (Elliot, Vol. VI, p. 435). See also Khawafi

K han, Vol. I, p. 388.
2. Igbal Nama, p. 291.
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reached Bairamkala he felt a desire for hunting. It was destined to
be his last hunting expedition.

Bairamkala is now a small place comprising of only a few
houses. Sir Richard Temple? describes it as ““a sweet spot, almost |
the nicest I was ever encamped upon.” It is situated close to a hill ;
torrent called “Chitta Pani” (white water). At such a fascinating ,
place the Emperor wanted to entertain himself. He sat at the bottom '
of a high hill, resting his matchlock on a high wall which had been
constructed for the purpose. The country people were driving the

game within the range of the Emperor’s aim. He fixed his aim at a
deer.

Meanwhile a tragic accident took place. A foot-soldier, busy in
gathering the game for the Emperor, ran so close to a precipice
that his foot slipped. He tumbled down the mountain side and
dashed to pieces. This sight shook the Emperor. He called for the
mother of the deceased and gave her some money. But his depres-
sion and dejection could not be lightened. The death of the young
man made him fancy his own death hovering about. He sank into
despair. He could no longer sleeppr feel at ease for a moment.

The next day the imperial caravan encamped near Thanah.

According to Jahangir* this stage formed the climatic, linguis-
tic and cultural boundary between Kashmir and the plains. The
next stage was Rajauri, which is situated on the bank of the river
Tawi. The caravan left Rajauri towards the close of the day.

On the way the condition of the Emperor further deteriorated.
He showed alarming symptoms. He called for a cup of wine. It
was placed at his lips but he was unable to drink. At long last he
expired” in the early hours of the morning of 27 Safar 1037 (28
October 1627) when the cavalcade had reached Chingiz Hatli (or
Chingas Serai). He was then fifty-eight solar years old.

The Struggle for Succession. The Emperor’s death brought all
speculations about his successor to an end. Now it was the time to
strike finally. Noor Jahan called the nobles to a conference. Asaf

Khan who was always at heart a partisan of Shah Jahan realised
the dangerous outcome of this conference. He took measures to
3. Journal, Vol. 11, : . 19.
4. Tuzk (R. & B.), Vol. II, p. 180.

5. Iqbal Nama, pp. 292-° (Elliot, Vol. VI, p. 435) ; Padshah Nama of

Abﬂlsﬂ Hamid, Vol. I, p. 69 (Elliot, Vol. VII, p. 5); Khawafi Khan, Vol. I,
p. 338,

4
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prevent this meeting. He placed the Empress herself under strict
guard. Noor Jahan was, no doubt, a master diplomat, but in the
absence of her husband and due to the opposition of her own
brother she was bound to fail. Asaf Khan despatched an express
runner, a Hindu Banarasi by name, with his signet ring to Shah
Jahan in the Deccan. What he should do till the arrival of Shah
Jahan from the Deccan, was the main problem before Asaf Khan.
He placed Dawar Bakhsh (also callced Bulagi) son of Khusrau on
the throne, as a mere scapegoat. He also took the sons of Shah
Jahan out of Noor Jahan’s apartments. All this was done on the
very day of the Emperor’s death at Chingiz Hath. The next day
they reached Bhimbhar. Here the Khutbah was formally read in
the name of Dawar Bakhsh. The corpse of Jahangir was sent to
Lahore, under the supervision of Maqsud Khan and other trusted
dignitaries, for burial at Shahdara. .

Shahriyar’s Attempt for Sovereignty. Even before the body of
the late Emperor was laid to rest, swords had been drawn to con-
test the succession to his throne. Noor Jahan was no doubt placed
under guard by her dearly loved brother, Asaf Khan, who owed
his rise to power to her recommendations. Despite these guards
Noor Jahan contrived to send a message to Shahriyar to collect as
many soldiers as he could and hasten towards her. This message

~ together with the tactics of;his ambitious and intriguing wife, urged

" him to action. He proclaimed himself Emperor at Lahore. He
seized the 1oyal treasury and dist.ibuted no less than seventy lakhs
of rupees to secure the help of the nobility and to enlist soldiers.
Mirza Baisanghar, one of the sons of the late Prince Daniyal,
joined him. He was appointed commander of his forces.

Asaf Khan and Dawar Bakhsh hurried towards Lahore, keep-
ing themselves one day ahead of Noor Jahan’s cavalcade. Shahri-
yar sent his commander Mirza Baisanghar to stop them. But the -
inexperienced soldiers of the Mirza could not stand against the old
regulars of the State, with the result that they helplessly fled from

the battlefield.
Siege of Lahore. Having heard the news of this reverse from a

Turkish slave, Shahriyar foolishly shut himself in the Lahore Fort.
Asaf Khan marched forward and besieged the Fort. Many of
Shahriyar’s followers betrayed his cause and deserted him. The
next day the imperial army entered the Fort. Shahriyar showed
cowardice and took shelter in female apartments. A eunuch brought
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him out. He was made to perform the regular bows and pay
homage to the makeshift Emperor Dawar Bakhsh.6

Later on he was blinded and thrown into prison. Thus ended
Shahriyar’s struggle for throne. Had Noor Jahan been free to act,
she might have prolonged the affair. In the event of Asaf Khan’s
opposition, the chances of her success were very remote., Her

future was sealed and she was destined to lead a retired life after
the death of her beloved husband.

Shah Jahin becomes the Emperor. Banarasi’ reached the
Deccan in twenty days and delivered the news of Jahangir’s death
to Shah Jahan at Junair on 19 Rabi-ul-Awwal 1037 (18 November
1627). He observed a mourning of four days, and made his way to
Agra vig Gujrat. His march to the North was a triumphal proces-

sion. The period of his troubles was now over. The dawn of his
glory and grandeur had set in.

Shah Jahan received the news of Shahriyar’s defeat at Sinur.

By the end of November he was staying there to celebrate his
lunar birthday.

From Ahm:dabad (Gujrat) he sent Khidmat Parast Khan to
Lahore with a Farman written in his own hand to Asaf Khan ask-

ing him to execute Shahriyar, Dawar Bakhsh, his brother
Garshasap, Tehmurith and Hoshang (the sons of Prince Daniyal) in
view of political and public considerations.?

From Gujrat Shah Jahan went to Rajputana. On 1 January 1628
he reached Golconda, where Rana Karan® of Mewar met him

and offered him valuable presents. He was given the rank of 5000
Zat and 5000 Sawar.

On 14 January Shah Jahan reached Ajmer. He paid a visit to the
shrine of Hazrat Muin-ud-Din Chishti and gave orders for the

construction of a marble mosque close to the tomb. After appoint

6. Iqbal Nama, pp. 295-7 (E. & D), Vol. VI, pp. 436-7); Kamboh, Vol. [,
pp. 160-2.

7. Iqbal Nama, p. 294.

8. Ibid., p. 303, preserves the words of the original farman:
R DI ;ﬂ l-.-m_r»:a- A u...;_;_,._.lbu_,ul O e | Jr&ﬂ Ugij.'i"
uﬂ):r..a sytel 1y Jiits e3i3ale Ol yans 3 Gl g ol g g e jay
-Jqu.. ;_.Jl! d."t uaJ_,..w_’JJpla. CJ"’ J‘ U Ulhlﬁa od 9o dale r.l.ﬁ
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9. Abdul Hamid Lahori, Vol. I, p. 80.
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ing Mahabat Khan as the Governor of Ajmer, he set out for
Agra.

Khutbah Read in Shah Juhan’s Name. On arrival of Amanullah
and Bayazid, the emissaries of Shah Jahan, at Lahore, Asaf
Khan, after consulting other nobles, decided to read the Khutbah
in Shah Jahan’s name on 19 January 1628. Dawar Bakhsh, the
scapegoat ruler, was put in prison by the clever juggler Asaf Khan.
Two days later Khidmat Parast Khan arrived with the second
Farman. In order to act upon it Asaf Khan got killed five inno-
cent!® princes unnecessarily. They were Dawar Bakhsh, his brother
Gurshasp, Shahriyar, Tahmurath and Hoshang, the sons of
Daniyal (a brother of Jahangir).

Coronation of Shuh Jahan. On Monday,!! 4 February 1628, the
Coronation Ceremony of Shah Jahan took place at Agra at the
auspicious time fixed by astrologers amidst great festivities. He
displayed his generosity and awarded the courtiers, poets, astrolo-
gers and Ulema very richly. He adopted the lofty and high-sound-
ing title of Abul Muzaffar Shihab-ud-Din Muha mmad Shah Jahan
Sahib Qiran Thani (JU O 5 oabe Olpa dld g pll Ol jakia)! o))
Abdul Hamid Lahori remarks that Shah Jahan adopted the title of
Shihab-ud-Din on the suggestion of Asaf Khan. Thus the efforts
of Asaf Khan were crowned with success and his patron-sister
Noor Jahan was destined to lead the life of retirement.

After Asaf Khan, Mahabat Khan was the man to be honoured.

He got the rank of 7000 Zat and 7000 Swar (do aspa sih aspa’
and the title of Khan-i-Khanan.

10. Abdul Hamid Lahori, Igbal Nama, p. 303.

11. For a detailed account of Shah Jahan’s accession see Abdul
Badshah Nama, Vol. 1, pp. 82-99, and Ami-i-Saleh, Vol. 1, pp. 169-77,

/

Hamid,




Chapter 19

IAHANGIR’S BURIAL AND HIS LAS|
RESTING PLACE

The death of Jahangir at Chingaz Hatli' near Rajauri on
27 Safar 1037 (28 October 1627) let loose the political tussles for
the realisation of the political dreams and ambitions of various
aspirants for political ascendancy. As we have seen in the pre-
vious chapters, the most important actors on this new stage were
Noor Jahan and her brother Asaf Khan.

Despite these tussles the dead body of the late ruler was not
neglected. By the roadside the corpse was given the last wash and
was prepared for burial according 1o the prevalent Muslim rites.
At Chingas Serai, close to the Mughal mosque, there 1s a grave
on a platform with a green flag fluttering over it. The common
people take it to be J ahangir’s grave. It is said that the last bath
to the body was given here and the entrails, ripped out to save the
corpse from early decomposition were entombed here.2 The Royal
coffin was sent to Lahore for a befitting burial, properly escorted
by soldiers and attendants. Due to civil war between Dawar
Bakhsh and Shahriyar it was not possible to give the Emperor a
befitting funeral. He was, however, laid in his grave3 in the Dil-
kusha Garden of Noor Jahan near Shahdara. Kamboh,* a court
historian of Shah Jahan, does not attribute this garden to the
Empress.

1. Chingas Hatli (also called Chingas Serai) is a small village with a
serai of the Mughal days. It is xsituated on the Bhimber-“rinagar route,
between Nowshahra and Rajauri about fifteen miles south of the latt r (see
Kashir, Vol. I, p. 262).

2. Ibid.

3. Ighal Name p. 294 (Elliot, Vol VI, pp. 435-6); Abdul Hamid, Vol. I,
p. 69 (Elliot, Vol. VII, pp. 5, 6; Latif, Lahore, p. 106.

4. Kamboh, Vol. I, p. 11. The Emperor was buried in one of the gardens
on the other side of the river. -
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Thornton,> Fergusson® and Percy Brown’? say that Empress
Noor Jahan got the mausoleum of Jahangir constructed. This
information is erroneous and is based on a local tradition, that
Shah Jahan neglected the grave of his father and it was given a
befitting mausoleum by the Empress. The Empress was practically
a prisoner of her brother after the death of Jahangir. He brought
her to Lahore, no doubt with proper respect, but kept her under
regular and strict vigil till the coronation of the new Emperor
Shah Jahan was solemnised.

The mausoleum® of Jahangir was constructed as a State build-
ing under royal orders. Noor Jahan was leading a retired life at
that time. It took ten years to complete the mausoleum, at a cost
of 10 lakhs of rupees. It is a matchless building, second per-
haps to none but Taj Mahal of Agra.

§. Thornton, Lahore.,
6. Fergusson, Architecture, Vol. 11.

1. Indian Architecture (Islamic Period), p. 108.
§. Kamboh, Vol. I, p. 11.
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Chapter 20

NOOR JAHAN AFTER JAHANGIR

The demise of Jahangir was a heart-rending! event for Noor
Jahan. Besides the loss of her Imperial consort she suffered a
great setback in the field of politics. Her brother Asaf Khan who
owed his early rise to the patronage of the Empress brought her
to Lahore as a political prisoner. Her nominee to the throne,
her son-in-law Shahriyar, suffered a defeat. She heard about his
having been rendered blind and later on executed. These events,
soming one after the other, were extremely sad. There was, how-
sver, no other alternative but to remain patient. She had to spend
the rest of her life in retirement ard seclusion. Shah Jahan fixed
an annual pension? of rupees two lakhs for her expenses. Besides
that she had a large amount of personal wealth. But her own
widowhood with that of her daughter frustrated her very much.
She spent the rest of her life in Lahore in her personal house
within the city. She used to spend lavishly on the needy and the
poor. It is said that the young daughters of the poor were finan-
cially helped by her for their marriage. She herself led a very
simple life wearing only black garments. She was often seen visiting
the grave of her beloved husband accompanied by her slave-girls
and attendants.

Noor Jahan was destined to live as a dejected widow for
eighteen long years. During this period many important events
took place. Her niece Mumtaz Mahal, who is said to have been
second to none but Noor Jahan in beauty and whose husband
Shah Jahan was successful in getting the throne for him, died on
the night of Wednesday, 7 June 1631,3 at Burhanpur in the Deccan.
Her memory is celebrated by the famous mausoleum Taj Mabhal.
How tragic are the worldly affairs. Arjmund Bano Mumtaz who

1. lgbal Nama, p. 294, Khawafi Khan, Vol. I, pp. 389-90.
7. Khawafi Khan, Vol. 1, p. 618; Maathir, Vol. 1, pp. 133-4.
3, Abdul Hamid, Vol. I, pp.384-9.
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was lucky to become the first lady of the realm died so soon, while
Noor Jahan was deprived of that great status, lived on for eighteen
long years after the death of her husband.

The authorities allowed Noor Jahan to live in retirement for
all this period, although there were rumours current in the country

that she was secretly* murdered. |
This phase of her life was that of piety, generosity and retire-

ment.

Shah Jahan and Asaf Khan came to Lahore many time dur-
ing this interval but they did not appear to have met Noor Jahan.
In 1641 Asaf Khan died at Lahore. Under Royal orders his tomb
was constructed at Shahdara (Lahore) adjacent to the mausoleum
of Jahangir. It is situated to the west of the Jalo Khana$ (4iix sla)
of the Emperor’s mausoleum.

It appears that Noor Jahan decided to construct her own tomb
towards the south-west of the Emperor’s mausoleum, close to the
tomb of Asaf Khan. Noor Jahan survived her more fortunate
brother Asaf Khan only by four years. She died at Lahore on
79 Shawwal 10556 (18 December 1645). She was laid to rest in
the tomb constructed by her for herself.

4. English Factories in India, 1624-29, pp. 240-2.
5. Kamboh says (Vol. II, p. 266)
da STy Jeate g g3 G e Aoy "y AT AL 0L S
“lanle by a0 T e oK 1 dle a8 Azl D yhia
4
Abdul Hamid, Vol. II, p. 257.
6. Badshah Nama, Vol. II, p. 475,



Chapter 21
THE TOMB OF NOOR JAHAN

It has been described in a previous chapter that Noor Jahan
sp:nt the long period of eighteen years after her husband in the
city of Lahore. This was a period of retirement, prayers, piety,
charity and social service. Her brother, a former protege and a
later rival, died in 1641 and, under the orders of Shah Jahan, was
buried! quite adjacent to the Jalo Khana (Ails sla) of Jahangir’s
mausoleum. It appears that the end of Asaf Khan led her to lay the
foundation of her own tomb. She could not expect Shah Jahan to
give her a similar burial place as for his benefactor and father-in-
law, Asaf Khan. Towards the south-west of the Imperial tomb
and close to that of Asaf Khan, ghe started the construction of a
tomb.

Jahangir 1s said to have been buried in Dilkusha Garden of
Noor Jahan. After the construction of the mausoleum, it ceased
to be a private garden. It appears that Noor Jahan either founded
a new garden for her in the vicinity of the mausoleum of her
husband, or she already possessed another garden at Shahdara. In
the Mughal period there were long rows of gardens on the banks
of the river Ravi.

The local tradition has it that the second garden mentioned
above was called “Char Chaman” (= ;'a) or “Four Parked
Gardens.” This garden contained summer houses and pavilions,
which were utilised by the late Empress whenever she came from
Lahore to Shahdara to pay a visit to the mausoleum of her husband.
Later on she started the construction of her own tomb under her
supervision perhaps four years before her death.

The Pla. of the Tomb. Before giving a description of the tomb,
let us discuss the plan. Dunng the period of her grandeur Noor
Jahan founded the tomb of her father Itimad-ud-Daulah at Agra.

1. Abdul Hamid, Vol. I1, pp. 257, 475-6; Kamboh, an_. II, p. 266,
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The Floral decoration on an arch of Noor Jahan's Tomb

««Gulkari’’ on the Ceiling of a part of the Second gallery of
Noor Jahan’s Tomb
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The Tomb of Noor Jahan 127

This tomb is a very fine piece of architecture, built of whute
marble and embellished with pietra-dura work. Although it 1s a very
small structure, yet it is ynique for its artistic qualities. 1t appears
that Noor Jahan followed the plan of the tomb of her father while
constructing her own last resting place. Shah Jahan also se:ms to
have followed the same design in constructing Jahangir's mauso-
leum. Perhaps it was under the advice of Asaf Khan, the son of
Itimad-ud-Daulah. Jahangir’s mausoleum, however, is a bigger
structure. The four minarets on its four corners are very tall and
majestic. The minarets of Itimad-ud-Daulah’s tomb are compara-
tively smaller. Moreover, the outer walls of Itimad-ud-Daulah’s
tomb and its facade are decorated with very fine pietra-dura work.
On the roof of Jahangir’s tomb the central platform was covered
with a sarcophagus which was exactly over the grave of the Emperor.
This is now missing. Over the roof of I imad-ud-Daulah’s tomb
there is a Bara Dari or pavilion with twelve doors, three on each
side. The doors are covered with very fine marble lattice-work. The
dome is not of a higher :ype and is decorated with two spires.
The skeleton of Noor Jahan’s tomb as it exists today clearly brings
out the point that the tomb was built after the design of the tombs
of Jahangir and Itimad-ud-Daulah.?

The outer walls of Noor Jahan’s tomb are now denuded of the
stone covering. The inner structure of brick and mortar is quite
visible. The four corners are equal in height to the upper surface.
They are uncovered. If we analyse the architectural traditions of
the Mughal period, we come to the conclusion that there must have
been either towers or minarets on the four corners. The central
platform of the roof scems to have contained a Bara Dari. The

original plan of the inner part can easily be understood. There
are three ranges of galleries with thickly plastered walls. After

P these galleries there is a square room with a platform in the centre,
on which there perch two grave cenatophs. The walls and roof of
3 the third gallery still contain very nicely executed panels of fine
: floral work and geometrical designs. The grave chamber seems to
; have contained marble lattice walls with entrance on one side. ln this

" arrangement also the pattern of the tombs of [timad-ud-Daulah and

2. 1brat Nama (compiled in 1854) says that the building of the tomb of

Noor Jahan was not completed. Even the incomplete building was ravaged
by the Sikhs (Vol. I, p. 72).
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128 The Life and Times of Noor Jahan

Jahangir was copied. There is an underground chamber. In
Mughal India the original grave was made underground and the
grave within the inner chamber of the tomb was just a “replica™

of the original. In the case of Noor Jahan’s tomb, besides the

original grave underground, there were two grave cenatophs, one

in the inner chamber and the other on the upper storey. The main .

sarcophagus and its platform appear to have been embellished 1

with very unique specimens of pietra dura-work. '
In I imad-ud-Daulah’s tomb (Agra) we have very nice pietra-

dura work. The sarcophagi of that tomb are simple and unadorned

pieces of yellow stone. The sarcophagus of Jahangir’s grave? along
with its platform is covered with a refined pietra-dura work of

different colours—very symmetrically, systematically and artistically
set. In the Indo-Pakistan sub-continent Jahangir’s sarcophagus
is the first of its kind. It is so beautiful that no grave is so
pleasant to look at. The white surface of the marble, elaborately
ornamented with the multicoloured inlay stone-work, not only
presents a marvellous spectacle, but creates a sort of relief to our
eyes which cannot look continuously towards dazzling white surface
of the marble. The sarcophagi of Mumtaz Mahal and Shah Jahan
in Taj Mahal (Agra) are also of arble embellished with multi-
coloured pietra-dura work. When we compare these sarcophagi
with that of Jahangir at Lahore, we find the latter more refinely
and masterly executed.

The sarcophagus* of Asaf Khan’s grave at Lahore presents
some very subtle artistic qualities. It is carved out of one piece
of marble. The ninety-nine attributes of God and other verses

from the Holy Quran are inscribed in a very elegant Naskh (faws)
script. The inlay work is only in black colour. These were the
traditions followed in the preparation of sarcophagi in Mughal
India immediately before the time when Noor Jahan constructed

her own tomb. It is certain that her sarcophagus was adorned

with the attributes of God and appropriate verses from the Holy
Book.

3. Kamboh, VYol. I, p. 11
g ¥ oyt i I ey 33 et S gy O L7
Pt n.__..-:l'-,u attnd wha) rl.a'- j' ‘,3 &i-‘i “S"SJKU&':J‘# (RT3 - ¥

4. See Abdul Hamid, Vol. I, pp. 475-6 for the description of AsifKhan™
{omb,
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The Tomb of Noor Jahan 129

_Whether her sarcophagus was adorned with multicoloured
pietra-dura work like that of Jahangir (Lahore) and Mumtaz

Mahal (Agra) or it was covered with black-coloured inlay work,
we cannot say.
Round this elegant tomb there was a very well arranged garden

called ““Char Chaman” (s> )»). It had brick pathways, canals,
waterfalls, tanks, fountains with water flowing through them. There
were long rows of green cypress trees, tulips, roses and jassamine.
Fruit trees of different species, especially date-palms were there.
The local traditions tell that there were pavilions and summer
houses. According to the prevalent Mughal traditions, there was
a lofty and massive boundary wall with two gateways. What was
the style of these gates? This we can only conjecture. It may have
been like the main gate of Jahangir’s mausoleum. It faces the

grand open space of Jalo Khana (4ilx ol>), also called “Serai’.

It is a structure of red sandstone, richly inlaid with white marble
and other stones. It is also possible that it may have been a
structure of brick and mortar masonary like the gates of Asaf

Khan’s tomb and the Jalo Khana (4ils ala) of Jahangir'$
mausoleum.

The Destructionof the Tomb. The bodies of Noor Jahan and he
daughter Ladli Begum continued to rest in their graves in the sub-
terranean chamber of a fine tomb of red sandstone and marble
with inner galleries decorated with finely executed floral work, set
within an artistically arranged garden. There wcre servants to
look after it, and Mullas to recite the Holy Book for the peace
and consolation of the departed souls.

After the sudden death of Mir Muinul Mulk, in 1753, a period of
chaos and disturbance started. Lahore province became the cock-
pit of the rising rival parties striving to wield political authority.
This clash between the Durranis, the Marathas and the Sikhs ruined
the settled government. The conditionswere further aggravated by
the selfishness of the self-seeking Mughal nobility. The cities were
sacked and rural areas were ravaged. In this period (1753 to 1799)
Noor Jahan’s tomb was plundered of its rich material which con-
sisted of carpets, curtains, candle-stands and precious objects of
various types.

In 1799, Ranjit Singh occupied Lahore and within a decade
he established a vast kingdom in the Punjab, later extended

:
!
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130 The Life and Timcs Noor Jahan

from Phillaur to Jamrud and Kashmir to Multan. Ranjit Singh
seeded a large amount of bricks, stones and building material
for his constructions in Lahore and Amritsar. The ruins of the
Mughal quarters provided him a quarry of bricks. The need for
more bricks and stones and in some cases religious intolerance led
the Sikhs to raze to ground many buildings of historical and
religious nature. The number of such buildings was not less than
two thousand, according to the estimate of Mufti Ghulam
Sarwar.S The buildings which were not totally wiped out were
denuded of their stones and precious building material. The tombs
of Asaf Khan and Noor Jahan were among those relics of the
Mughals in Lahore which were hit very hard. The red-stone
covering of the outer walls, the Bara Dari and the four comer
towers were removed. The sarcophagi and the marble podium were
also destroyed. Even the graves were dug open and both the coffins
removed. It was expected that precious stones and ornaments
were buried with the Empress. But on opening the boxes only the
decayed bones were found. In a fit of disuppointment they threw
away the bones. Later on the bricks of the boundary wall, gate-
ways and the adjoining buildings were removed.®

In 1849 when the British occupied the Punjab, the skeleton of
the tomb was about to crumble. It was repaired. About 1880,
another repair was undertaken under the supervision of Rai
Bahadur Kanhaya Lal, an Executive Engineer of Lahore, who 1S

also the author of Tarikh-i-Lahore.

During these repairs the roof and the podium in the centre
were provided with a new flow. A large part of the facade of the
four sides of the tomb was repired. Some grassy plots with two
rows of brick pavements were laid, perhaps a very poor substitute

of the “Char Chaman’’.

Towards the beginning of the twentieth century, the Raja of
Burdwan came to Lahore. His family hailed originally from
Lahore. He paid a visit to Noor Jahan’s tomb and felt very sorry at
the pitiable plight of the last resting placefof the Empress. He

5. Tarikh-i-Makhsan-i-Punjab. p. 383. See also Syed Ahmad, p. 463.
6. Ibrat Nama, Vol. 1, p 72 : Tuhgigat-i-Chishti, pp. 779-80; Kanhaya Lal,
pp- 330-1; Latif, pp. 109-10; Baqir, p. 441: Faug, Lahore Number of Nagoosh,
pp.277-82.
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presented a sum of rupees five thousand to the Government for
the repairs of this tomb. These repairs further improved 1ts con-
dition. The year 1904 is of great importance in the history of the
ancient monuments of the Indo-Pakistan sub-contintent. Lord
Curzon established an Archaeological Department, and arrange-
ments were made for the protection of the ancient monuments.
These steps improved the lot of this tomb to a great extent.

Caretakers were appointed. Henceforth the herdsmen could not
stay under its roof along with their sheep and cattle for taking

rest in the noon and at night.

In 1913 Hakim Ajmal Khan, the well-known indigenous
physician and political worker, happened to visit the tomb of the
Empress. He was so much moved by its wretched condition that

he embarked upon a scheme for its improvement. He got a new
floor of white and black marble for the grave chamber. Both the

graves and the platform were reconstructed in white marble.
In the north-eastern corner of the grave chamber a marble
slab is fixed containing the following Persian chronogram:

Q‘f::_n-)}i aN) - uli_g @)L\

la K A S cid 503 1,9 51 2
Ola & Kb 9 @oRa ld e Ol
oS as i 9 e Oltee 912 L;-’“'-‘ S ey
. Olal g (S games @_,t:;_,c.:‘,g,m Cyeas
G T U DI e B s B 5 5a
Olpa 9 43 »Nilgs Ol & b
Frany Ola Joa! dex E.él:.r.=5:_&J|L55l=.
S ALY ceail by pal ot syer. Gille

A few years ago the Archaeological Department of the Govern-
ment of Pakistan prepared a scheme for the renovation of the
tomb. After thorough investigation they have started covering the
northern facade of the tomb with slabs of red sandstone. By now
about half of the work on this side has been completed.

With the completion of this plan, it is hoped that the lost
grandeur of this tomb will be restored to a great extent.

Marfat.com



Chapter 22

THE CHARACTER AND PERSONALITY OF
NOOR JAHAN : A RETROSPECT

No other feminine figure is so fascinating and famous in the
annals of India as Noor Jahan. Her name has become the part
and parcel of the name of her imperial consort, the artist Emperor
Jahangir. Her story is so interesting to read that the popular mind
has woven round her many a fantastic and romantic tale, so much so
that her personality and history are shrouded in the halo of these
popular tales. In this book an attempt has been made to delineate
her personality in the light of sober and scientific historical facts.

Noor Jahan was the daughter of an Iranian noble who migrated
to Mughal India in search of better surroundings in the Court of
Akbar. His talented daughter attained such a supreme place in the
harem of the Mughal Emperor Jahangir that she dominated the
political horizon for about two decades.

Physical Appearance of the Empress. Noor Jahan is described
by almost all the chroniclers to have been a tall, attractive woman
of proportionate limbs. Even at the age of thirty-five, she had such
charm and grace that the Emperor Jahangir, who happened to
sece her amidst the celebrations of the Nauroz festival, was
enamoured of her. As we have seen in a previous chapter, Jahangir
had a large number of Queens and concubines. If a man like him
becomes practically *“the slave”? of a woman, one comes to the
natural conclusion that the woman must have possessed extra-
ordinary charm and qualities of head and heart.

Her Mental and Intellectual Qualities. The Empress Noor Jahan
possessed a sharp intellect and a subtle mind. Sometimes one feels
that the intellectual faculty of Noor Jahan was far more superior
than her physical build. Perhaps Jahangir was attracted more by
her mental subtleties.

1. 1gbal Nama, p. 56.
2. J. T. Wheeler, p. 142,
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Noor Jahan was an educated lady who had received instruction
in all the prevalent sciences. She had refind taste for poetry.
Elphinstone? says, “One of the accomplishments by which she cap-
tivated Jahangir is said to have been her facility in composing ex-
tempore verses. She was equally interested in art and architecture.
As we have discussed in this book, she proved herself a befitting
companion to the Emperor in every way. She could share his tastes
in art, architecture and literature.

Management of the Royal {{ousehold. Noor Jahan’s entry in the
Royal harem was a blessing in disguise. She seems to have trans-
formed the management of the Royal household by inventing new
styles of decoration. Her interest in gardening* positively improved
the set-up of the gardens attached to the palaces. She had the
knack of managing everything in such a way that better results were
effected at comparatively less expenses. Khawafi Khan has narrated
an interesting story displaying her thrifty nature. Once the royal ele-
phants® were being displayed before the Emperor. All the animals
were decked with coverings of a very fine brocade. The Emperor
was so much impressed by them that he inquired from Khan-i-
Saman (the controller of establishments) about the cost of the
coverings. “Your Majesty, I know nothing about it. They were
prepared in the harem and Her Majesty the Empress has sent them
to me.” The Emperor now turned to Noor Jahan. The Empress
smiled and said, “Your Majesty, I did not purchase any cloth for
them. These coverings have been made by palace tailors from the
bags in which letters and petitions of the mansabdars and nobles are
received, spending practically nothing on them.”” The Emperor was
immensely pleased on the information. This is one of the several in-
stances where the Empress tried to improve the general tone of the
palace management within the minimum expenses. She proved that
't was the taste and mental resources which enhanced the magnifi-
cence of the Court and mere expenditure of money did not count. She
introduced new styles of dresses. The Noor Mahali brocade, Itr-
i-Jahangiri and many types of clothes and ornaments continued to

be popular in decent Indian families for a very long time to come.
Many fashions and modes of dresses and decorations, still popular

3. Elphinstone, History of India, p. 544.
4. Mrs. Stuart, p. 205.

5, Khawafi Khan, Vol. I, p. 270. See also Elphinstone, p. 544.
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among the old families of Delhi and Hyderabad, Lucknow and
other cities of Northern India, owe their origin to Noor Jahan.
They were further developed by the succeeding generations. These
Mughal fashions and modes of etiquette may still be witnessed in
families of noble origin, migrating from Delhi, Lucknow, Agra and
other citics of U.P. to Pakistan and settled at Karachi and Lahore.

Noor Jahan was not only expert in household management and
the invention of fancy goods, but had learnt to wield arms also.
She successfully participated in hunting expeditions. Her be-
haviour at the battle of Jhelum reveals her martial qualities. How
daringly she sat in the howdah of her elephant, goading the ani-
mal into the rushing waters of the river. She exhorted the nobles
to rise for liberating the Emperor and taunted her brother for
lethargy and carelessness.

It is only rare that a lady of such character and qualities ap-
pears in history. It was this remarkable woman who made Jahan-
gir depend entirely on her. Both Indian and foreign chroniclers
refer to the extraordinary hold® of Noor Jahan over Jahangir. It
was due to her superior qualities of head and heart that she could
dazzle the Emperor to such an extent that he handed over to her
the management of his personal as well as State affairs.

In the Orient she was the first Empress whose name appeared
on the coinage along with the name of the Emperor. Not even
the greatQ ueen Zubaida of the Abbasid Caliph Harun-ur-Rashid
of Baghdad could boast of that honour.

In fact, Noor Jahan was an equal partner in the greatness of
the Mughal Emperor Nooruddin Jahangir. No other woman had
ever enjoyed this status. [t means that Noor Jahan was a woman
of superb ability and dazzling personality. She was an object of
pride and progress not only for the members of her family, but
also for the slaves and servants of this fortunate house. One
would readily agree with Motamid Khan’ in quoting the following
Persian verse after discussing her character :

dn g 36 5 ST 3 Gl gR A
iy leAL_...J_"..\..p)rlc’? L.S:._:_M

6. For example, Bernier refers to it, vide Travels, p.  ; Iqbal _NaMf. p. >7.
st 05 = dilel e aidsh AT ALST dlw A3, 49,7
rm Koy il G150 oKa Olps s |y ol o 0 H3gep

PN A i-'-'--:;r*' v 3l
1. Iqbal Numa, p. 56. il &
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The Influence of Noor Jahan on Jahangir. Historians agree
that Noor Jahan exerted a very healthy influence on the ways of
the Emperor. His habits improved. He ceased to be a cruel and
tyrant person as we sometimes find him before his marriage with
Noor Jahan. His weakness for wine was controlled, gradually
bringing the quantity to a minimum. He would take wine only at
night, while maintaining his sobriety in the day time.

In short, Noor Jahan proved herself a boon for the Emperor
and the Empire. Hundreds of orphans and widows, travellers
and students were benefited by her bounty. It is the charm of
their personality that the Emperor and the Empress are respected
and revered throughout the Indo-Pakistan sub-continent as just
and benevolent, whose untiring energies were always at the beck
and call of their subjects. In Lahore t':eir tombs are a very popu-
lar resort of the people. The people pay visit to their graves with
sincere devotion and strong affection. The names of these two
companions will shine on the firmament of the Indian history
for all time to come, inspiring the future generations, especially
the womenfolk of Pakistan and India, to display the vigour and
strength of character in serving their families and country. Noor
Jahes = life is no doubt a lighthouse for them.

Marfat.com



Chapter 23

NOOR JAHAN’S DESCENDANTS

Noor Jahan had a son' and a daughter (Ladli Begum) from her
first husband, Sher Afgan. Nothing is on record about the son,
but the daughter became a well-known historical figure on account
of her marriage with Prince Shahriyar. She gave birth to a
daughter.?

After the death of Jahangir and the murder of Shahriyar, Noor
Jahan lived a retired life in the city of Lahore, which we have al-
ready discussed in another chapter. [t appears that both Ladli and
her daughter lived with Noor Jahan at Lahore. Although no
authority enlightens us about their lives, yet we can safely conjec-
ture that Ladli’s daughter, who was approximately about twenty
years old on the eve of her gramdmother’s death, was married to
some Mughal gentleman, and spent her life in Lahore.

Amar Nath Akbari, the historian of Maharaja Ranjit Singh
(d. 1839) mentions’ a Mughal scholar, sage and poet, Mirza Akram
Beg, who was one of his teachers. This scholar lived a retired lite-
rary life in Wazir Khan’s mosque Noor Ahmad Chishti* also men-
tions Akram Beg and his son Mirza Azam Beg, who was given a
post in the Provincial Civil Service by the British immediately after
the annexation of the Punjab in 1849. Amar Nath says that Mirza

Akram Beg was “ gt cuim 51) 4wl si”” (a descendant of the daugh-

ter’s son of Jahangir).’ “Jannat Makani” was the title used for
Jahangir in State papers and official histories after his death. He

used to celebrate “Urs” (~,*), i.e. death anniversary, of Jahangir

1. De Laet, p. 180; Maathir Vol. 11, p. 625.

2. Iqbal Nama, p. 263.

3. Zafar Nama, p. 104,

4. Tahgiqat-e-Chishti, 1964 Edition, pp. 1264-5.

5. 1f Mirza Akram Beg was a descendant of Ladli Begum’s daughter, he

was Olg-a 593 3} J..| 93 and not Jahangir, But out of respect for the memory
of the Emperor he preferred 10 be called , ik Cia LY Y
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every year. In the Sikh period and the early British period, they
used to get some State financial help for the “Urs™. I feel that
Mirza Akram Beg was a descendant of Ladli’s daughter. The prac-
tice of celebrating Jahangir’s “Urs” continued even up to the

British period.



APPENDIX
NOTES ON PLATES

Plate No 1. Tomb of Itimadud Daulah at Agra. It was con-
structed by Noor Jahan. The design was prepared by Noor Jahan

herself. It is a structure of white marble with fine pietra-dura
work on it.

Plate No 2. Jahangir’s mausoleum at Lahore. It was started
in 1628 and completed in 1638. Perhaps at the advice of Asaf
Khan, Shah Jahan followed the style of Itimadud Daulah’s tomb
while preparing its plan. Jahangir’s mausoleum is a bigger struc-
ture, and its minarets are loftier than those of Itimadud Daulah’s
tomb. The sarcophagus on the roof of Jahangir’s mausoleum 1is
now missing. 5

Plate No. 3. Noor Jahan’s tomb. It was constructed by the
Empress herself between 1641 and 1645. The Empress followed the
plan of the tombs of her father and husband. In the period of
chaos that followed the decay of the Provincial Mughal Govern-
ment of Lahore after 1753, the tomb suffered immensely. The outer
stone covering of the facade, the four corner towers and the struc-
ture in the middle of the roof disappeared. The present structure
was renovated many a time during the British period. At present it
is also under extensive repairs.

Plate No. 4. Bibi Pari’s tomb at Lal Bagh Fort, Dacca. Bibi
Pari (Fair Lady) was the title of Shaista Khan’s daughter, who was
betrothed to Prince Azam, son of the Emperor Aurangzeb. She
died before her marriage in 1685 at Dacca, when her father was
the Governor of Bengal. Shaista Khan was the son of Asaf Khan.
The same style is followed in the structure of Pari Bibi’s tomb.

It is one type of the tomb style that developed in Mughal India.
Besides these tombs some other tombs were also constructed
according to this style.

The other style of the tomb architecture of Mughal India is
represented by Humayun’s tomb (Dehli), Abdur Rahim Khan-i-
Khanan’s tomb (Dehli), Taj Mahal (Agra), Rabia Daurani’s tomb
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(Aurangabad, Deccan).

Plate No. 5. The marble sarcophagus of Jahangit’s grave with
floral work and Arabic writings 1n pietra-dura work.

Plate No. 6. The marble sarcophagus of Asaf Khan’s grave
with Arabic writings and floral work 1n pietra-dura work.

Plate No. 7. The present condition of the sarcophagi of the
graves of Noor Jahan and her daughter Ladli Begum. This struc-
ture was constructed by Hakim Ajmal Khan. It 1s conjectured that
the original sarcophagi were constructed after the style of the sar-
cophagi of Jahangir and Asaf Khan.

Plate No. 8. The gulkari or multicoloured painting on the
ceiling of a part of the second gallery of Noor Jahan’s tomb.
Different geometrical designs with flowers in the centre are repre-
sented here.

Plate No. 9. The floral decoration in multicolours on an arch
of Noor Jahan’s tomb. "

Plate No. 10. The entrance gate of Jahangir’s mausoleum.

Plate No. 11. The gateway of Asaf Khan’s tomb. The demo-
lished gateway of Noor Jahan’s tomb seems to have been made
according to the style of these gates.

The gateway of Jahangir’s tomb is a splendid structure with
stone work on the facade and four pinnacles over it. The gateway
of Asaf Khan is a simple structure of stone and mortar. Basically
both of them follow a similar plan.

Plate No. 12. Another view of Noor Jahan’s tomb.
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